# Single-molecule scale magnetic resonance spectroscopy using quantum diamond sensors

## Jiangfeng Duo

CAS Key Laboratory of Microscale Magnetic Resonance and School of Physical Sciences, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei 230026, China, Hefei National Laboratory, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei 230088, China, and School of Physics, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310027, China

### Fazhan Shio

CAS Key Laboratory of Microscale Magnetic Resonance and School of Physical Sciences, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei 230026, China, Hefei National Laboratory, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei 230088, China, and School of Biomedical Engineering and Suzhou Institute for Advanced Research. University of Science and Technology of China, Suzhou 215123, China

### Xi Kong<sup>‡</sup>

The State Key Laboratory of Solid State Microstructures and Department of Physics, Nanjing University, 210093 Nanjing, China

### Fedor Jelezko<sup>§</sup>

Institute for Quantum Optics and Center for Integrated Quantum Science and Technology (IQST), Ulm University, Ulm, Germany

### Jörg Wrachtrup

3rd Institute of Physics and Institute for Integrated Quantum Science and Technology (IQST), University Stuttgart, Stuttgart, Germany and Max Planck Institute for Solid State Research, Stuttgart, Germany

#### (published 8 May 2024)

Single-molecule technology stands as a powerful tool, enabling the characterization of intricate structural and dynamic information that would otherwise remain concealed within the averaged behaviors of numerous molecules. This technology finds extensive application across diverse fields including physics, chemistry, biology, and medicine. Quantum sensing, particularly leveraging nitrogen-vacancy (NV) centers within diamond structures, presents a promising avenue for single-molecule magnetic resonance, offering prospects for sensing and imaging technology at the single-molecule level. Notably, while significant strides have been made in single-molecule scale magnetic resonance using NV centers over the past two decades, current approaches still exhibit limitations in magnetic sensitivity, spectral resolution, and spatial resolution. In particular, the full reconstruction of three-dimensional positions of nuclear spins within single molecules remains an unattained goal. This review provides a comprehensive overview of the current state of the art in single-molecule scale magnetic resonance encompassing an analysis of various relevant techniques involving NV centers. Additionally, it explores the optimization of technical parameters associated with these methods. This detailed analysis serves as a foundation for the development of new technologies and the exploration of potential applications.

DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.96.025001

### **CONTENTS**

*djf@ustc.edu.cn <sup>†</sup> fzshi@ustc.edu.cn <sup>‡</sup> kongxi@nju.edu.cn	<ul><li>I. Introduction and Background</li><li>A. Single-molecule technology introduction</li><li>B. NV-diamond sensing overview</li><li>C. The NV spin control technique</li></ul>
<sup>§</sup> fedor.jelezko@uni-ulm.de	1. Coherent control and readout of the NV center
<sup>I</sup> j.wrachtrup@pi3.uni-stuttgart.de	2. Quantum sensing

2

3

5

5

6

7

II. Quantum Sensing Approaches and Research Progress	9	
A. Electron paramagnetic resonance	10	
1. Double electron-electron resonance	11	
2. Quantum relaxometry	13	
B. Nuclear magnetic resonance	14	
1. Dynamical decoupling	16	
2. Electron-nuclear double resonance	18	
3. Hartmann-Hahn double resonance	18	
4. Two-dimensional NMR	19	
III. Detection Sensitivity	20	
A. Introduction	20	
B. Magnetic field sensitivity and spin number sensitivity	20	
C. Readout noise	21	
1. Photoluminescence enhancement	22	
2. Resonant readout	23	
3. Ancilla-assisted readout	23	
4. Spin-to-charge conversion and		
photoelectric readout	25	
D. Decoherence mechanism	26	
1. Surface treatment	28	
2. Quantum control for sensor	29	
E. Signal amplification	31	
F. Conclusion	31	
IV. Spectral Resolution	32	
A. Spectral resolution	32	
B. Methods to enhance the spectral resolution	33	
1. Zero-field electron paramagnetic resonance	33	
2. Correlation and quantum heterodyne method	34	
3. Backaction effect of measurement	37	
4. Confined space	37	
C. Conclusion	38	
V. Spatial Resolution	38	
A. Scanning probe magnetic imaging	39	
B. Gradient field-based magnetic imaging	40	
1. External applied gradient magnetic fields	40	
2. Spin-based gradient magnetic fields	41	
C Conclusion	42	
VI. Sensor fabrication	43	
A. NV creation	43	
B Surface modification	44	
1. Chemical treatment	45	
2 Electric control	45	
C Diamond engineering	46	
VII Conclusion and Outlook	47	
A Achievements: Quantum sensing outside the diamond	47	
B Technical gaps on sensors	49	
C Specific technical gaps on single-molecule	12	
EPR or NMR	50	
D Overall technical gaps	50	
E. Scientific objectives and potential applications	51	
List of Symbols and Abbreviations	52	
Acknowledgments		
Appendix A: Derivations		
1. Detection of nuclear spins via dynamical decoupling control		
2 Noise calculation	54	
Appendix B: Technology Compatibility	54	

### I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

The advent of single-molecule technology has ushered in a new era in the understanding of fundamental biological, chemical, and physical phenomena. Conventional ensemble methods interrogate the behavior from a large number of molecules collectively and average out the individual properties and rare states. Unlike conventional ensemble methods, single-molecule technology unveils insights into individual properties and rare states. Presently this technology encompasses a wide array of techniques spanning optical, electrical, mechanical, and magnetic methods like superresolution microscopy, fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET), scanning tunneling microscopy (STM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), nanopores, atomic force microscopy, and magnetic resonance force. These techniques facilitate the detection of various facets of single molecules, including imaging, motion, structure, and chemical environment. Nonetheless, the simultaneous multimodal detection of diverse information using these methods, especially within living conditions, remains a significant challenge.

In recent years, solid-state quantum sensing has emerged as a progressive technology that not only presents new possibilities but also has garnered considerable attention. Solid-state quantum sensors (SQSs), which are exemplified by the nitrogen-vacancy (NV) center, demonstrate quantum properties akin to those of traditional atomic systems. Nevertheless, their exceptional characteristics empower high-sensitivity quantum sensing across diverse environments. The NV center materializes as a point defect created by a nitrogen atom positioned adjacently to a vacancy within the diamond crystal (Fig. 1). It exists in three distinct charge states:  $NV^{-}$ ,  $NV^{0}$ , and NV<sup>+</sup>. Among these states, the negatively charged NV<sup>-</sup> center, which features a spin-1 ground state, is predominantly harnessed for applications in quantum sensing and quantum information. In this context, "NV" denotes NV- unless explicitly specified otherwise in the subsequent text. Functioning as a sensor, the NV center offers straightforward initialization and readout procedures, necessitating only an approximate 10-µW laser at a frequency of 532 nm, obviating the requirement for specialized narrowband lasers. Under optical excitation, the spin-induced spontaneous emission facilitates the attainment of both spin-related fluorescence contrast and optical spin initialization of the NV center's  $m_s = 0$  ground state. The state of the NV sensor can be readily identified, initialized, and extracted using confocal microscopy.

The NV sensor operates under ambient temperature, atmospheric pressure, and ambient magnetic fields, eliminating the requirement for cryogenic or vacuum systems, as well as high-level applied bias magnetic fields. Despite being at ambient temperature, the NV<sup>-</sup> defect still sustains a long-lived spin ground state, with a longitudinal relaxation time extending up to 10 ms and coherent time reaching several milliseconds. Moreover, the spin freedom of this defect exhibits sensitivity to variations in magnetic fields, electric fields, strain, and temperature (Doherty et al., 2013), enabling the NV center to function as a multimodal sensor. Moreover, diamond possesses chemical inertness, offering exceptional biocompatibility for NV sensors. These characteristics enable the sensor to be located approximately 1 nm from the field source (Müller et al., 2014; Lovchinsky et al., 2016), facilitating magnetic field imaging with subnanoscale spatial



FIG. 1. The NV center is a point defect in diamond comprising a substitutional nitrogen atom adjacent to a vacancy. It exhibits sensitivity to various physical quantities, especially to magnetic fields. As a solid-state quantum sensor operating under ambient temperature, the NV center can leverage quantum sensing protocols to enhance sensitivity, spectral resolution, and spatial resolution. This versatile quantum sensor finds applications in single-molecule studies, including magnetic spectroscopy of single proteins (Shi *et al.*, 2015; Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2016) and single DNA molecules (Shi *et al.*, 2018), detection of single qubits in spin networks (Schlipf *et al.*, 2017) and doped fullerenes (Pinto *et al.*, 2020), characterization of atomic-thin materials like monolayer hexagonal boron nitride (*h*-BN) (Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2017) and graphene (Hao *et al.*, 2023), and diagnosis of HIV-1 RNA (Miller *et al.*, 2020).

resolution and achieving high sensitivity in single-molecule measurements. NV sensors have been successfully employed for various applications, including single-molecule ESR, single-molecule NMR, single DNA structure measurement, spin network detection, two-dimensional material detection, spin-qubit detection, and single-virus diagnosis. NV sensors can simultaneously detect magnetic fields, electric fields, strain, pH value, and temperature changes in the surrounding environment.

This review aims to present the current progress, limitations, and outlooks of single-molecule techniques based on NV. The review is intended to serve as an introductory resource for students and researchers new to this field and as a fundamental reference for researchers already involved in related studies.

#### A. Single-molecule technology introduction

Single-molecule technology serves as a conduit for delving into the behavior of individual molecules, unlocking realms that were previously unattainable. Across diverse disciplines, numerous potent technologies (Fig. 2) have emerged, enabling the exploration and resolution of questions deemed unanswerable before. These methodologies predominantly fall into four main categories, each rooted in distinct measurement principles: optical, electric, mechanical, and magnetic measurements (Fig. 2).

Optical microscopy is the oldest mode of microscopy, and optical methods are used to probe the physical location or chemical environment of molecules. Despite the diffraction limit restricting spatial resolution, superresolution microscopy techniques, such as stimulated emission depletion (Hell and Wichmann, 1994) and stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (Moerner and Fromm, 2003; Betzig et al., 2006; Rust, Bates, and Zhuang, 2006), have enabled determination of labeled fluorophore positions beyond the diffraction limit, down to approximately 10 nm. In particular, smaller distance scales can be measured via FRET (Roy, Hohng, and Ha, 2008; Lerner et al., 2018) between fluorophores. In particular, FRET and plasmon shift enable the measurement of conformal changes of single molecules and local chemical environment (Zhang et al., 2002; Alivisatos, 2004; Giepmans et al., 2006).

Electrons with short wavelengths and small mass are suitable for single-molecule measurements with extremely short distance scales. The resolution of TEM (Fu et al., 2004; Claridge et al., 2005; Feldkamp and Niemeyer, 2006; Giljohann et al., 2010) depends on the wavelength of the particle, allowing for the derivation of atomic-scale structures. Owing to their small mass, electrons exhibit quantum tunneling behavior, enabling STM (Durkan and Welland, 2002; Messina et al., 2007; Moore and Weiss, 2008; Wiesendanger, 2009; Choi et al., 2017) to detect surfaces and molecule structures with a spatial resolution of less than 0.1 nm. Apart from static measurements of molecules, the electric method has also been applied to observe the motions (Kwon *et al.*, 2005; Shirai et al., 2006; Wong et al., 2007; Taranovskyy, Tansel, and Magnussen, 2010) and conformational changes (Feringa et al., 2000; Moresco et al., 2001; Loppacher et al., 2003; Choi et al., 2006; Liljeroth, Repp, and Meyer, 2007) of molecules. Nanopore, which allows only one molecule to move through at a time (Dekker, 2007; Branton et al., 2008), is small enough to enable direct, real-time analysis of long DNA or ribonucleic acid (RNA) fragments. The single molecule driven by the electric field, for example, DNA molecules with typical conditions, moves through the nanopore with a residence time of approximately 1 µs per base (Meller, Nivon, and Branton, 2001). The characteristic ionic current is recorded, and the corresponding nucleotide sequence is determined.

Single molecules can be measured via the forces between a sharp tip and the molecules. Magnetic (Neuman and Nagy, 2008) and optical tweezers (Ashkin *et al.*, 1986; Grier, 2003; Crampton and Brockwell, 2010) are utilized for observing force-induced motion and dynamic and conformational changes in single molecules within a force range of 0.1–1000 pN and nanometer scale. Atomic force microscopy (AFM) (Giessibl, 2003; Neuman and Nagy, 2008; Crampton and Brockwell, 2010) enables the imaging of single molecules by facilitating measurements at larger force scales and distance ranges. In this regard, the AFM method is commonly used for imaging the topography of the molecule rather than identifying the chemical species.

Du et al.: Single-molecule scale magnetic resonance ...



FIG. 2. The breakthrough of single-molecule techniques has allowed access to unprecedented physical, chemical, and biological details of molecules, ranging from tracking the movement of individual molecules to observing the vibrational and conformational changes of single bonds within them. These measurements yield a single-molecule scale view of chemical reactions, physical processes, and intermolecular interactions, offering insight into the behavior and properties of individual molecules and offering novel understanding for interdisciplinary fields. This overview of various types of single-molecule measurements is categorized based on the principles employed in the techniques; moreover, several of these techniques combine multiple principles, which are also addressed herein. The first column of color blocks corresponds to the four major physical principles: optics, electricity, mechanics, and magnetism. The second column corresponds to single-molecule techniques. The solid-state quantum sensor, which is linked to all four fundamental physical principles and boasts high sensitivity, spectral resolution, and spatial resolution, finds widespread applications ("future" marks potential applications).

To analyze various aspects of single molecules, new technologies are developed by combining different physical principles. The combination of electric and optical methods, tip-enhanced Raman scattering (Sonntag et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2017), yields a valuable "fingerprint" for chemical recognition in vibrational spectroscopy. Single-molecule Raman spectroscopy has been demonstrated (Steidtner and Pettinger, 2008; Ichimura et al., 2009) and resolves the inner structure of a single molecule with chemical recognition (Zhang et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2017). Combining electric and magnetic methods, ESR STM (Manassen et al., 1989; Durkan and Welland, 2002) and spin-polarized (SP) STM (Wiesendanger, 2009; Atodiresei et al., 2010; Brede et al., 2010; Loth et al., 2010) allow chemical recognition through single-molecule ESR spectroscopy. Moreover, combining magnetic and mechanical methods, magnetic resonance force microscopy (MRFM) measures the force experienced by polarized spins (Rugar et al., 2004; Mamin et al., 2007) in a gradient magnetic field. Furthermore, MRFM allows for both mechanical detection (Rugar et al., 2004) and imaging (Mamin et al., 2007) of the electron and nuclear spins of different chemical species. These techniques require careful instrumental design and operation at ultrahigh vacuum conditions and cryogenic temperatures.

Single-molecule techniques also enable chemical recognition under ambient conditions. The atomic-scale SQS (Degen, Reinhard, and Cappellaro, 2017), the NV center in diamond, combines optical and magnetic methods (Gruber et al., 1997) to enable quantum sensing for a variety of physical quantities, including force (Ovartchaiyapong et al., 2014; Teissier et al., 2014), magnetic field (Balasubramanian et al., 2008; Maze et al., 2008; Taylor et al., 2008), electric field (Dolde et al., 2011), and temperature (Kucsko et al., 2013; Neumann et al., 2013). Spin-based single-molecule magnetic resonance (SSMR) technologies utilize electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy for chemical recognition of a single molecule (Sushkov, Lovchinsky et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2015; Lovchinsky et al., 2016) while evaluating various other aspects, including imaging with subnanometer resolution (Grinolds et al., 2014; Arai et al., 2015), sensing biological dynamics (McGuinness et al., 2011; Xia et al., 2019; Igarashi et al., 2020; Feng et al., 2021), chemical environment (Hall et al., 2010; Steinert et al., 2013; Ziem et al., 2013; Karaveli et al., 2016; Rendler et al., 2017; Fujisaku et al., 2019), and chemical reactions (Perona Martínez et al., 2020) under ambient conditions. Moreover, this characterization technique has potential applications in diagnostics (Miller et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2022; Li et al., 2022), quantum information (Neumann et al., 2010; Schlipf et al., 2017), and spintronics (Du et al., 2017; Thiel et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2021; H. Wang et al., 2022; Yan et al., 2022). The great potential lies in the combination of multidisciplinary applications, nonlabeling quantum sensing with high-resolution contextual information, allowing for the correlation of various types of information regarding a single molecule under ambient conditions.

Single-molecule techniques enable imaging of the molecular structure, translational and rotational motion, conformational changes, molecular vibration, chemical environment, and chemical functionality. In turn, the ability of biology and chemistry to design and synthesize new molecules, from small molecules to supramolecular assemblies, offers a wide range of possibilities for realizing practical quantum information applications using hybrid systems. One of the central tasks for scalable quantum technologies requires an unprecedented combination of precision and complexity for designing stable structures of well-controllable quantum systems on the nanoscale.

A well-controlled spin-labeled biological network (Schlipf et al., 2017) offers an exceptional opportunity to combine quantum spin systems with well-developed bioprogrammable assembly techniques (Dai, Jungmann, and Yin, 2016; Dey et al., 2021). SSMR has the potential to read and potentially control the spin network, yielding a solid foundation for achieving the hybrid scalable quantum spin systems. Another important goal in physics is single-molecule electronics, which uses individual molecules as an electronic component for the microelectronics industry (Xu and Tao, 2003; Tao, 2006; Chen et al., 2007; Heath, 2009; Aradhya and Venkataraman, 2013; Rascón-Ramos et al., 2015). Singlemolecule magnets (Wernsdorfer and Sessoli, 1999; Leuenberger and Loss, 2001) also have potential applications in high-density storage and quantum computation. Additionally SSMR can provide more convenient and looser conditions for the readout of single-molecule electronics and single-molecule magnets.

#### B. NV-diamond sensing overview

Quantum sensing (Degen, Reinhard, and Cappellaro, 2017) technology utilizes quantum resources, such as quantum coherence, quantum entanglement, and coherent control of quantum systems, to obtain precision measurements. The use of quantum metrology techniques and quantum resources allows the standard quantum limit to be surpassed. This technology is based on techniques developed in the fields of atomic physics and magnetic resonance techniques, including atomic clocks (Ludlow *et al.*, 2015), atomic vapor magnetometers (Mitchell and Palacios Alvarez, 2020), superconducting quantum interference devices (Greenberg, 1998), and solid-state NV centers (Barry *et al.*, 2020). Among these modalities, the NV center serves as a unique platform for quantum sensing due to its substantial coherence time under ambient conditions.

The single NV center in diamond is first observed by confocal scanning microscopy (Gruber *et al.*, 1997). It is an optically active point defect in diamond, and its spin state can be initialized and measured using optical excitation (Jelezko, Gaebel, Popa, Domhan *et al.*, 2004; Jelezko, Gaebel, Popa, Gruber, and Wrachtrup, 2004). In particular, the ultralong spin relaxation times (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2009; Bar-Gill *et al.*, 2013; Herbschleb *et al.*, 2019) yield a unique opportunity to realize high sensitivity at the nanoscale or even at the molecular scale. The use of NV centers as nanoscale magnetic

sensors was first proposed and experimentally demonstrated in 2008 (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2008; Degen, 2008; Maze *et al.*, 2008; Taylor *et al.*, 2008). The NV center emerged as a promising quantum sensing platform in the following decades, as reported in NMR (Mamin *et al.*, 2013; Staudacher *et al.*, 2013), EPR (Shi *et al.*, 2015), and the fields of condensed matter physics (Casola, van der Sar, and Yacoby, 2018) and biology (Miller *et al.*, 2020).

The NV center is a point defect comprising substitutional nitrogen adjacent to a vacancy in diamond [Figs. 3(a) and 3(b)]. There are different charge states of an NV center, NV<sup>-</sup>, NV<sup>0</sup>, and NV<sup>+</sup>. The negatively charged state NV exhibits a triplet ground state and a spin-dependent intersystem crossing (ISC), which allows for measurement of the spin state based on the spin-dependent fluorescence [Fig. 3(c)]. The NV center possesses a long spin relaxation time at ambient temperature, with the best longitudinal relaxation times  $T_1 \sim 7$  ms, typically 0.3–5 ms (Rosskopf *et al.*, 2014; Myers, Ariyaratne, and Jayich, 2017) with NV center depths under 10 nm; the best coherence time  $T_2$  approaching 2.4 ms, typically 5-200 µs under 10 nm (Myers et al., 2014; Rosskopf et al., 2014; Romach et al., 2015; Lovchinsky et al., 2016); and the best dephasing time  $T_2^*$  approaching 1.5 ms (Herbschleb et al., 2019), typically 3-50 µs with NV center depth under 10 nm limited by  $T_2$ . The NV center's long coherence time at ambient temperature makes it advantageous to utilize its quantum coherence to measure physical quantities, including the magnetic fields (Balasubramanian et al., 2008; Maze et al., 2008; Barry et al., 2020), electric fields (Dolde et al., 2011), strain fields or pressure fields (Hsieh et al., 2019; Lesik et al., 2019; Yip et al., 2019), and temperature (Doherty et al., 2013; Kucsko et al., 2013). The quantum feature of an NV center in diamond can be utilized to increase sensitivity, which can be enhanced by designing tailored protocols suitable for use with the NV center. Additionally the NV center can be engineered specifically for use as a quantum sensor.

The NV center exhibits quantum sensing across a vast range of environments, with performed experiments spanning from ultralow temperatures (~10 mK) (Zhu et al., 2011) to extreme heat (~1000 K) (Liu et al., 2019), from ultrahigh vacuum (UHV) (Rosskopf et al., 2014) to high-pressure conditions (~30 GPa) (Hsieh et al., 2019; Lesik et al., 2019; Yip et al., 2019), and magnetic fields from zero up to  $\sim 3$  T (Aslam *et al.*, 2017). Additionally the diamond material that houses the NV center provides exceptional biocompatibility and low toxicity, which permits its successful integration into living biological cells (McGuinness et al., 2011; Kucsko et al., 2013; Miller et al., 2020). Through the ability to precisely manufacture NV sensors within 2 nm of the diamond surface (Müller et al., 2014; Lovchinsky et al., 2016), their superior sensitivity and spatial resolution allow for detection of entities at the singlemolecule level; however, reconstruction of the three-dimensional position of nuclear spins on a single molecule has not been achieved.

### C. The NV spin control technique

The NV center exhibits a spin-1 triplet electronic spin ground state. The main axis of the NV center is along the



FIG. 3. NV center. (a) NV center in a hexoctahedral diamond lattice. The NV center comprises a nitrogen atom (the purple ball labeled N) and an adjacent lattice vacancy (gray ball labeled V). The principal axis lies along the connection line between nitrogen and the vacancy. (b) Scanning optical confocal imaging of the NV centers. (c),(d) Energy-level configurations of the NV<sup>-</sup> and NV<sup>0</sup> centers in diamond. The NV center is situated within the conduction and valence bands of the diamond lattice. (c) Negatively charged NV<sup>-</sup> center energy level. The energy difference between the excited state and the ground state is 1.945 eV, which corresponds to a 637-nm zero phonon line. The orange box indicates the energy level of the ground state. The ground state of NV<sup>-</sup> is a triplet spin-1 system, with a zero-field splitting D = 2.87 GHz between the electronic spin levels  $m_s = 0$  and  $\pm 1$ . Furthermore, applying a magnetic field *B* causes an energy splitting between the  $|m_s = \pm 1\rangle$  levels. The spin state can be detected through fluorescence intensity due to a spin-dependent transition, which results from an intersystem crossing between the excited state and metastable level. (d) Neutrally charged NV<sup>0</sup> center energy level. The energy difference between the excited state and the ground state is 2.15 eV, which corresponds to the 575-nm zero phonon line and the 575-750-nm sideband.

vector joining the nitrogen atom and the vacancy. In particular, the spin-1 ground-state Hamiltonian of the NV center comprises three essential components, the spin Hamiltonian with an external magnetic field  $H_0$ , the interaction between the NV spin and the adjacent nitrogen nuclear spin  $H_{\text{nuclear}}$ , the electron spin interaction with the electric fields and strain  $H_{\text{electrical|strain}}$ ,

$$H = \underbrace{\mathcal{D}S_{z}^{2} + \gamma_{NV}\mathbf{B}_{0}\cdot\mathbf{S}}_{H_{0}} + A_{\parallel}S_{z}I_{z,N}$$

$$\underbrace{+A_{\perp}(S_{x}I_{x,N} + S_{y}I_{y,N}) + \mathcal{P}I_{z}^{2} - \gamma_{N}(\mathbf{B}_{0}\cdot\mathbf{I}_{N})}_{H_{nuclear}}$$

$$+ d_{\parallel}(E_{z} + \delta_{z})(S_{z}^{2} - 2/3)$$

$$\underbrace{+d_{\perp}(E_{x} + \delta_{x})(S_{y}^{2} - S_{x}^{2}) + d_{\perp}(E_{y} + \delta_{y})(S_{x}S_{y} + S_{y}S_{x})}_{H_{electrical|strain}}.$$
 (1)

Note that  $H_0$  consists of the zero-field-splitting term with  $\mathcal{D}$  resulting from the spin-spin interaction, which breaks the symmetry, and  $\gamma_{\text{NV}}\mathbf{B}_0 \cdot \mathbf{S}$ , which describes the interaction between the NV electron spin and the external magnetic field  $\mathbf{B}_0$ , where  $\gamma_{\text{NV}}$  represents the gyromagnetic ratio. In Eq. (1)  $H_{\text{nuclear}}$  accounts for terms related to the NV center's nitrogen

nuclear spin ( $I_{\rm N} = 1$  for <sup>14</sup>N and  $I_{\rm N} = 1/2$  for <sup>15</sup>N), where  $A_{\parallel}$ ,  $A_{\perp}$  are the parallel and perpendicular hyperfine coupling strengths, respectively,  $\mathcal{P}$  denotes the nuclear electric quadrupole coupling, and  $\gamma_{\rm N}$  indicates the gyromagnetic ratio of the respective nitrogen nuclear isotope. The response to the electric field and the strain field is represented by  $H_{\rm electrical|strain}$ , where  $d_{\parallel}$  and  $d_{\perp}$  are the ground-state components of the electric dipole moment. Moreover,  $\mathbf{S} = (S_x, S_y, S_z)$  is the NV electronic spin operator,  $\mathbf{I}_{\rm N} = (I_{x,{\rm N}}, I_{y,{\rm N}}, I_{z,{\rm N}})$  is the nitrogen nuclear spin operator,  $\mathbf{E} = (E_x, E_y, E_z)$  is the electric field vector, and  $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_x, \delta_y, \delta_z)$  is the strain field vector. Values of the parameters  $\mathcal{D}$ ,  $\gamma_{\rm NV}$ ,  $\gamma_{\rm N}$ ,  $A_{\parallel}$ ,  $A_{\perp}$ ,  $\mathcal{P}$ ,  $d_{\parallel}$ , and  $d_{\perp}$  are listed in Appendix A.

#### 1. Coherent control and readout of the NV center

An NV center exhibits spin-state-dependent fluorescence emission (Doherty *et al.*, 2013) in the 600–800-nm range. Under a 532-nm laser excitation, the NV system cycles between the ground and excited states and shelves to the metastable singlet manifold preferentially for  $m_s = \pm 1$  spin states ( $|\pm 1\rangle$ ) via the triplet-to-singlet ISC. The singlet-totriplet ISC is less spin selective than the triplet-to-singlet ISC, leading to a ground-state spin polarization to  $m_s = 0$  spin state ( $|0\rangle$ ) after the laser illumination (Robledo, Bernien *et al.*, 2011; Waldherr *et al.*, 2011; Doherty *et al.*, 2013).

Continuous-wave optically detected magnetic resonance (cwODMR) is a common tool to characterize spin-related energy-level transitions (Wrachtrup *et al.*, 1993; Gruber *et al.*, 1997) and also a powerful tool for magnetometry (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2008; Kucsko *et al.*, 2013; Le Sage *et al.*, 2013; Barry *et al.*, 2016). The NV spin is driven with continuous laser and microwave irradiation simultaneously. The NV spin is driven to the  $|\pm 1\rangle$  state when the microwave is tuned to be resonant with one of the  $|0\rangle \leftrightarrow |\pm 1\rangle$  transitions, shown as the fluorescence reduction dip in Fig. 4(a). The NV spin exhibits an intrinsic zero-field-splitting transition frequency D = 2.87 GHz, and its zero-field spectrum appears as a single dip. Moreover, the Zeeman effect causes the spectrum to split into double dips under the magnetic field  $B_0$ .

Pulsed techniques are more sensitive sensing approaches wherein the laser is turned off during the operational period. The long coherence time (milliseconds) (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2009; Bar-Gill *et al.*, 2013) at ambient temperature allows complicated magnetic resonance sequences, developed over decades in the field of magnetic resonance (Slichter, 1990). Coherent control is realized by a resonant microwave pulse applied during the no-optical period known as Rabi oscillation (Slichter, 1990). A typical example of the spin oscillation between  $|0\rangle$  and  $|1\rangle$  for a single NV at ambient temperature is shown in Fig. 4(b).



FIG. 4. ODMR methods. (a) cwODMR spectra of a single NV center. The spectrum is observed by sweeping the applied cw microwave frequency while laser pumping is applied. The fluorescence decreases at the resonant frequency. The upper curve is obtained under zero external field where the  $m_s = \pm 1$  states are degenerate. The lower curve is obtained under the  $B_0$  field with  $2\gamma_e B_0/2\pi$  splitting. (b) Rabi oscillation of single NV center. By resonant microwave pulse, the NV center spin oscillates between the  $m_s = 0$  and 1 spin states.



FIG. 5. Control protocols for quantum sensing for dc and ac target magnetic field. (a) Pulse sequence for the dc magnetometry using a Ramsey fringe with a sequence of  $\pi/2 - \tau - \pi/2$ . (b) Pulse sequence  $\pi/2 - \tau - \pi - \tau - \pi/2$  for the ac magnetometry.  $\pi$  is inserted in the middle of the sequence to eliminate unwanted environmental noise and accumulate the desired magnetic field with the right frequency  $\omega = \pi/\tau$ .

Ramsey interferometry measurement (Lee, Kok, and Dowling, 2002; Taylor et al., 2008) serves as a powerful tool for measuring static magnetic fields  $B_{dc}$  [Fig. 5(a)]. A  $\pi/2$ microwave pulse is applied to either convert the initialized state to a superposition state or transform the interacted state to a final state. The static magnetic field, or any static energy shift, introduces a relative phase  $\phi$  between the  $|0\rangle$  and  $|1\rangle$ states. This relative phase is given by  $\phi = \gamma_e B_{dc} t_s$ , where  $t_s$ denotes the coherent evolution time during the sensing protocol between the sensor and the signal  $B_{dc}$ . Furthermore, the Hahn-echo control sequence [Fig. 5(b)] is utilized to measure the alternating current (ac) field while eliminating static environmental fluctuations. An additional microwave  $\pi$ pulse is introduced in the middle of the Ramsey sequence. Under the Hahn-echo control, the time-dependent oscillating magnetic field  $B(t) = B_{ac} \cos(\omega t + \varphi_0)$  during sensing interrogation time  $t_s = 2\tau$  contributes to an overall additive phase shift. The accumulated phase is given by  $\phi = \gamma_e \left[ \int_0^{\tau} B(t) dt - \gamma_e \right]$  $\int_{\tau}^{2\tau} B(t) dt$  and reaches its maximum when the sequence is resonant and in phase, i.e., when  $\tau = \pi/\omega$  and  $\varphi_0 = 0$ . The interrogation time  $t_s$  can be extended from  $T_2^*$  to  $T_2$ , thereby improving the sensitivity and spectral resolution. Moreover, the sensitivity and spectral resolution can be further improved by utilizing more complex sequences, such as the dynamical decoupling (DD) (Secs. II.A.1 and II.B.1), correlation spectroscopy, and the quantum heterodyne (Qdyne) method (Sec. IV.B.2).

### 2. Quantum sensing

Quantum sensing involves use of a quantum object to measure the physical quantities or utilization of quantum coherence and quantum entanglement to perform the measurements (Degen, Reinhard, and Cappellaro, 2017). It always follows a generic protocol, sensor initialization, signal and sensor coupling, sensor readout, and signal estimation (Degen, Reinhard, and Cappellaro, 2017). The canonical approach is illustrated as a quantum interferometer (Lee, Kok, and Dowling, 2002) in Fig. 6(a). The Hamiltonian for the quantum sensor can be described as (Degen, Reinhard, and Cappellaro, 2017)

$$H(t) = H_0 + H_V(t) + H_{\text{control}}(t), \qquad (2)$$



FIG. 6. Quantum sensing. (a) Concept of quantum sensing illustrated through an interferometer with two beam splitters (corresponding to a  $\pi/2$  pulse) and a phase accumulation operation ( $\phi$ ). (b) Spin evolution in the Bloch sphere. The spin is initially rotated by a  $\pi/2$  pulse along the *x* axis to establish coherence on the *x*-*y* plane. Subsequently a second  $\pi/2$  pulse along the *y* axis is used to project the real component of the spin coherence onto the *z* axis. (c) Measurement of the signal for the real component of spin coherence vs the magnetic field *B*. (d) Similar to (b) but with the second  $\pi/2$  pulse along the *x* axis. The signal measurement for the imaginary component of the spin coherence vs the magnetic field *B*.

where  $H_0$  is the NV sensor Hamiltonian,  $H_V(t)$  is the response Hamiltonian of the quantum sensor coupled with the physical quantity V(t), and  $H_{\text{control}}(t)$  is the control Hamiltonian. The control Hamiltonian  $H_{\text{control}}(t)$  can be implemented through electromagnetic field control. By optimizing the  $H_{\text{control}}(t)$  protocols, the target physical quantity V(t) can be read out precisely. As a quantum interferometer, the NV quantum sensor is first initialized into  $|0\rangle$  using a 532-nm laser. A  $\pi/2$  pulse along the x axis converts the quantum sensor to the superposition state [Figs. 6(b) and 6(d)]

$$|+\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + |1\rangle). \tag{3}$$

Subsequently the sensor evolves for time duration t under the interaction with the target sample. As a result of the interaction, the superposition state picks up a phase  $\phi$  that is dependent on the physical quantity V(t). Without loss of generality, the accumulated phase is  $\phi = \int_0^{\tau} g_s V(t) dt$  if the response Hamiltonian  $H_V(t) = g_s V(t)S_z$ , where  $g_s$  is the response coefficient of the physical quantity V(t). The state of the quantum sensor evolves to

$$|\psi(t)\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0\rangle + e^{-i\phi}|1\rangle). \tag{4}$$

The spin coherence is then defined as  $\xi = e^{-i\phi}$ . The final state is transformed to either

$$|\psi_{\text{real}}\rangle = e^{-i\phi/2} \left(\cos\frac{\phi}{2}|0\rangle + i\sin\frac{\phi}{2}|1\rangle\right)$$
(5)

through the real-component sensing protocol ( $U_{\text{real}}$ ) with an ending  $\pi/2$  pulse in the *x* axis or

$$|\psi_{\rm img}\rangle = e^{i\pi/2} \left[ \cos\left(\frac{\phi}{2} - \frac{\pi}{4}\right) |0\rangle + \cos\left(\frac{\phi}{2} + \frac{\pi}{4}\right) |1\rangle \right] \quad (6)$$

through the imaginary-component sensing protocol  $(U_{img})$  with an ending  $\pi/2$  pulse in the y axis. The final signal is determined by the projection probability on  $|0\rangle$ . The results of the real-component and imaginary-component readout are [Figs. 6(c) and 6(e)]

$$p_{\text{real}} = \langle 0 \rangle \psi_{\text{real}}^2 = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{Re}\xi), \qquad (7)$$

$$p_{\rm img} = \langle 0 \rangle \psi_{\rm img}^2 = \frac{1}{2} (1 + \mathrm{Im}\xi), \qquad (8)$$

respectively.

The fluctuation of field V(t) is the main source of the decoherence in the NV center spin. The decoherence could reduce both the sensitivity and the spectral resolution of the quantum sensing; see Sec. III.D for details. Nevertheless, it is possible to utilize the decoherence for the noise field measurements. The correlation function S(t) characterizes the stochastic processes of the fluctuations  $\Delta V(t)$  and is defined as

$$S(t) = g_s^2 \langle \Delta V(0) \Delta V(t) \rangle.$$
(9)

The spectral density of noise  $S(\omega) = \mathcal{F}S(t)$  is obtained using the Fourier transform of S(t). The relaxation of the NV center spin depends on the control pulse sequence, which provides a filter function  $F_t(\omega)$  in the frequency domain (see Sec. III.D.2 for details), and the noise spectral density  $S(\omega)$ . The coherence is given by (Klauder and Anderson, 1962)

$$\xi(t) = e^{-\chi(t)/2},\tag{10}$$

where the decoherence function  $\chi(t)$  is

$$\chi(t) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\omega S(\omega) \frac{F_t(\omega)}{\omega^2}.$$
 (11)

Different measurement methods are required for different detection tasks depending on the target sample. When the spin detection is taken as an example, the corresponding physical quantities are  $V(t) = \langle I_x \rangle$  and  $V(t) = \langle I_z \rangle$ . The strengths of statistical fluctuation  $\sim 1/\sqrt{N}$  are different for macroscopic and microscopic spin ensembles, as shown in Fig. 7. Notably macroscopic spin ensembles generally exhibit smaller fluctuation than the thermal polarization or hyperpolarization. Conversely, microscopic spin ensembles can have fluctuations with magnitudes greater than the polarization. The readout results [Eqs. (7) and (8)] that are dependent on the accumulated phase  $\phi \ll 1$  are

$$\langle p_{\rm real} \rangle \approx 1 - \frac{\langle \phi \rangle^2}{4} - \frac{\delta \phi^2}{4},$$
 (12)

$$\langle p_{\rm img} \rangle \approx \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\langle \phi \rangle}{2},$$
 (13)

where  $\langle \phi \rangle = g_s t_s P$ ,  $\delta \phi = g_s t_s / \sqrt{N}$ , and P is the polarization of the target sample spin ensemble. The real-component



FIG. 7. Measurements of macroscopic spin and nanoscale spin systems. (a) Fluctuation of the macroscopic ensemble spin system characterized by  $\delta N/N \sim 1/\sqrt{N}$ . It is always smaller than the polarization. The real-component readout signal, which detects the fluctuation  $\sim \langle \delta \phi \rangle^2$ , is smaller than the imaginary-component readout signal  $\sim \phi_{\text{pola}} = \langle \phi \rangle$ , which is proportional to the polarization. (b) Conversely, the fluctuation in the few-spin system, which is characterized by  $\delta N/N \sim 1/\sqrt{N}$ , can be larger than the polarization. In such cases, the fluctuation signal  $\langle \delta \phi \rangle^2$  can surpass the polarization signal. Further details are reported in Fig. 13.

readout is an efficient method to use when quantum fluctuation predominates, while the imaginary-component readout is efficient for polarization-dominant scenarios (as illustrated in Fig. 7).

Detection of a single spin presents a different scenario. With a sufficient level of sensitivity, the target spin state can be readout with single shot (Neumann, Beck et al., 2010; Degen, Reinhard, and Cappellaro, 2017). This possibility depends upon the spin-sensor coupling strength  $q_s$ , the target spin relaxation rate  $\gamma$ , and the sensor readout noise  $\sigma_R$ . When the accumulated measurement signal suffices to surpass the readout noise  $g_s/2\gamma \gg \sigma_R$  before the target spin relaxes, the single-shot readout protocol (Neumann, Beck et al., 2010; Maurer et al., 2012; Dréau et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2017) accurately determines the target spin state with high fidelity. The NV sensor accumulates a phase that is determined by  $\phi = \langle I_z \rangle g_s t_s$ , and the imaginary-component readout result is  $S_{img} = (1/2) \sin g_s t_s$  [Eq. (7), excluding the constant term]. Similar conclusions apply to tracking measurements of  $I_r(t)$  (Cujia *et al.*, 2019). The signal strength is insufficient to exceed the readout noise before the target spin relaxes if  $g_s/2\gamma \ll \sigma_R$ . Only the fluctuation signal  $(S_{real})$  can be observed, which is given by  $(1 - \cos g_s t_s)/2 \approx g_s^2 t_s^2/4 \ll S_{\text{img}}.$ 

### II. QUANTUM SENSING APPROACHES AND RESEARCH PROGRESS

This section introduces the measurement protocols used in SSMR in two parts that focus on EPR and NMR. The EPR section summarizes the methods for detecting electron spin, including double electron-electron resonance (DEER) (Shi et al., 2015, 2018; Schlipf et al., 2017; Pinto et al., 2020), quantum relaxometry (Ermakova et al., 2013; Steinert et al., 2013; Ziem et al., 2013; Sushkov et al., 2014; Lillie et al., 2017; Kong et al., 2018), and other methods. The NMR section includes DD (Zhao et al., 2012; Staudacher et al., 2013; Müller et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2014), electron-nuclear double resonance (ENDOR) (Mamin et al., 2013; Aslam et al., 2017), Hartmann-Hahn double resonance (HHDR) (London et al., 2013; Shagieva et al., 2018), two-dimensional NMR (Yang et al., 2018; Abobeih et al., 2019; Smits et al., 2019; Kong, Zhou et al., 2020), and other methods. Works with the capability of detecting single molecules are highlighted, including single nuclear spin sensitivity NMR (Müller et al., 2014), single proton NMR (Sushkov, Lovchinsky et al., 2014), all-optical single-molecule electron sensing (Sushkov et al., 2014), single protein EPR (Shi et al., 2015), singlemolecule NMR (Lovchinsky et al., 2016), single-molecule liquid EPR (Shi et al., 2018), and single endofullerene EPR (Pinto et al., 2020). Although SSMR has significantly advanced, research has primarily focused on two regions, i.e., short sensor-sample distances with high spin number sensitivity or long sensor-sample distances with low spin number sensitivity (Fig. 8), especially for the single-molecule NMR at the micron scale. On the one hand, SSMR aims to achieve high sensitivity at short distances. On the other hand, it is also critical to aim for high spin sensitivity at far sensorsample distances (the arrow in Fig. 8).



FIG. 8. Reported spin number detection sensitivity  $\eta_{spin}$  by different magnetic resonance technologies vs the sensor-sample distance. The spin detection sensitivity  $\eta_{spin}$  represents the minimum detectable spin number (standard deviation) per Hz<sup>1/2</sup>. For the works without specific reported values, we estimated the spin sensitivity of electrons or protons per Hz<sup>1/2</sup> for different detection methods by estimating the magnetic field generated by spins or by comparing the signal standard deviation with the experimental time. The applications of SSMR are restricted to two regions, one that has high spin number sensitivity at short sensor-sample distances and the other that has low spin number sensitivity at long sensor-sample distances. Our ultimate research goal is to achieve single spin sensitivity under long sensor-sample distance conditions. Details are presented in Table I.

### A. Electron paramagnetic resonance

EPR is crucial for determining the structure, dynamics, and spatial distribution of paramagnetic species (Borbat, 2001). Although most biological molecules are nonparamagnetic and thus cannot be measured by this technique, labeling biological molecules with a small spin-bearing moiety, such as nitroxide spin labels, enables EPR to acquire a broad range of structural and dynamical information. Compared to nonlabeling NMR techniques, the EPR technique is much more sensitive because the electron has a much greater magnetic moment than a nucleus. Moreover,

TABLE I. Spin number sensitivities for different sensing methods in Fig. 8. Values are assumed directly from the cited references. Other values are estimated from the experimental curves or experimental descriptions. In cases where values are nonexistent or not applicable, the cells are empty.

Method	Reference(s)	Sensitivity $\mu_B/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$	Sensitivity proton/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$	Sensor-sample distance (nm)	Spectral resolution
MRFM	Kirtley (2010)	23		9	0.21 Hz
SQUID	Vasyukov et al. (2013)	0.4		10	
SP STM	Choi et al. (2017)	0.5		~1	10 MHz
NV EPR	Grinolds <i>et al.</i> (2013) Sushkov <i>et al.</i> (2014) Shi <i>et al.</i> (2015) Shi <i>et al.</i> (2018) Pinto <i>et al.</i> (2020)	10 40 1 0.3 1.3		50 10 9 6 10	~10 kHz 10 MHz 20 MHz 1 MHz
NV NMR	Staudacher et al. (2013) Mamin et al. (2013) Sushkov, Lovchinsky et al. (2014) Müller et al. (2014) Häberle et al. (2015) Lovchinsky et al. (2015) Aslam et al. (2017) Yang et al. (2018)		$\begin{array}{c} \sim 10^{3} \\ \sim 10^{5} \\ 0.36 \\ 0.06 \\ 6 \times 10^{4} \\ 1 \\ 5 \times 10^{5} \\ \sim 10^{3} \end{array}$	7 20 3.3 2 to 3 17 3 34 6	20 kHz 20 kHz ~MHz 10 kHz 20 kHz 5 kHz 1 mHz 5 kHz

the NV electron spin and the target labeled electron spin exhibit magnetic dipolar interaction. When the spins are denoted by  $S_{NV}$  (NV sensor spin),  $S_e$  (target electron spin), and I (nuclear spin of the target electron spin), the combined system Hamiltonian is expressed as follows:

$$H = \underbrace{\mathcal{D}S_{z,\mathrm{NV}}^{2} + \gamma_{\mathrm{NV}}\mathbf{B}_{0}\cdot\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{NV}}}_{H_{0}} + \underbrace{\frac{\mu_{0}}{4\pi}\gamma_{\mathrm{NV}}\gamma_{e}\hbar}_{H_{0}}\underbrace{\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{NV}}\cdot\mathbf{S}_{e} - 3(\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{NV}}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}})(\mathbf{S}_{e}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{r}})}_{H_{\mathrm{NV,ele}}} + \underbrace{\gamma_{e}\mathbf{B}_{0}\cdot\mathbf{S}_{e} + \mathbf{S}_{e}\cdot\mathbf{A}\cdot\mathbf{I} - \gamma_{n}\mathbf{B}_{0}\cdot\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{I}\cdot\mathbf{Q}\cdot\mathbf{I}}_{H_{\mathrm{VV}}}, \quad (14)$$

where  $\mathbf{B}_0$  is the external static field,  $\mathbb{A}$  is the hyperfine tensor,  $\mathbb{Q}$  is the nuclear quadrupole coupling tensor, and  $\mathbf{r}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$  are the distance and the direction between NV and target electron spin. In addition,  $\gamma_{\text{NV}}$ ,  $\gamma_e$ , and  $\gamma_n$  are the gyromagnetic ratios of the NV, target electron, and nuclear spin, respectively.

#### 1. Double electron-electron resonance

DEER is one of the most widely used techniques to characterize the coupling or the distance between two electron spins (Schweiger and Jeschke, 2001). Under the secular approximation, the effective coupling is

$$H_{\rm dip} = \frac{\mu_0}{4\pi} \frac{\gamma_{\rm NV} \gamma_{\rm tar} \hbar}{r^3} (1 - 3\cos^2\theta), \qquad (15)$$

where r denotes the distance between the NV center and the target electron spin and  $\theta$  is the angle between the NV-targetspin connection direction and the external magnetic field. By resolving the coupling strength, we detect the label spin using SSMR.

The quantum sensing control protocols are shown in Fig. 9(b). The NV sensor is first initialized to the  $|0\rangle$  state. An initial  $\pi/2$  pulse then prepares the sensor in a coherent superposition state. Afterward a series of DD  $\pi$  pulses ( $\tau/2 - \pi \tau/2)^N$  with resonant frequency  $\omega_{\rm NV} = \mathcal{D} \pm \gamma_e B_0$  are applied to NV electron spin, while the target labeled electron spin is flipped synchronously with  $\pi$  pulses. Detecting the singleelectron spin label is challenging because the coherence time of shallow NV centers is usually limited by surface noise (see Sec. III.D), which obscures the coupling between the spin label and the NV center. The DD control pulses elongate the coherence time of NV electron spin, thereby facilitating single-electron spin sensitivity. The signal is preserved during the evolution, and other noise is eliminated when the driving frequency matches the resonant frequency of the target electron spin. The final signal is observed by the realcomponent readout as (Sushkov, Lovchinsky et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2015; Schlipf et al., 2017)

$$S_{\text{DEER}} = \frac{1}{2} \left[ 1 + \prod_{n} \cos\left(H_{n,\text{dip}} N \tau\right) \right], \tag{16}$$



FIG. 9. Single-molecule EPR realized by the DEER method. (a) DEER pulse control sequence to probe the coupling between the NV spin and the labeled electron spin on a single protein. The pulse sequence indicates the timing and order of pulses applied to the spins. The microwave frequency is resonant with the NV spin, and the radio frequency is resonant with the labeled electron spins. A DD sequence is applied on the NV spin while synchronous series  $\pi$  pulses are applied simultaneously with the microwave  $\pi$  pulses. Synchronously driving the NV electron spin and the target spin allows for preservation of the coupling between the NV spin and the target spin while eliminating most nonsynchronous magnetic noise. (b) The protein is labeled using nitroxide spin labels. Moreover, the protein is reliably immobilized on the diamond surface close to the NV center by embedding it in a polylysine layer. Microwave radiation is delivered through a coplanar waveguide, and the fluorescence is collected using a confocal system. (c) Single spin EPR spectra under ambient conditions. The spectrum disappears after removing the protein via acid cleaning. (d) The ensemble ESR spectrum of protein molecules in a frozen buffer solution with glycerine at 127 K. Adapted from Shi et al., 2015.

where  $H_{n,\text{dip}}$  is the effective coupling of the *n*th labeled electron spin.

Although single-electron spins inside diamond or on diamond surfaces have been sensed (Grinolds *et al.*, 2011, 2013, 2014), the first electron spin resonance on a single protein was realized by Shi *et al.* (2015). Single nitroxide spin-labeled MAD2 (mitotic arrest deficient-2) molecules are chosen as an essential spindle checkpoint protein (Rothman and Orci, 1992; Martin-Lluesma, Stucke, and Nigg, 2002) and are reliably immobilized on the diamond surface by embedding them in a polylysine layer, as shown in Fig. 9(a). The positions to the single NV centers rely on statistical proximity. For this purpose, the protein surface concentration is optimized and various NV centers are tested for dipolar interactions with single spin labels.

The single-molecule EPR spectrum is obtained by sweeping the driving microwave field frequency [Fig. 9(c)]. The spin coherence transfer will occur when the driving field frequency is resonant with the target electron spin. Three clearly resolved spectral peaks indicate that the detected spin is the nitroxide-labeled electron spin on the protein. In the spectrum of a solid-state ensemble EPR, the random orientation of the molecular spin principal axis leads to a broadening of the spectral peaks, as depicted in Fig. 9(c). However, in the case of single-molecule EPR, the fast tumbling of molecules averages out the anisotropic terms of the hyperfine interaction. Single spin EPR allows for a reliable determination of anisotropic hyperfine coupling, which is crucial for structural and dynamical information.

Single-molecule EPR (Shi *et al.*, 2015) has been demonstrated with a single spin-labeled protein immobilized in a solid layer. However, the majority of biomolecules function in an aqueous solution under ambient temperature, where they undergo a range of motion. NV detection of single molecules under near-physiological conditions presents considerable additional challenges compared to studies performed with a stationary solid phase. A chemical tethering scheme (Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2016; Shi *et al.*, 2018) has been executed to confine the spin-labeled molecule [Fig. 10(a)], a DNA duplex, within ~10 nm of a shallow NV center (Shi *et al.*, 2018). With the implementation of a diamond pillar array design (see Sec. VI.C), the detection time for an EPR spectrum reduces by approximately 1 order compared to the result of Shi *et al.* (2015). This strategy enables multiple EPR spectra before the labels to be quenched via laser irradiation. The resolved  $A_{iso}$  values from the spectra vary by ~12%, reflecting heterogeneity among the individual molecules [Fig. 10(b)], which may reflect heterogeneity of the polarity profile at the individual DNA duplexes; nevertheless, several other factors (such as spin label dynamics and local electrostatics) cannot be completely ruled out. The liquid-state single-molecule EPR spectra indicate that analysis of an NV-center-based single-molecule spectra can render information on the local environment and motion dynamics of a biomolecule, such as variations in DNA conformation and interactions between DNA and proteins or ligands.

One of the crucial obstacles for ambient temperature singlemolecule EPR is the laser-induced spin label quenching



FIG. 10. Single-molecule EPR. (a) Single-molecule EPR in liquid. The diamond is attached with DNA on the diamond pillar surface. The surface-tethered DNA strand (indicated by a dashed red line) hybridizes with a strand (indicated by a solid blue line) that contains a spin label (indicated by an orange arrow), leading to the localization of a spin-labeled duplex within the detection volume of an NV center (indicated by a dark red arrow). (b) Top panel: single-electron spin EPR. The splitting has the <sup>14</sup>N-*R*5 spin label electron spin quenched in the detected spectrum after the laser irradiation. (a),(b) Adapted from Shi *et al.*, 2018. (c) EPR spectra of multiple electron spins measured at T = 4.2 K in ultrahigh vacuum. The target sample, doubly spin-labeled polyprolines, is coupled with a shallow, implanted NV center. The hemisphere shown represents the sensing range of the NV sensor and is approximately the same size as the depth of the NV sensor. (d) Measured spectra on the sensor. From top to bottom: blank spectrum without spin-labeled peptides on surface, spectrum of diluted polyproline labels on diamond surface (labeled and unlabeled ratios 1:10), and spectrum of the cleaned diamond surface after the aforementioned measurement. (c),(d) Adapted from Schlipf *et al.*, 2017. (e) N@C<sub>60</sub> diluted with empty C<sub>60</sub> cages detected by the NV sensor. (f) Top panel: EPR spectrum of N@C<sub>60</sub> on a diamond surface at low temperatures. The solid blue line indicates the simulation of single N@C<sub>60</sub> electron spin EPR spectrum. The dashed vertical lines are the positions of ensemble EPR hyperfine components. Middle panel: spectrum under ambient temperature. The linewidth is largely broadening. Bottom panel: ensemble EPR. (e),(f) Adapted from Pinto *et al.*, 2020.

(Schlipf *et al.*, 2017; Shi *et al.*, 2018). By conducting the experiment at liquid helium temperature (4.2 K) and in a UHV environment ( $< 10^{-8}$  Pa), one eliminates the photobleaching of the electron spin label. Common methanethiosulfonate spin label bearing peptides as a network spin is covered on the diamond containing the NV sensor [Fig. 10(c)]. Subsequently the collective readout and coherent manipulation of few ( $\leq 6$ ) of these S = 1/2 electron spin systems and access their direct dipolar coupling tensor is demonstrated as shown in Fig. 10(d) (Schlipf *et al.*, 2017). Another spin system <sup>14</sup>N@C<sub>60</sub> fullerene cages (Smith, Monthioux, and Luzzi, 1998; Olyanich *et al.*, 2013; Ozmaian *et al.*, 2016) with the capability of self-assembling on monolayer graphyne sheets is also measured and controlled using technology similar to that shown in Figs. 10(e) and 10(f) (Pinto *et al.*, 2020).

### 2. Quantum relaxometry

Quantum technology often relies on the preservation of quantum states; however, relaxation can lead to dissipation of quantum states, thereby hindering quantum technology. Magnetic field fluctuations generated by spins are common in nanoscale biology. Quantum relaxation provides an unprecedented opportunity for nanoscale measurements, as it provides valuable information regarding processes that generate these fluctuations rather than presenting an obstacle to quantum technology. Conventional techniques including magnetic resonance force microscopy (Rugar et al., 2004), atomic vapor magnetometers (Kominis et al., 2003), and superconducting quantum interference devices (SOUIDs) (Greenberg, 1998) lack the ability to combine high sensitivity, nanoscale spatial resolution, and biological living conditions, which limits their scope of application. In contrast, SQS yields an opportunity in this field. By measuring relaxation, SSMR permits the sensing of samples labeled with Mn<sup>2+</sup> (Ziem et al., 2013), Fe<sup>3+</sup> (Ermakova et al., 2013; Ziem et al., 2013; Schäfer-Nolte et al., 2014; P. Wang et al., 2019; Radu et al., 2020), Cu<sup>2+</sup> (Simpson et al., 2017), La<sup>3+</sup> (Radu et al., 2020), Gd<sup>3+</sup> (Sushkov et al., 2014; Rendler et al., 2017; Gorrini et al., 2019), pH value (Fujisaku et al., 2019), and free radicals (van der Laan et al., 2018; Barton et al., 2020; Perona Martínez et al., 2020) involved in chemical reactions.

The target single nonfluorescent molecule can be attached covalently on the diamond surface [Fig. 11(a)]. The sensing protocol is performed under ambient conditions with only the optical method involved in the experiment. The paramagnetic component is introduced with metallic ions such as  $Mn^{2+}$ ,  $Fe^{3+}$ ,  $Cu^{2+}$ ,  $La^{3+}$ , and  $Gd^{3+}$ . The paramagnetic ion spins generate a fast fluctuating magnetic field that is described by the magnetic fluctuation spectral noise density  $S(\omega)$  [Fig. 11(b)],

$$S(\omega) = \frac{\gamma_{\rm NV}^2 \langle B_{\perp,\rm ion}^2 \rangle}{\pi} \frac{f_{\rm ion}}{f_{\rm ion}^2 + (\omega - \omega_0)^2}, \qquad (17)$$

where  $f_{ion}$  is the relaxation rate of the ion and  $\omega_0$  represents the Larmor precession of the ion. The fluctuation strength  $\langle B_{\perp,ion}^2 \rangle$  depends on the coupling strength between the NV center spin and the ion spin (Steinert *et al.*, 2013),



FIG. 11. Single-molecule quantum relaxometry. (a) Single shallow NV center used as an SQS. A single molecule labeled as an ion  $(Gd^{3+})$  is attached on the surface of the diamond with a shallow NV center. The NV center is shed with a laser, and fluorescence is observed using a confocal microscope. Adapted from Sushkov et al., 2014. (b) Noise spectral density for ions (Gd<sup>3+</sup>) shown with different concentrations (red curves) and demonstrating the broadening effect of coupling  $(f_{dip})$  at higher concentrations. Although the filter function of DD (blue curve,  $F_2$ ) is limited to megahertz fluctuations,  $T_1$  relaxometry can probe a wide frequency range up to gigahertz with two sensitivity windows  $(F_1^+ \text{ and } F_1^- \text{ for the } m_s = \pm 1 \text{ transition})$  shown as black lines.  $F_1^{\pm}$  can be Zeeman shifted via  $B_0$ , thereby enabling the experimental detection of  $S_{ion}(\omega)$ . (c) Quantum relaxometry measurement protocols. The fluorescence is measured after initialization and a waiting time of  $\tau$ . The presence of a nearby target molecule can increase the relaxation of the NV sensor, which is represented by the red line. (b),(c) Adapted from Steinert et al., 2013.

$$\langle B_{\perp,\text{ion}}^2 \rangle = \frac{21 \times 10^3 \pi N_A c_{\text{ion}}}{16d^3} \left(\frac{\mu_0 \hbar}{4\pi} \gamma_{\text{ion}}\right)^2, \qquad (18)$$

where  $c_{\text{ion}}$  represents the ion concentration,  $N_A$  denotes the Avogadro constant,  $\gamma_{\text{ion}}$  is the gyromagnetic ratio of the ion, and *d* is the sensor depth.

The rate of SQS relaxation (Steinert *et al.*, 2013; Ziem *et al.*, 2013) for the ion can be calculated using the following equation:

$$f_{\rm ion} = f_{\rm dipole} + f_{\rm vib} + f_{\rm trans} + f_{\rm rot}.$$
 (19)

In Eq. (19)  $f_{\text{dipole}} = c_{\text{ion}} \times 77 \text{ GHz M}^{-1}$  is a concentrationdependent fluctuation rate that is induced by the dipolar coupling between ion spins. The magnetic fluctuations undergo a significant broadening  $f_{\text{vib}}$  due to intrinsic relaxation from the surrounding chemical environment. The broadening  $f_{\text{vib}}$  is determined by the ensemble EPR spectroscopy. The motion of spins in aqueous solution also induces the spin relaxation. The fluctuation rate of the effective fluctuation field due to translational spatial diffusion is thus (Steinert *et al.*, 2013)

$$f_{\rm trans} = D_{\rm diff} \left(\frac{3}{4d}\right)^2,\tag{20}$$

where  $D_{\text{diff}}$  is the diffusion coefficient. Furthermore, molecular rotation yields a fluctuation rate governed by Stokes's law with

$$f_{\rm rot} = \frac{k_B T}{4d^3 \varrho},\tag{21}$$

where q is the fluid viscosity. The motion-induced spin relaxation is on the order of ~0.1 GHz in water at ambient temperature (Steinert *et al.*, 2013).

Thus, the metallic-ion-labeled molecules on a diamond surface are sensed by a single shallow NV center acting as a magnetometer. In the presence of nearby paramagnetic molecules, a relaxation process occurs naturally if the noise spectrum suffices to cover the filter function of the NV center. This type of measurement does not require any microwave controls, and thus is purely optical in nature. In the absence of any quantum controls, the evolution of the NV center follows a normal relaxation process where the population of the  $|0\rangle$  state is described by

$$P(|0\rangle) = \frac{1}{6}(2 + e^{-\Gamma_1^- t} + e^{-\Gamma_1^+ t} + 2e^{-(\Gamma_1^- + \Gamma_1^+)t}).$$
(22)

The longitudinal relaxation rate  $\Gamma_1^{\pm}$  is given by (Simpson *et al.*, 2017)

$$\Gamma_1(B_0) = \Gamma_{1,\text{int}} + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma_2}{2\{\Gamma_2^2 + [\omega_{\text{NV}}(B_0) - \omega]^2\}} S(\omega) d\omega,$$
(23)

where  $\Gamma_{1,\text{int}} = 1/T_1$  is the intrinsic relaxation rate,  $\Gamma_2 = 1/T_2^*$  is the dephasing rate of the NV center,  $\omega_{\text{NV}}^{\pm}(B_0) = \mathcal{D} \pm \gamma_{\text{NV}}B_0$  is the transition frequency, and  $S(\omega)$  is the magnetic fluctuation spectral noise density of the ion [Eq. (17)]. The maximum relaxation rate occurs at the crossover point, and  $\Gamma_1(B_0)$  represents the EPR spectrum based on quantum relaxometry.

All-optical quantum relaxometry has achieved singlemolecule sensitivity. A single paramagnetic molecule is labeled with a gadolinium ion (Gd<sup>3+</sup>) chelated by an amine-terminated organic ligand (Sushkov et al., 2014). The surface density of molecules could be controlled by varying the concentration of the Gd<sup>3+</sup> molecules during the reaction. The procedure can be used to covalently attach any water-soluble amine-terminated molecule to the diamond surface with controlled surface coverage. Figure 11(c) depicts the change in the NV spin relaxation rate  $(T_1)$  caused by a single molecule (Sushkov et al., 2014). The advantage of alloptical techniques is their convenience, which may have implications for studying a broad range of biochemical molecules and processes without requiring microwave or radio-frequency control (Ermakova et al., 2013; Kaufmann et al., 2013; Steinert et al., 2013; Sushkov et al., 2014; Rendler et al., 2017; Simpson et al., 2017; Barton et al., 2020).

The relaxation signal originates from the spectral overlap between the NV sensor filter function and the noise frequency of the target spin. Adjusting the magnetic field is one of the most convenient ways to study EPR spectroscopy. Adjusting the magnetic field can accordingly change the energy levels of both the NV sensor and the target, allowing for the detection of the characteristic spectra of several paramagnetic species. For instance, in detecting the electron spin label of a nitroxide free radical, the characteristic frequency of the noise signal increases almost linearly with the external magnetic field, at  $\sim \gamma_e B_0$ , while for the NV center the transition frequency changes with the magnetic field as  $\mathcal{D} - \gamma_{\rm NV} B_0$ . A crossover occurs at  $\mathcal{D}/(\gamma_{\rm NV} + \gamma_{\rm tar})$ , based upon which the *g* factor of the target spin is obtained.

The spins with different resonant frequencies cannot effectively couple in the laboratory frame. An approach other than adjusting the magnetic field involves utilizing the dressed state method for EPR spectroscopy, with the Hamiltonian given by

$$H_{\rm NV,tar} = \Omega_{\rm NV} S_{x,\rm NV} + \Omega_{\rm tar} S_{x,\rm tar} + H_{\rm dip} S_{z,\rm NV} S_{z,\rm tar}.$$
 (24)

Energy transfer between two resonantly driven spins can occur with  $\Omega_{\rm NV} = \Omega_{\rm tar}$ , similar to the Hartmann-Hahn matching condition. In contrast to the aforementioned magneticfield-adjusting method, this method can be applied to all magnetic fields if the corresponding driving field strength is available. The driving on the target is not necessary when the driving field on the NV sensor is sufficiently strong (Kong *et al.*, 2018) [Fig. 12(c)]. Subsequently, as the resonance condition the Rabi frequency of the NV sensor matches the bare transition frequency of the target spin. This method is suitable for cases where the target spin is not easy to control or is unstable, akin to a molecule exhibiting rotational dynamics.

#### **B.** Nuclear magnetic resonance

NMR spectroscopy is a powerful tool to determine the chemical makeup of macromolecules and for resolving the structures of organic compounds and biological macromolecules (Wüthrich, 2001; Yves *et al.*, 2010). However, the weak interaction strengths between sample nuclear spins and the conventional NMR probe and the low polarization of the sample nuclear spins require macroscopic sample quantities to



FIG. 12. Three types of EPR spectroscopic methods based on electron relaxometry. (a) Sweeping magnetic field. Resonance occurs at the energy-level crossover. Adapted from Hall *et al.*, 2016. (b) Energy levels of dressed states tuned by continuous driving. Resonance occurs when the two driving powers match. Adapted from Belthangady *et al.*, 2013. (c) SQS driven to the dressed states. Resonance occurs when the Rabi frequency matches the energy splitting of the bare states. Adapted from Kong *et al.*, 2018.

investigate and are difficult to apply directly in the study of nanoscale molecules. However, conventional NMR offers limited sensitivity due to the weak interaction strength between sample spins and the inductive detectors, and the low-thermal polarization of the sample nuclear spins [Fig. 13(b)]. In addition, the maximum magnetic field gradient

restricts the spatial resolution of NMR imaging methods (Glover and Mansfield, 2002). Thus, conventional NMR requires macroscopic sample quantities to investigate and are difficult to apply directly to the study of nanoscale molecules. By miniaturizing the detector to more closely approach the sample, we can enhance sensor-sample coupling. In particular, the signal of conventional NMR is proportional to the magnetic polarization  $P^{\text{nuclear}}$  of the nuclear spins (Abragam, 1983; Levitt, 2008),

$$P^{\text{nuclear}} \approx \frac{\gamma_n B_0 \hbar}{2k_B T},\tag{25}$$

where  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant and T is the temperature. The nuclear spin polarization can be further increased by hyperpolarization approaches such as optically induced polarization (Tateishi et al., 2014), dynamic nuclear polarization (Ardenkjær-Larsen et al., 2003; Griesinger et al., 2012; Gajan et al., 2014), and quantum-rotor-induced polarization (Meier et al., 2013; Roy et al., 2015) [Fig. 13(a)]. The statistical fluctuation  $\sqrt{N}$  [Fig. 13(c)] is always significantly weaker than the thermal polarization or the hyperpolarization for conventional NMR techniques (Sleator et al., 1985; McCoy and Ernst, 1989; Müller and Jerschow, 2006). However, recently developed sensors, including NV sensors, the SQUID sensor (Vasyukov et al., 2013), and the magnetic force microscopy (MFM) sensor, have the capability to decrease the sensor-sample distance to within 100 nm (Mitchell and Palacios Alvarez, 2020). This proximity allows the statistical fluctuations to invariably exceed the thermal nuclear spin polarization [Fig. 13(a)]. Thus, for the NV-sensor-based nanoscale or even single-molecule NMR [Fig. 13(c)] detection of the statistical fluctuations signal can



FIG. 13. Polarization-dependent and fluctuation-dependent NMR. (a) Statistical fluctuations (indicated by effective polarization in figure) may exceed the thermal or enhanced nuclear spin polarization depending on the sample size. The typical polarization levels reached by ONP (Tateishi *et al.*, 2014), DNP (Ardenkjær-Larsen *et al.*, 2003), and quantum rotor polarization (Roy *et al.*, 2015) are shown as light green, green, and dark green lines, respectively. The Boltzmann polarization (BP) of proton under 0.1 and 1 T are displayed as dark blue and blue lines, respectively. The estimated effective polarization of liquid (1 M proton concentration) and solid samples (proton density of 50 nm<sup>-3</sup>) are shown as dark red and red dashed curves, respectively, depending on the sample size *l*. (b) Polarization-dependent NMR. For ensembles with large spins (nuclear spins  $\gtrsim 10^{12}$ ), the signal *S*, which corresponds to the time-averaged nuclear induction magnetic field, is proportional to the sample polarization. Under high-temperature conditions, the sample magnetization can be calculated as  $N\gamma_n B_0/k_B T$ , where *N* is the number of spins,  $B_0$  is the external magnetic field, *T* is the temperature, and  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant. (c) For detection of small ensembles, the signal *S* is proportional to the statistical fluctuations. The effective sample magnetization is  $\propto \sqrt{N}$  if the statistical fluctuations exceed polarization. The signal is observed by the real-component readout; thus,  $S \propto Ng_s^2 t^2$ . (d) Detection of individual nuclear. The optimal strength signal *S* depends on the nuclear spin relaxation time  $T_{1,tar}$ .

potentially enhance the sensitivity. The sensitivity of the protocol depends critically on the standoff distance between the NV sensor and the target nuclear spins.

We now consider a target sample containing proton nuclei, perhaps a liquid sample with a concentration of 1 M (1 mol/l) protons or a solid sample featuring a proton density of 50 nm<sup>-3</sup>. At spatial scales of around 10–100 nm, the statistical fluctuation exceeds both the Boltzmann polarization (equivalent to 1 T at ambient temperature) and the nuclear polarization calculated through the quantum rotor method [Fig. 13(a)]. These fluctuations approach the polarization achieved by optically nuclear polarization (ONP) or dynamical nuclear polarization (DNP) methods, especially on the spatial scale of a proximately nanometers, even reaching the scale of a single molecule or single spin. The NV center presents a unique opportunity to position a single quantum

sensor in proximity to the target sample, comprising a few nuclear spins. This spatial proximity enables robust coupling between the quantum sensor and the nuclear spins of the sample. Additionally, the NV center generates a dipolar field from its electron spin, serving as a field gradient for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). With the ability to observe nuclear spin polarization or fluctuations, the SQS using NV centers proves to be ideal for conducting nanoscale and singlemolecule NMR spectroscopy.

In the context of NV-based NMR detection, a hyperfine interaction exists between the NV sensor and the nuclei. Notably the Fermi contact interaction between the NV and nuclear spins becomes negligible for distances exceeding 2 nm (Gali, Fyta, and Kaxiras, 2008; Nizovtsev *et al.*, 2018). Consequently the dynamics of the NV-nuclear-spin system are governed by the following Hamiltonian:

$$H = \underbrace{\mathcal{D}S_{z,\mathrm{NV}}^{2} + \gamma_{\mathrm{NV}}\mathbf{B}_{0}\cdot\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{NV}}}_{H_{0}} + \underbrace{\sum_{j}\frac{\mu_{0}\gamma_{\mathrm{NV}}\gamma_{n}\hbar}{4\pi} \left[ \left( -\frac{8\pi}{3}\rho_{s}(\mathbf{r}_{j}) + \frac{1}{r_{j}^{3}} \right) \mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{NV}}\cdot\mathbf{I}_{j} - \frac{3(\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{NV}}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{j})(\mathbf{I}_{n}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{j})}{r_{j}^{5}} \right]}_{H_{\mathrm{NV,nuclear}}}$$

$$\underbrace{-\gamma_{\mathrm{n}}\mathbf{B}_{0}\cdot\sum_{j}\mathbf{I}_{j} + \sum_{i< j}\frac{\mu_{0}\gamma_{n}^{2}\hbar}{4\pi r_{ij}^{3}} \left[ \mathbf{I}_{i}\cdot\mathbf{I}_{j} - \frac{3(\mathbf{I}_{i}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{ij})(\mathbf{r}_{ij}\cdot\mathbf{I}_{j})}{r_{ij}^{2}} \right]}_{H_{\mathrm{nuclear}}}, \tag{26}$$

where  $\mathbf{I}_j = (I_{x,j}, I_{y,j}, I_{z,j})$  is the spin operator for *j*th nuclear,  $\gamma_n$  is the gyromagnetic ratio of the *j*th nuclear spin,  $\mathbf{r}_j$  is the distance between the NV sensor and the *j*th nuclear spin,  $\rho_s(\mathbf{r}_j)$  is the electron wave function density of NV on the *j*th nuclear spin, and  $\mathbf{r}_{ij}$  represents the distance between the *i*th and *j*th nuclear spins. In the interaction picture of the Hamiltonian  $H_0$  and the rotating wave approximation, where the coupling between the nuclear spin and the NV center is far slower than the rotating frame frequency, the full Hamiltonian (26) can be simplified as follows:

$$H = \omega_L \sum_{j}^{N} I_j^z + S_z \sum_{j}^{N} (a_{\parallel,j} I_{z,j} + a_{\perp,j} I_{\perp,j}), \quad (27)$$

where  $\omega_L = \gamma_n B_0$  is the Larmor frequency of the nuclear spin and

$$a_{\parallel} = \frac{\mu_0 \gamma_e \gamma_n \hbar}{4\pi r^3} (3\cos^2\theta - 1) + a_{\rm iso}, \qquad (28)$$

$$a_{\perp} = \frac{\mu_0 \gamma_e \gamma_n \hbar}{4\pi r^3} 3\sin\theta\cos\theta \qquad (29)$$

are the parallel and perpendicular components of the hyperfine coupling, respectively, where  $a_{iso}$  is the isotopic component of the hyperfine interaction.

Direct measurement of the nuclear spin by an NV center poses challenges due to the energy mismatch between the resonant frequencies of the nuclear spin ( $\omega_L = \gamma_n B$ ) and the NV spin ( $\omega_e = D \pm \gamma_e B$ ). To address this, various techniques are employed to adjust these resonant frequencies. One strategy involves driving the NV center's electron spin using either chopped microwave pulses (DD; see Sec. II.B.1) or continuous microwaves [Hartmann and Hahn (HH); see Sec. II.B.3]. Coherence transfer between the electron spin and the nuclear spin occurs when the driven frequency of the electron spin aligns with the nuclear Larmor frequency. The alternative technique ENDOR synchronously flips the nuclear spin with the electric spin of the NV center; see Sec. II.B.2. In addition to one-dimensional NMR, two-dimensional NMR is also employed to identify correlations between nuclei of different species exhibiting different frequencies in conjunction with the NV center; see Sec. II.B.4.

### 1. Dynamical decoupling

DD sequences offer a combination of quantum sensing with the safeguarding of NV quantum states against environmental decoherence. By aligning the control frequency of flipping the NV electron spin with that of the nuclear spin, coherence transfer becomes achievable.

To begin, the NV sensor is initialized into the  $|0\rangle$  state, followed by a  $\pi/2$  pulse along the y axis, transforming the sensor into the superposition state  $|+\rangle$ , which is in line with the quantum sensing protocol described in Sec. I.C.2. Subsequently a sequence of resonant  $\pi$  microwave pulses is applied to the NV sensor, utilizing a fundamental unit such as  $\tau/2 - \pi - \tau - \pi - \tau/2$  (see Table III for different DD sequences), as depicted in Fig. 14(a). Here  $\tau$  represents the free evolution time.

The collective evolution of the NV-nuclear spin system results in a rotation of the nuclear spin by an angle  $\phi$  around an



FIG. 14. NV-based DD sensing protocol. (a) DD sequence. The pulse sequence involves two green laser pulses that perform the initialization and readout of the NV spin state (green blocks) and resonant microwave pulses (gray blocks) that start and end with  $\pi/2$  pulses. In between, periodic  $\pi$  pulses (gray blocks) are introduced with elements that repeat as  $\tau/2 - \pi - \tau - \pi - \tau/2$ . (b) Schematic for the single-molecule NMR with an NV sensor. The single proteins covalently bond on the diamond surface. (c) <sup>2</sup>H NMR spectrum of an isotopically enriched ubiquitin protein (<sup>2</sup>H at > 98% abundance) at an external magnetic field of 247.3 mT using the XY8-507 sequence and Gaussian fit (solid black line). (b),(c) Adapted from Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2016.

axis  $\mathbf{h}_{m_s}$  (detailed in Appendix A.1), contingent upon the initial NV spin state  $m_s$  (Kolkowitz *et al.*, 2012; Taminiau *et al.*, 2012; Zhao, Ho, and Liu, 2012; Zhao *et al.*, 2012). This rotation occurs when the free evolution time satisfies the resonant condition

$$\tau = \frac{\pi}{\omega_L + a_{\parallel}/2},\tag{30}$$

the two axes  $\mathbf{h}_0$  and  $\mathbf{h}_1$  align in antiparallel directions (see Appendix A.1 for a description of  $\mathbf{h}_{m_s}$ ), and the rotation angle is

$$\phi \approx \frac{a_{\perp}}{\pi} N \tau, \tag{31}$$

with a high-field condition  $\omega_L \gg a_{\parallel}, a_{\perp}$ .

Both statistical fluctuation and spin polarization can be measured using the DD method. In particular, the statistical fluctuation can be measured using the real-component readout protocol [Eq. (7)], and the spin polarization can be measured using the imaginary-component readout protocol [Eq. (8)]. The relative microwave phase  $\vartheta$  between the first and second  $\pi/2$  pulses determines the specific protocols used (Fig. 6). When the relative phase  $\vartheta = 0$ , the final population, dependent on the statistical fluctuation of target spins, is observed using the real-component readout [Eq. (7)]. Under the small-signal approximation, the result is calculated as (Appendix A.1)

$$p_{\text{real}} \approx 1 - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left( \frac{a_{\perp,i} N \tau}{\pi} \right)^2, \tag{32}$$

which is independent of the polarization of nuclear spins. When the relative phase  $\vartheta = \pi/2$ , the final population, which is dependent on the polarization of target spins, is observed using the imaginary-component readout. The result is calculated as

$$p_{\rm img} \approx \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} P_{n,i} \frac{a_{\perp,i} N \tau}{\pi}, \qquad (33)$$

where  $P_{n,i}$  is the polarization of the *i*th nuclear spin.

Here we consider the practical applications of using a nearsurface NV sensor to probe nuclear spins in a sample. Suppose that nuclear spins are evenly distributed in the sample with the density  $\rho_n$  and placed upon the diamond surface, while the NV sensor resides at a distance *d* from the surface that is perpendicular to the [100] crystal axis. Under this circumstance, the fluctuation signal  $S_{\text{fluc}}$  for sensing statistically fluctuating nuclear spins can be calculated as

$$S_{\rm fluc} \approx \frac{5\pi\rho_n}{96d^3} \left(\frac{\mu_0 \hbar \gamma_n \gamma_e}{4\pi^2} N\tau\right)^2.$$
(34)

If the nuclear spin is uniformly polarized with the polarization P, the polarization signal  $S_{pola}$  can be acquired as

$$S_{\text{pola}} \approx P \frac{\sqrt{2\pi\rho_n} \mu_0 \hbar \gamma_n \gamma_e}{3} N \tau.$$
(35)

The relatively weak coupling between the nuclear spin and the NV sensor, owing to the former's lower gyromagnetic ratio, demands heightened sensitivity. In addition to minimizing the sample-sensor distance by covalently bonding them [Fig. 14(b)], further enhancements in the readout fidelity and the decoherence time of NV centers near the surface are imperative. To achieve this, an auxiliary nuclear spin is employed to store sensing results in the NV spin state, enabling repetitive readouts without state resetting through optical pumping (Jiang et al., 2009; Neumann, Beck et al., 2010). Notably this approach enhances readout fidelity by nearly tenfold [Fig. 22(b)]. However, repetitive readout reaches saturation when the readout time aligns with the sensing time, emphasizing the criticality of enhancing the decoherence time to augment sensitivity. Strategies involving wet oxidative chemistry combined with annealing at 465 °C (Table II) in a dry oxygen environment have been utilized to boost the coherence times of NV centers near the surface by more than an order of magnitude (Lovchinsky et al., 2016). This comprehensive enhancement in spin number sensitivity exceeds 500 times, rendering the sensitivity adequate to potentially detect a single proton within a second. Nonetheless, the direct detection of a single proton has not yet been experimentally realized. An illustrative spectrum, as

shown in Fig. 14(c), serves as an example of the achieved results. See Sec. III.C.3 for a discussion of the readout techniques and Sec. III.D, and see Table II for an examination of decoherence time reduction.

#### 2. Electron-nuclear double resonance

The widely adopted technique ENDOR plays a pivotal role in dissecting interactions within EPR spectra. Its traditional application lies in unraveling the molecular and electron structures of paramagnetic species (Schweiger and Jeschke, 2001). Detection of the nuclear spin by the electron spin involves a specific sequence, as depicted in Fig. 15. To begin, the electron spin is initialized to the  $|0\rangle$  state and then flipped to a  $|+\rangle$  superposition state via a  $\pi/2$  microwave pulse. Following this, microwave and radio-frequency  $\pi$  pulses simultaneously flip both the electron and nuclear spin states. This meticulously designed process nullifies environmental noise on the NV spin while conserving the coupling between the NV spin and the nuclear spin. Subsequently the accumulated signal is detected via the second  $\pi/2$  pulse; see Eqs. (7) and (8). With the relative phase  $\vartheta = 0$ , the fluctuation signal by real-component readout is accordingly expressed as (Appendix A.1)

$$p_{\text{real}} \approx 1 - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left( \frac{a_{\parallel,i} N \tau}{2} \right)^2,$$
 (36)

which is independent of the polarization of the nuclear spins. With the relative phase  $\vartheta = \pi/2$ , the polarization signal by imaginary readout is expressed as

$$p_{\rm img} \approx \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} P_{n,i} \left( \frac{a_{\parallel,i} N \tau}{2} \right), \tag{37}$$

where  $P_{n,i}$  is the polarization of the *i*th nuclear spin. The ENDOR method is limited by the pulse length and the operation fidelity of the rf pulse. Thus, applying ENDOR sequences with multiple  $\pi$  pulses is a challenging task. In practice, the NV center used in the ENDOR method typically requires a coherence time greater than approximately 100 µs (Mamin *et al.*, 2013; Aslam *et al.*, 2017).

We consider the same sensing scenario as with DD, but the diamond surface is perpendicular to the [111] crystal axis.



FIG. 15. ENODR sequence. The sequence is based on the Hahnecho sequence of the NV center spin. At the midpoint of the sequence, a resonant  $\pi$  pulse is applied to both the nuclear and electron spins.

$$S_{\rm fluc} \approx \frac{\pi \rho_n}{16d^3} \left( \frac{\mu_0 \hbar \gamma_n \gamma_e}{8\pi} N \tau \right)^2 \tag{38}$$

and

$$S_{\text{pola}} \approx P \frac{2\pi\rho_{\text{n}}}{3} \left( \frac{\mu_0 \hbar \gamma_n \gamma_e}{8\pi} N \tau \right).$$
 (39)

#### 3. Hartmann-Hahn double resonance

The HH method is also applicable to nuclear spin sensing (Facchi, Lidar, and Pascazio, 2004; Fanchini, Hornos, and Napolitano, 2007; Cai, Jelezko et al., 2013). In this method, a continuous, resonant microwave field drives the NV sensor. Continuous driving isolates the NV sensor from its environment, making it insensitive to surrounding spins. However, specific frequency components can be selected in NMR via the HH resonant condition (Hartmann and Hahn, 1962; Cai, Jelezko et al., 2013; London et al., 2013). Moreover, this technique enables the use of alternating spin-lock sequences to directly polarize the target nuclei. For NV-based nuclear magnetic sensing, HHDR occurs when the NV electron spin is driven at a Rabi frequency  $\Omega_e$  that aligns with the Larmor frequency  $\omega_L$  of the nuclear spin [Fig. 16(a)]. Under resonant microwave driving, the entire system transitions from the bare basis to the dressed state basis, with the energy-level splitting  $\Omega_e$  equating with the nuclear spin Larmor frequency  $\omega_L$ [Fig. 16(a)]. The energies of the  $|+,\downarrow\rangle$  state and the  $|-,\uparrow\rangle$ state become equal and coupled, coherently evolving together. The remaining states  $|+,\uparrow\rangle$  and  $|-,\downarrow\rangle$  are decoupled from the joint dynamics [Fig. 16(b)]. The probability of finding the dressed NV spin state initially set to the state  $|+\rangle$  in the opposite state  $|-\rangle$  after time  $t_s$  is

$$p(\tau) = \sin^2 \left( \frac{|\mathbf{a}_{\rm hyp}| t_s}{8} \sin \theta \right),\tag{40}$$

which is dependent on the coupling strength  $\mathbf{a}_{hyp} = (a_{xz}, a_{yz}, a_{zz})$  and  $\theta$ , the angle between the external magnetic field  $B_0$  and  $\mathbf{a}_{hyp}$ . The NV spin is reset to  $|+\rangle$  at the beginning of every experiment following the initialization laser and the first  $\pi/2$  pulse [Fig. 16(b)], thereby resulting in  $|+,\uparrow\rangle$  as the trapped state. After several iterations of the experiment, the nuclear spin polarizes to the  $|\uparrow\rangle$  state. To prevent polarization, the sensing sequence alternates between resetting the NV spin state to  $|+\rangle$  and  $|-\rangle$  [Fig. 16(c)]. A spectrum example is shown in Fig. 16(d), in which the NV spin driven frequency  $\Omega_e$  is swept. Both the isolating nuclear spin and the nuclear spin bath are observed. There is a high demand for stable microwave power due to the dependence of the spectrum on  $\Omega_e$  (London *et al.*, 2013).

Apart from its application in nuclear spin sensing, HHDR has found use in polarizing external nuclear spins (Fernández-Acebal *et al.*, 2018; Shagieva *et al.*, 2018). The NV center can achieve up to 95% polarization (van der Sar *et al.*, 2012) via a square laser pulse and up to 97.7% using a chopped laser pulse



FIG. 16. Detection and polarization of nuclear spins using HH. (a) Energy-level configuration involving the NV center electron spin and a single spin-1/2 nuclear spin. The hyperfine coupling between the electron spin and the nuclear spin is suppressed due to the energy mismatch between the electron spin ( $\omega_e$ , in blue) and the nuclear spin ( $\omega_L$ , in red). When the electron spin driving frequency  $\Omega_e$  aligns with the nuclear spin frequency  $\omega_L$ , the energy-level diagram is described using dressed states  $|\pm\rangle$ (shown on the right. This removal of the energy mismatch allows the flip-flop transition between  $|+,\downarrow\rangle$  and  $|-,\uparrow\rangle$ . (b) Demonstration of the HH sequence. A 532-nm laser polarizes the NV electron spin (in green), with a microwave application in between where the x pulse is denoted in blue and the y pulse is shown in pink. (c) Illustration of the alternating HH sequence designed to avoid polarization of nuclear spins. (d) Experimentally observed population of the  $|0\rangle$  state concerning the electron spin driving frequency  $\Omega$  and sensing time  $\tau$ . Both the isolating nuclear spin and the nuclear spin bath are observed and are labeled with dashed lines. Adapted from London et al., 2013.

sequence at ambient temperature (Xie et al., 2021). This polarization process occurs within microseconds when an ~0.1 mW focused 532-nm laser beam (~10 kW/cm<sup>2</sup>) is used, while the NV center's repolarization time can extend to the millisecond timescale. When the HH resonance method is leveraged, the NV center becomes a promising candidate for DNP. While demonstrations have primarily focused on individual NV centers, hyperpolarization of micron-scale samples based on NV ensembles has also been successfully achieved (Healey et al., 2021), with a best polarization transfer rate of  $\approx 7500$  spins/s per NV center. Anisotropic interactions between the NV electron spin and the target nuclear spins are typically averaged out due to molecular motion in the fluids and short correlation times. Consequently the cross-relaxation method is commonly employed in DNP for liquid samples. However, methods for the solid-state counterpart prove to be less efficient (van Bentum et al., 2016; Wiśniewski et al., 2016). Polarizing highly diffusive liquids such as water poses challenges due to the limitations in effective dipolar coupling strength, with most current experiments relying on viscous liquids such as oil.

### 4. Two-dimensional NMR

Molecular structure analysis is a cornerstone of biology, chemistry, and medicine. Two-dimensional NMR is essential in molecular determination. The one-dimensional nanoscale and single-molecule NMR have been previously implemented, as mentioned. Although nanoscale one-dimensional NMR and observations of the interaction within a pair of nuclear spins in diamond have been performed using DD methods (Shi *et al.*, 2014; Yang *et al.*, 2018), two-dimensional NMR techniques are still necessary to resolve complex molecular structure information since it can provide a clear and comprehensive picture of intramolecular interactions [Figs. 17(a) and 17(b)]. Multidimensional NMR techniques reveal more spectral information, while measuring times of two-dimensional NMR increase quadratically with experimental sampling numbers.

Two-dimensional nanoscale NMR spectroscopy based on the NV center has been developed and experimentally demonstrated using coupled <sup>13</sup>C nuclei in diamond (Kong, Zhou *et al.*, 2020; Yang *et al.*, 2020). The sequence closely resembles the correlated spectroscopy (COSY) sequence in conventional NMR methods, as depicted in Fig. 18(a). The first DD sequence initializes the nuclear spins and is followed by a free evolution period  $t_1$ . Subsequently another DD sequence, equivalent to a  $\pi/2$  pulse on the nuclear spins, is executed. After another free evolution period  $t_2$ , the final



FIG. 17. Resolved interaction between nuclear spin pairs. (a) Depiction of the DD pulse sequence designed for detecting  ${}^{13}C{}^{-13}C$  nuclear spin pairs. (b) Dip features in the coherence of the NV sensor under DD control with varying numbers of  $\pi$  pulses. Notably as the number of  $\pi$  pulses (*N*) increases from 2 (top curve) to 18 (bottom curve), the dips induced by a pair of nuclear spins emerge and become increasingly prominent. (c) Configurations employed for detecting  ${}^{13}C{}^{-13}C$  pairs using the NV center. Adapted from Shi *et al.*, 2014.



FIG. 18. Two-dimensional NMR. (a) Experimental pulse sequence of two-dimensional NMR along with the structural analysis of the coupled nuclear spin system. This sequence represents an experimental implementation of nanoscale homonuclear correlation spectroscopy two-dimensional NMR on the NV center. (b) Interrogation times  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  swept from 4 µs to 0.9 ms with 50 samplings. The time-domain spectroscopy is transformed into frequency-domain spectroscopy in (c) through a two-dimensional FFT transformation. (c) Two-dimensional NMR spectrum revealing cross peaks between the third and fourth peaks in the one-dimensional spectrum (upper inset), indicating that they belong to a coupled spin system. (a)-(c) Adapted from Yang et al., 2020. (d) MRI of nuclear spins, with the threedimensional structure resolved by detecting the distance between each nuclear spin, depending on the dipolar coupling strength. (e) Depiction of the three-dimensional structure of the nuclear spins within the diamond using the diamond-lattice method. The blue lines indicate couplings greater than 3 Hz, thereby illustrating the connectivity of the cluster. (d),(e) Adapted from Abobeih et al., 2019.

dynamic decoupling sequence transfers the nuclear correlation information onto the NV center. By sweeping the durations  $t_1$ and  $t_2$ , one generates a correlation map [Fig. 18(b)] and a twodimensional FFT spectrum [Fig. 18(c)]. The presence of cross peaks signifies a coupled nuclear system, allowing for further analysis to determine the precise positions of the nuclear spins and the distances between them. In a different study (Abobeih *et al.*, 2019), a much larger cluster comprising 27 coupled <sup>13</sup>C nuclear spins in diamond was detected. Abobeih *et al.* (2019) involved a multidimensional spectroscopy method that isolated individual nuclear-nuclear spin interactions with high spectral resolution (< 80 mHz) and high accuracy (2 mHz). These interactions encode the composition and interconnectivity of the cluster, enabling the extraction of the threedimensional structure of the nuclear spin cluster with subangstrom resolution. Moreover, a micron-scale twodimensional NMR experiment has also demonstrated its capacity for structural analysis with chemical resolution (Smits *et al.*, 2019).

### **III. DETECTION SENSITIVITY**

#### A. Introduction

The pursuit of single-molecule sciences demands a balance between high sensitivity and spatial resolution, a challenge underscored by the energy resolution limit ( $E_R = \hbar$ ) (Mitchell and Palacios Alvarez, 2020). Achieving single-molecule spatial resolution with NV centers necessitates a closer sample-probe distance that is within approximately several nanometers. However, this proximity amplifies noise from the diamond surface, thus substantially reducing the coherence times of NV centers. Addressing this predicament remains pivotal in advancing NV-based single-molecule technologies, an ongoing investigation that will require further dedicated efforts.

In this section, we characterize the sensitivities of NV sensors (magnetic field sensitivity and spin number sensitivity) while dissecting the pivotal factors involved, such as readout noise and decoherence. These elements are subjected to meticulous analysis, and Secs. III.C-III.E synthesize approaches to enhance them. Section III.C scrutinizes NV center readout noise and its mitigation strategies. This includes the leveraging of photonic structures to augment collection efficiency, the employment of resonant readout at cryogenic temperatures, the employment of ancilla-assisted repetitive readout, and the utilization of spin-to-charge conversion and photoelectric readout techniques. Section III.D explores the mechanisms behind the decoherence of nearsurface NV centers and proposes corresponding methods to extend coherence times. Finally, Sec. III.E introduces sensing protocols designed to amplify nuclear spin signals, an essential strategy for surmounting the challenge posed by the low gyromagnetic ratio of nuclear spins.

#### B. Magnetic field sensitivity and spin number sensitivity

As discussed in Sec. I.C.2, a small magnetic field *B* can be detected by causing the spin coherence of the NV center to rotate or shorten during a sensing sequence. For sensing a fluctuated field with the variance  $(\delta B)^2$  the coherence is shortened, and the sensitivity  $\eta_{\text{fluc}}$  is determined by reading its real component

$$\eta_{\rm fluc} \approx \frac{\sigma_S}{|\partial S/\partial (\delta B)^2|} \sqrt{T_{\rm exp}}.$$
 (41)

For sensing a polarized field with the mean  $\overline{B}$ , the coherence is rotated and the sensitivity  $\eta_{\text{pola}}$  is given by the imaginarycomponent readout

$$\eta_{\text{pola}} \approx \frac{\sigma_S}{|\partial S/\partial \bar{B}|} \sqrt{T_{\text{exp}}},$$
(42)

where  $\sigma_S$  is the readout noise (see Sec. III.C), and the time for a single experimental cycle  $T_{exp}$  is the sum of the time for phase accumulation  $T_{accu}$ , state initialization  $T_{ini}$ , and readout  $T_{read}$ . In Eqs. (41) and (42)  $\partial S/\partial \bar{B}$  and  $\partial S/\partial (\delta B)^2$  are the slopes of the signal versus the mean  $\bar{B}$  and the variance  $(\delta B)^2$ , respectively, which result in the dimensions T Hz<sup>-1/2</sup> and T<sup>2</sup> Hz<sup>-1/2</sup> (Hz<sup>-1/2</sup> denotes 1-s integration) for these two kinds of magnetic field sensing.

By comprehensively considering multiple experimental limitations, including spin decoherence, initialization and readout errors, and the duty cycle, the sensitivities  $\eta_{\text{fluc}}$  and  $\eta_{\text{pola}}$  for an individual NV center can be accurately formulated as

$$\eta_{\rm fluc} \approx \frac{2}{\gamma_{\rm NV}^2 \sqrt{T_{\rm accu}^3}} \frac{1}{\xi_{T_{\rm accu}} F_{\rm read} F_{\rm ini}} \sqrt{1 + \frac{T_{\rm ir}}{T_{\rm accu}}} \qquad (43)$$

and

$$\eta_{\text{pola}} \approx \frac{1}{\gamma_{\text{NV}} \sqrt{T_{\text{accu}}}} \frac{1}{\xi_{T_{\text{accu}}} F_{\text{read}} F_{\text{ini}}} \sqrt{1 + \frac{T_{\text{ir}}}{T_{\text{accu}}}}, \quad (44)$$

where  $\xi_{T_{accu}}$  is the remaining spin coherence at  $T_{accu}$ . The initialization and the readout are both imperfect, with  $F_{ini}$  and  $F_{read}$  denoting their respective fidelities, and occupy considerable time  $T_{ir} = T_{ini} + T_{read}$ , leading to a reduced duty cycle.

Here we consider the practical parameters utilized in the experiment to estimate the approximate sensitivity. The magnetic sensitivity hinges significantly on two critical factors: readout fidelity and coherence time, which are addressed in Secs. III.C and III.D, respectively.

Regarding the optical readout of the NV spin state, the readout fidelity  $F_r$  remains relatively low, approximately 4%, owing to typical fluorescence collection efficiencies (detailed in Sec. III.C.1). During the initialization of the NV center through 532-nm laser illumination, the readout fidelity exists in two charge states. Around 70% constitutes the useful NV<sup>-</sup> state, while the rest remains as the less useful NV<sup>0</sup> state (Xie *et al.*, 2021). In instances of shallower NV centers, this percentage of the NV<sup>-</sup> state further decreases (Bluvstein, Zhang, and Jayich, 2019).

For near-surface NV centers exposed to the noise emanating from the diamond surface, the coherence time undergoes a dramatic reduction, plummeting to tens of microseconds (Ofori-Okai *et al.*, 2012), a stark contrast to several milliseconds for NV centers nestled deep within bulk diamond material (Herbschleb *et al.*, 2019). Substituting these aforementioned values into Eqs. (43) and (44) gives the sensitivities  $\eta_{\text{pola}} \approx 0.1 \ \mu\text{T} \text{Hz}^{-1/2}$  and  $\eta_{\text{fluc}} \approx (0.2 \ \mu\text{T})^2 \ \text{Hz}^{-1/2}$ .

When it comes to magnetic sensing at the single-molecule scale, the magnetic field under detection emanates from the target spins. As such, the primary emphasis lies in detecting the minimum number of spins integrated over 1 s, which is known as the spin number sensitivity. We now consider the scenario where the target spins are positioned at a distance d

from a [100]-oriented NV center, leading to the sensitivities  $\eta_{\rm fluc}^{\rm spin}$  and  $\eta_{\rm pola}^{\rm spin}$ , which are given by

$$\eta_{\rm fluc}^{\rm spin} \approx \left(\frac{4\pi^2}{\mu_0 \hbar \gamma_{\rm NV} \gamma_{\rm tar}}\right)^2 \frac{d^6}{\sqrt{T_{\rm accu}^3}} \frac{1}{\xi_{T_{\rm accu}} F_{\rm read} F_{\rm ini}} \sqrt{1 + \frac{T_{\rm ir}}{T_{\rm accu}}}$$
(45)

for sensing statistically fluctuating spins and

$$\eta_{\text{pola}}^{\text{spin}} \approx \frac{2\sqrt{2}\pi^2}{\mu_0 \hbar \gamma_{\text{NV}} \gamma_{\text{tar}}} \frac{d^3}{\sqrt{T_{\text{accu}}}} \frac{1}{P\xi_{T_{\text{accu}}} F_{\text{read}} F_{\text{ini}}} \sqrt{1 + \frac{T_{\text{ir}}}{T_{\text{accu}}}}$$
(46)

for sensing polarized spins with the spin polarization P, where  $\hbar$  is the reduced Plank constant,  $\mu_0$  is the vacuum permeability, and  $\gamma_{tar}$  is the gyromagnetic ratio of the target spins. Equations (45) and (46) suggest that the target-sensor distance d and the gyromagnetic ratio of the target spins  $\gamma_{tar}$  are crucial determinants of the spin number sensitivity, along with the factors denoted in Eqs. (43) and (44). Given that the gyromagnetic ratio of the electron spin is approximately 3 orders of magnitude larger than that of nuclear spins, detecting an individual electron spin outside the diamond is relatively straightforward. Utilizing extremely shallow NV centers (< 5 nm) boasting submillisecond spin coherence already provides sufficient sensitivity to detect a single nuclear spin (Müller et al., 2014; Lovchinsky et al., 2016), although it falls short of resolving a single nuclear spin. Furthermore, single nuclear spins can also be detected by leveraging an electron spin as a reporter; see Sec. III.E.

### C. Readout noise

The green laser (typically 532 nm) excites the NV electronic state incoherently via a strong phonon sideband and emits PL in its 600-800-nm phonon sideband [Fig. 19(a)] at a rate of  $\gamma \approx 70 \ \mu s^{-1}$  (Fuchs *et al.*, 2010; Robledo, Bernien *et al.*, 2011; Gupta, Hacquebard, and Childress, 2016). Unlike the resonant excitation for narrow-linewidth atoms (Itano et al., 1993) or color centers under cryogenic temperatures (Togan et al., 2010, 2011), the spin-dependent fluorescence detection for the NV center under ambient temperature arises through the nonradiative ISC transitions (Goldman, Doherty et al., 2015; Goldman, Sipahigil et al., 2015; Thiering and Gali, 2018) from the spin-triplet excited states to the spin-singlet states (Rogers et al., 2008), which occurs preferentially for the  $m_s = \pm 1$  spin states [Fig. 3(c)]. The spin-singlet ground state is long lived (~200 ns) (Acosta, Jarmola et al., 2010; Robledo, Bernien et al., 2011; Gupta, Hacquebard, and Childress, 2016) and causes the spin state  $m_s = \pm 1$  to exhibit a reduced fluorescence intensity, as visualized in Fig. 4(a). The imperfect spin-state selectivity of the ISC process limits the spin polarization of the NV center with ~90% in the  $m_s = 0$  of the ground state (Robledo, Bernien *et al.*, 2011; Doherty et al., 2013; Rong et al., 2015) after optical illumination via a laser pulse. However, chopped laser sequences have shown experimental improvement in polarization to 97.7% (Xie et al., 2021).



FIG. 19. Level diagrams and PL of the NV center. (a) PL spectrum of the NV center, where the laser wavelength for spin initialization is typically 532 nm. The peak at 575 nm (638 nm) corresponds to the ZPL of the NV<sup>0</sup> (NV<sup>-</sup>) charge state. The range 630–800 nm corresponds to the phonon sideband of the NV<sup>-</sup> charge state. (b) The NV<sup>-</sup> spin states exhibit spin-dependent fluorescence wherein NV<sup>-</sup> spins prepared in the  $m_s = 0$  state emit a higher rate of photons than those prepared in the  $m_s = \pm 1$  state.

The spin-dependent PL contrast holds critical significance for nonresonant readout procedures. However, the contrast between  $m_s = 0$  and  $m_s = \pm 1$  dissipates within approximately 300 ns (referred to as the readout window) and is constrained by the lifetime of the spin-singlet ground state [Fig. 19(b)]. Consequently the available fluorescence photons, denoted as  $n_1$  for the initial state of  $m_s = \pm 1$ , is relatively scarce compared to the initial state of  $m_s = 0$ , which is represented as  $n_0$  (Sec. III.C.1). In situations where the overall fluorescence collection efficiency is low, this scarcity permits only a probabilistic determination of the NV<sup>-</sup> spin states. Evaluating the overall readout efficiency involves a comparison between the phase uncertainties obtained from imperfect readouts and those from ideal projective measurements for the imaginary-component readout (Degen, Reinhard, and Cappellaro, 2017) resulting in the ratio of these two uncertainties as

$$F_{\text{read}} = \left(1 + \frac{2(n_0 + n_1)}{(n_0 - n_1)^2}\right)^{-1/2} = \left(1 + \frac{1}{n_{\text{avg}}C^2}\right)^{-1/2}.$$
 (47)

The parameter  $n_{\text{avg}}$  represents the average value of  $(n_0 + n_1)/2$ , while  $C = (n_0 - n_1)/(n_0 + n_1)$  stands for the PL contrast. This PL contrast precisely mirrors the readout

fidelity utilized in Eqs. (43) and (44) (noting that it differs from the readout fidelity used in projective measurements). The value of  $F_{\text{read}}$  must exist in the range of 0 to 1, where  $F_{\text{read}} = 1$  signifies the ideal projective measurements. Expressing the real-component readout involves complexity, particularly when one considers decoherence. However, it closely aligns with the value derived from Eq. (47) (usually within a 10% deviation), thereby allowing the utilization of Eq. (47) in Eqs. (43) and (45) (Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2016). Further details regarding the derivation of Eq. (47) are presented in Appendix A.2.

### 1. Photoluminescence enhancement

Enhancing PL evidently becomes crucial, as highlighted in Eq. (47), in order to augment the readout fidelity and sensitivity. However, the high refractive index of the diamond host ( $n \approx 2.4$ ) results in significant limitations due to total internal reflection at the diamond surface, severely constraining the collection efficiency of the emitted fluorescence photons from the NV center. For a single NV center in a diamond slab observed through a confocal microscope using laser power below the PL-saturation level for magnetometry, the typical count rate averages around 200 kcounts/s (Neumann, Beck *et al.*, 2010; Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2016). This translates to an average photon number of  $n_{avg} \approx 0.05$  per single experiment. With an NV center exhibiting a PL contrast of  $C \approx 0.18$  (implying that  $n_1 \approx 0.7n_0$ ), the resulting readout fidelity stands at approximately 4%.

The process of fabricating photonic structures on diamonds represents a significant advancement in enhancing collection efficiency. Diamond, as it is harder than other commonly used optical materials like Si, Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>, SiC, and  $\alpha$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (Rath *et al.*, 2015), poses challenges in fabrication. However, recent progress in nanolithography has led to several top-down fabrication techniques that offer viable solutions. One such structure, the solid immersion lens (SIL), which is created via focused ion beams, forms a roughly 10-µm hemisphere housing an NV center at its center [Fig. 20(a)]. Fluorescence photons emitted perpendicularly to the SIL surface mitigate losses from total internal reflection (Hadden et al., 2010; Siyushev et al., 2010; Marseglia et al., 2011). The utilization of SIL structures has shown saturation count rates reaching about 1.2 Mcounts/s (Robledo, Childress et al., 2011). Furthermore, additional enhancements in fluorescence can be achieved through antireflective coatings (Yeung et al., 2012).

The diamond nanopillar, which possesses a diameter of approximately 100 nm and a length of several micrometers, is crafted through nanolithography techniques like electron beam lithography (EBL) and reactive ion etching (RIE). Functioning as an optical waveguide, it houses an embedded NV center [Fig. 20(b)]. These nanopillars offer improved convenience for utilization as scanning probes (Maletinsky *et al.*, 2012). Leveraging self-aligned patterning techniques, the NV center can be precisely positioned at the nanopillar's top center, achieving a count rate of approximately 4 Mcounts/s (M. Wang *et al.*, 2022). Furthermore, variations in nanopillar design have been explored, including inverted nanocones reaching about 3 Mcounts/s (Jeon *et al.*, 2020), parabolic profiles attaining approximately 4 Mcounts/s (Wan *et al.*,



FIG. 20. Photonic structures designed to enhance fluorescence collection efficiency. (a) SIL, a half-ball structure created on the diamond with the NV center situated at its center. (b) Array of diamond nanopillars utilized as photonic waveguides guiding fluorescence photons from top to bottom. (c) Immersion metalens structures fabricated on the diamond surface to collimate fluorescence emitted by the NV center. Adapted from Huang *et al.*, 2019. (d) Photonic crystal cavity produced on a thin diamond membrane. Adapted from Riedrich-Möller *et al.*, 2015.

2018), and truncated parabolic profiles yielding around 2 Mcounts/s (Hedrich *et al.*, 2020).

Additionally, metalenses crafted with a Fresnel lens phase profile, formed by etched nanopillars on the diamond surface, have been instrumental in imaging NV centers (Huang *et al.*, 2019). Unlike the SIL structures, the metalens design focuses the emitted light [Fig. 20(c)], negating the requirement for a free-space objective. This represents a promising approach to directly couple NV centers with optical fibers. Furthermore, coupling to an optical cavity shortens the lifetime of NV excited states, thereby markedly enhancing the count rate. In Fig. 20(d), the photonic crystal cavity, developed from an ultrapure and single-crystal diamond membrane, links the implanted NV centers' broadband fluorescence to a cavity mode, showcasing Purcell enhancement of spontaneous emission (Riedrich-Möller *et al.*, 2015).

### 2. Resonant readout

The excited state of the NV triplet consists of six sublevels  $\{A_1, A_2, E_x, E_y, E_1, E_2\}$  (Togan *et al.*, 2010; Maze *et al.*, 2011), as displayed in Fig. 21(a). The spin-orbit interaction splits the states into three branches  $\{A_1, A_2\}$ ,  $\{E_x, E_y\}$ , and  $\{E_1, E_2\}$ . The spin-spin interaction shifts states with different spin projections and splits the  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  states, and the strain and electric fields additionally split the remaining two branches, namely,  $\{E_x, E_y\}$  and  $\{E_1, E_2\}$  (Tamarat *et al.*, 2008; Batalov *et al.*, 2009; Maze *et al.*, 2011). However, at ambient temperatures the stochastic phonon-mediated transitions average the orbital states, resulting in a simplified excited-state level structure (Fu *et al.*, 2009). At low temperatures, the narrow linewidths of the excited states [shown in



FIG. 21. Resonant detection protocol. (a) Level structure of the NV center under cryogenic temperatures. The red arrow represents the resonant readout, and the dark red arrow indicates the population pumping. (b) Energy levels used to prepare and measure the NV electron spin state. The transitions are labeled according to the symmetry of the excited states. Dashed lines indicate spin-nonconserving decay paths. (c) PL excitation spectrum of the NV center (the wavelength is given relative to 637.2 nm).

Fig. 21(b)] allow for resonant excitation of the spin-selective optical transitions, thus enabling coherent coupling between the NV spin and the photon (Buckley et al., 2010; Togan et al., 2010) and all-optical coherent control (Yale et al., 2013; Bassett *et al.*, 2014). Under the  $A_1$  transition [Fig. 21(a)], the spin state of the NV center can be initialized to  $|0\rangle$  with a high fidelity of  $99.7 \pm 0.1\%$  (Robledo, Childress *et al.*, 2011). Under the  $E_x$  transition, the dark states  $|\pm 1\rangle$  emit minimal fluorescence photons, leading to a PL contrast  $C \approx 1$  for the readout fidelity in Eq. (47). Additionally, the  $E_x$  transition in low-strain NV centers preserves spin and constitutes a cycle transition for continuous fluorescence photon emission (Robledo, Childress et al., 2011), as pioneered in the field of cold atoms (Happer, 1972; Zoller, Marte, and Walls, 1987; Olmschenk et al., 2007). However, the cycle transition in NV centers is not as ideal as in cold atoms, due to spin mixing and phonon-induced transitions within the excited states. These limitations constrain the spin relaxation time to approximately 10  $\mu$ s and restrict the number of collected photons to ~10 (Robledo, Childress et al., 2011; Bernien et al., 2013; Hensen et al., 2015; Humphreys et al., 2018). The highest achieved readout fidelity is approximately 97.7% (Humphreys et al., 2018).

### 3. Ancilla-assisted readout

At ambient temperature, the average number  $n_{avg}$  of collected photons of a single NV per single measurement is



FIG. 22. (a) An example of a photon number histogram of projective measurement for an adjacent nuclear spin with the fidelity  $\sim$ 0.99. Adapted from Xie *et al.*, 2021. (b) Fidelity improves with the number of repetitive readout [the last element in (c)]. (c) Complete ancilla-assisted sensing protocol for detecting a small magnetic field with subnanotesla sensitivity. It consists of four parts: NV<sup>-</sup> charge and spin-state initialization by real-time feedback, phase accumulation by dynamical decoupling sequences, SWAP gates, and repetitive readout. Adapted from Zhao *et al.*, 2023.

0.01–0.1, depending on the collection efficiency. As expressed in Eq. (47), the photon shot noise will dominate in the overall readout noise when  $n_{\rm avg} \ll 1$ . This noise emerges as a significant obstacle for achieving high-fidelity readout at ambient temperature. An alternative method to increase the readout fidelity involves utilizing an adjacent nuclear spin whose spin state is long lived during laser illumination. The readout process is implemented by transferring the NV spin state to the nuclear spin through a SWAP gate, followed by thousands of readouts of the nuclear spin [the last two parts in Fig. 22(c)]. The readout fidelity is enhanced by the repetitive readout procedure, as shown in Fig. 22(b). The method was first demonstrated with a neighboring <sup>13</sup>C nuclear spin as the ancilla (Jiang et al., 2009). The projective measurement (fidelity > 0.707) of the nuclear spin was later achieved with <sup>14</sup>N nuclear spin (Neumann, Beck et al., 2010; Xie et al., 2021) and <sup>13</sup>C nuclear spin (Maurer et al., 2012; Dréau et al., 2013; Unden et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2017; Xie et al., 2021) at ambient temperature.

Typical two-peak statistics of photon number after repetitive readout are displayed in Fig. 22(a) as the evidence of realizing the projective measurement for a nuclear spin. Nevertheless, we can infer from Eqs. (43) and (44) that several cycles in repetitive readout will require considerable time and in turn degrade the overall sensitivity  $\eta$ . Therefore, the number of readout cycles will be optimized based on the time for phase accumulation  $T_{accu}$  in a real sensing circumstance [Fig. 22(c)]. The complete sensing protocol with subnanotesla sensitivity [Fig. 22(c)] comprises the following four procedures:

(i) The NV sensor is first initiated to the NV<sup>-</sup> state using a real-time feedback and the  $m_s = 0$  spin state.

- (ii) DD sequences are applied to encoding the detected magnetic field in the phase of the NV spin.
- (iii) The NV spin state is mapped onto the nuclear spin using a SWAP gate.
- (iv) The nuclear spin is read out repetitively for *N* times to improve the readout fidelity.

The SWAP gate consists of CNOTe|n-CNOTn|e-CNOTe|ngates, where CNOTe|n (CNOTn|e) denotes a nuclear- (electronic-) controlled electronic (nuclear) spin NOT gate. The CNOTe|n gate with 99.92% fidelity achieved by Xie *et al.* (2023) was realized using a microwave (MW) selective  $\pi$ pulse, while the CNOTn|e gate utilizes an rf selective  $\pi$  pulse. All unitary operations, including single-qubit gates in DD sequences, CNOTe|n gates, and CNOTn|e gates, can be achieved with near-unit fidelity, and thus do not impair the magnetic sensitivity of the NV sensor [not included in Eqs. (43) and (44)].

By employing real-time feedback and chopped laser illumination, the NV<sup>-</sup> charge state and the  $m_s = 0$  spin state can be prepared with fidelities of 98.94(3)% and 97.74(18)%, respectively (Xie *et al.*, 2021). Thus,  $F_{ini}$  approximates 1 and slightly lowers the sensitivity. Using <sup>12</sup>C-purified diamond and DD sequences, the interrogation time  $T_{accu}$  can be extended beyond ~2 ms with the remaining coherence  $\xi_{T_{accu}} \approx 0.5$ . In particular, the readout fidelity can be improved to approximately 80% with a reasonable duty cycle. The time for initialization and readout may be nearly equal to the interrogation time, which reduces the sensitivity by a factor of ~1.4 (the term  $\sqrt{1 + T_{ir}/T_{accu}}$ ). In accordance with Eqs. (43) and (44), magnetic field sensitivities achieve  $\eta_{pola} \approx 0.5$  nT Hz<sup>-1/2</sup> (Zhao *et al.*, 2023) and  $\eta_{fluc} \approx (1.6 \text{ nT})^2 \text{ Hz}^{-1/2}$ .

### 4. Spin-to-charge conversion and photoelectric readout

The charge state of the NV center possesses a lengthy relaxation time and can be optically measured with high fidelity even at ambient temperature (Waldherr *et al.*, 2011). Consequently the spin-to-charge conversion (SCC) readout presents an alternative to ancilla-assisted readout (Sec. III.C.3). In this SCC readout method, the NV spin state is transferred to its charge state (either the neutral state NV<sup>0</sup> or the negative state NV<sup>-</sup>), allowing for high-fidelity readout through the long-lived charge state (Shields *et al.*, 2015; Hopper *et al.*, 2016; Irber *et al.*, 2021; Zhang *et al.*, 2021). Achieving high-fidelity readout duration than resonant readout or nuclear-spin-assisted repetitive readout, resulting in more collected photons and reduced readout noise.

The excitation of NV<sup>0</sup> [zero phonon line (ZPL) at 575 nm] demands a photon energy that is higher than that of NV<sup>-</sup> (ZPL at 637 nm). A laser operating within the wavelength range between these two ZPLs efficiently excites the lower-energy NV<sup>-</sup> optical transition over NV<sup>0</sup>. For instance, under lowpower illumination at 594 nm and at ambient temperature, the NV<sup>-</sup> photon count rate could be 28 times higher than that of NV<sup>0</sup> (Shields et al., 2015). In NV centers located deeply within bulk diamond, the dominant charge state relaxation occurs via a two-photon process and scales quadratically with the laser power, while fluorescence scales linearly (Waldherr et al., 2011). Consequently, employing lower laser power allows for more collected photons and higher charge readout fidelity, albeit at the cost of extended readout time, which is also constrained by the detector's dark counts (Aslam et al., 2013). The scenario becomes more intricate for shallow NV centers. The presence of local electron traps near the diamond surface influences the NV center's charge state, introducing a linearly proportional dependence on the laser power for the ionization rate (Dhomkar et al., 2018; Bluvstein, Zhang, and Javich, 2019).

The SCC process stands as another pivotal element in the SCC readout. Three methods have been devised to achieve SCC, with each playing a distinct role. The first two methods are executed at ambient temperature and rely on the spindependent shelving process into the singlet metastable state (Shields et al., 2015; Hopper et al., 2016). In this process, a pump laser elevates the NV center from its ground state to the excited state. The spin initially in the  $m_s = \pm 1$  state shelves into the metastable singlet level through an ISC process, exhibiting a probability approximately an order higher than the  $m_s = 0$  branch (Goldman, Doherty *et al.*, 2015). Subsequently a high-power laser ionizes either the singlet or triplet populations [Figs. 23(a) and 23(b)], employing wavelengths between 900 and 1024 nm for the singlet absorption band or 500 and 637 nm for the triplet absorption band, respectively. The third method operates under low temperatures, as illustrated in Fig. 23(d). Here a resonant laser pulse selectively excites the  $m_s = 0$  state, while simultaneously a high-intensity laser facilitates ionization from the excited state of NV<sup>-</sup> to NV<sup>0</sup> (Irber et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2021).

The conventional fluorescent readout method typically yields a low spin readout fidelity ( $F_{read}$ ) ranging between

0.03 and 0.05, with a signal accumulation time ( $T_{read}$ ) of 0.2 to 3 µs. Ambient temperature SCC methods generally elevate  $F_{read}$  to a range of 0.2 to 0.4, albeit at the expense of longer  $T_{read}$  exceeding 100 µs (Shields *et al.*, 2015; Hopper *et al.*, 2016, 2018, 2020; Jaskula *et al.*, 2019). Consequently the enhancement of SCC on sensitivity diminishes when the sensing time  $T_{accu}$  is too brief. This trade-off between factors makes SCC more suitable for sensing tasks with  $T_{accu}$  greater than 100 µs, typically resulting in a twofold to fivefold sensitivity increase [Fig. 23(c)]. Notably SCC exhibits distinct behavior under low-temperature conditions, achieving a fidelity  $F_{read}$  surpassing 0.9 with a readout time  $T_{read}$  ranging from 30 to 50 µs [Fig. 23(e)] (Zhang *et al.*, 2021).

A prominent advantage of SCC lies in its lack of specific requirements regarding the magnitude of the magnetic field. In contrast, nuclear-assisted repetitive readout often necessitates operating at magnetic fields exceeding 0.2 T to suppress optical perturbations on the nuclear spin. This magnetic field flexibility renders SCC highly compatible with NV-based lowfield quantum sensing techniques like zero-field magnetic resonance (Sec. IV.B.1). However, SCC utilizes a relatively high-intensity ionization laser. For instance, Hopper et al. (2018) employed 592-nm laser pulses (50 ns) with a peak power of 30 mW. Intense illumination can trigger photochemical reactions on the sample, leading to perturbations or potential photodamage (Shi et al., 2018). One potential solution lies in altering the wavelength of the ionization laser. As the excited state of NV<sup>-</sup> resides 0.67 eV below the diamond conduction band bottom (Aslam et al., 2013), the ionization wavelength can be chosen from a wide range (Razinkovas et al., 2021). Transitioning to near-infrared ionization lasers still demands high intensity (Hopper et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2021), but the lower photon energy might mitigate the excitation of sample molecule transitions, thus warranting further exploration.

While the efficacy of the SCC technique on NV centers in bulk diamonds and nanoparticles has been well demonstrated (Hopper *et al.*, 2018), there remains a gap in experimental investigations assessing its effectiveness on NV centers situated at depths shallower than 10 nm. Band bending and charge traps near the diamond surface (Dhomkar *et al.*, 2018; Bluvstein, Zhang, and Jayich, 2019) could potentially influence the photostability of the NV charge state and the readout fidelity of SCC. Hence, it becomes critical to enhance the charge environment surrounding the NV center through appropriate doping and surface modification (Sec. VI.B). Such improvements not only aid in electric noise suppression but also prolong the NV coherence time.

Beyond the SCC method, the NV spin state can also be read using photoelectric measurement. Direct electrical readout of the charge state is possible. Electrically detected magnetic resonance (EDMR) of a single-electron spin was initially demonstrated on the quantum dot and silicon fieldeffect transistor (Elzerman *et al.*, 2004; Xiao *et al.*, 2004). However, these EDMR experiments demand extremely low temperatures and ultrahigh magnetic fields to ensure that the Zeeman splitting exceeds the thermal broadening ( $\gamma_e B_0 \hbar > k_B T$ ). Hybrid optical-electrical detection exploits photoionization to relax stringent temperature and magnetic field requirements and has proved successful in



FIG. 23. SCC techniques. (a) Schematics illustrating the SCC method at ambient temperature. Left sketch: singlet SCC. Right sketch: triplet SCC. The solid lines depict the laser pump, and the dashed lines indicate decay transitions. Adapted from Hopper, Shulevitz, and Bassett, 2018. (b) Control protocol for the SCC. (c) Left panel: SCC measurement results that are contingent on the initial electron spin state. Right panel: comparison of the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) between the SCC method and conventional fluorescence measurements across repeat times. (b),(c) Adapted from Hopper *et al.*, 2016. (d) Pulse sequence and diagram depicting the SCC readout method under low temperatures where resonant transitions are feasible. (e) Distribution of photon numbers in charge readout using the SCC method, acquired from  $2 \times 10^4$  measurement repetitions with NV spin initially prepared in the  $m_s = 0$  state (blue bar) and the  $m_s = 1$  state (orange bars). Inset: photon distribution for the resonant fluorescence method under helium temperature.

single-quantum sensors (Yin *et al.*, 2013; Zhang *et al.*, 2019). Enabling photoelectric readout of NV centers has extended this method to liquid nitrogen temperatures (Brenneis *et al.*, 2015) and even ambient conditions (Bourgeois *et al.*, 2015; Gulka *et al.*, 2017, 2021; Hrubesch *et al.*, 2017; Siyushev *et al.*, 2019; Morishita *et al.*, 2020; Zheng, Hruby *et al.*, 2022).

Photoionization of the NV center occurs through its photoexcited triplet state, thereby enabling the detection of single NV centers via photocurrent measurements (Siyushev *et al.*, 2019). Moreover, spin-selective shelving into the singlet state shields the NV center from photoionization, thus rendering the photoelectric readout method suitable for discerning its spin states. Recent advancements have even applied this technique to detect single nuclear spins (Gulka *et al.*, 2021), with further discussions provided by Bourgeois, Gulka, and Nesladek (2020) and Bourgeois *et al.* (2021). This approach presents an opportunity for one to integrate scalable quantum sensor arrays into high-throughput test chips. However, the collected photocurrent is ultimately constrained by the carrier recombination lifetime of the diamond material, which is several orders of magnitude shorter than the NV excited-state lifetime, thus limiting the photon counting rate. Despite the potential for the number of detected electrons and holes generated by the NV center to exceed the count of detected fluorescence photons, offering the possibility of higher fidelity spin-state readouts and improved sensitivity of quantum sensors, significant efforts are essential to suppress background currents from other impurities, enhance carrier collection and detection, and address various technical hurdles. While deploying photoelectric detection in a biocompatible solution environment poses challenges, its utility remains promising for singlemolecule structure analysis at cryogenic temperatures.

### D. Decoherence mechanism

Bringing the NV center closer to the diamond surface can greatly enhance the sensitivity of both spin detection and spatial resolution. However, shallow NV centers exhibit significantly reduced decoherence times compared to bulk NV centers (Myers *et al.*, 2014; Rosskopf *et al.*, 2014; Romach *et al.*, 2015), which highlights the pivotal role of

the surface in shallow NV center decoherence. The electromagnetic noise emanating from the surface appears to contribute to the decoherence of NV electron spins. As illustrated in Eq. (1), the NV center is susceptible to both electric and magnetic fields. This susceptibility can be quantified by a simplified form of the NV ground-state spin Hamiltonian

$$H_{\rm NV} = [\mathcal{D} + d_{\parallel}(E_z + \delta_z)]S_z^2 + d_{\perp}(E_y + \delta_y)(S_xS_y + S_yS_x) + d_{\perp}(E_x + \delta_x)(S_y^2 - S_x^2) + \gamma_{\rm NV}\mathbf{B}_0 \cdot \mathbf{S}.$$
(48)

Accordingly three factors significantly affect the coherence time of NV centers: the intrinsic noise of bulk diamond, noise caused by magnetic fields on the surface of diamond, and noise generated by the surface electric field. The spin coherence time of the NV center is thus expressed as follows:

$$\frac{1}{T_2^{(*)}} \approx \frac{1}{T_2^{(*)} \{\text{noise in bulk diamond}\}} + \frac{1}{T_2^{(*)} \{\text{unknown}\}} + \frac{1}{T_2^{(*)} \{\text{surface magnetic field noise}\}} + \frac{1}{T_2^{(*)} \{\text{surface electric field noise}\}}.$$
(49)

The noise of the single NV center electronic spin from the bulk diamond consists mainly of electronic spin bath noise, nuclear spin bath noise, spin-lattice relaxation  $T_1$ , and certain other unknown noise (Barry *et al.*, 2020). The electric spin bath consists of paramagnetic defects in the diamond. Moreover, the paramagnetic substitutional nitrogen defects  $N_S^0$  (S = 1/2), known as P1 centers, may account for the majority of the electronic spin bath decoherence (Bauch *et al.*, 2020). The  $N_S^0$  contribution to decoherence obeys  $1/T_2^* \{N_S^0\} = A_{N_S^0}[N_S^0]$  and  $1/T_2 \{N_S^0\} = B_{N_S^0}[N_S^0]$ , where  $N_S^0$  is the concentration of neutral substitutional nitrogen and  $A_{N_S^0}$  and  $B_{N_S^0}$  characterize the effective magnetic coupling strength between the NV center and the  $N_S^0$  paramagnetic defects. Here  $A_{N_S^0} = 101 \pm 12 \text{ ms}^{-1} \text{ ppm}^{-1}$  and  $B_{N_S^0} = 6.25 \pm 0.47 \text{ ms}^{-1} \text{ ppm}^{-1}$  lie in the range  $[N_S^0] = 0.75$ -60 ppm (Bauch *et al.*, 2020).

The magnetic noise is conventionally attributed to a monolayer of S = 1/2 spins on the diamond surface, such as dangling bonds (Samsonenko *et al.*, 1979; Tisler *et al.*, 2009), terminating surface atoms (Osipov, Shames, and Vul', 2009; McGuinness *et al.*, 2013), and adsorbed molecules like paramagnetic oxygen (Bansal, Vastola, and Walker, 1972). This magnetic interference is typically well characterized by a Lorentzian spectral density centered at zero frequency, which is typically described phenomenologically as (Romach *et al.*, 2015)

$$S(\omega) = \sum_{i} \frac{\gamma_{\rm NV}^2 B_i^2}{\pi} \frac{\tau_{c,i}}{1 + (\omega \tau_{c,i})^2},$$
 (50)

where  $B_i$  is the average magnetic noise strength with different origins,  $\tau_{c,i}$  is the corresponding correlation time of the

magnetic noise, and the index *i* indicates a different noise source. For a two-dimensional layer of surface with the *g* factor g = 2 and S = 1/2 electron spins, by integrating over a surface with uniform spin distribution  $\sigma_{surf}$ , the total mean square noise field is calculated as (Myers *et al.*, 2014)

$$B_{\rm rms}^2 = \left(\frac{\mu_0 \gamma_e \hbar}{4\pi}\right)^2 \frac{\pi}{4} \frac{\sigma_{\rm surf}}{d^4},\tag{51}$$

where *d* is the depth of the NV center. The surface spin density is characterized by different methods, including magnetic noise spectrum estimation (Myers *et al.*, 2014; Rosskopf *et al.*, 2014; Bluvstein *et al.*, 2019) and magnetic resonance imaging (Grinolds *et al.*, 2014; Luan *et al.*, 2015). This parameter varies across diamond surfaces subject to different treatments, as presented in Table II.

The near-surface NV decoherence not only is dominated by the magnetic noise but also is affected by the electric field noise of the surface charge fluctuations. The Hamiltonian (48) yields the coupling between the NV electric dipole  $d_{\parallel}, d_{\perp}$  and the effective electric field  $\mathbf{\Pi} = \mathbf{E} + \boldsymbol{\delta}$ , which comprise the electric field  $\mathbf{E}$  and strain term  $\boldsymbol{\delta}$ . When the magnetic field is sufficiently high, satisfying  $\gamma_e B_0 \gg d_{\perp} \Pi_{\perp}$ , where  $\Pi_{\perp}$  is the transverse component of  $\mathbf{\Pi}$ , the single- and doublequantum transition frequencies are given by (Bluvstein *et al.*, 2019)

$$f_{0\to\pm1} \approx D + \frac{d_{\parallel}\Pi_{\parallel}}{2\pi} \pm \left(\frac{\gamma_{\rm NV}}{2\pi}B_z + \frac{1}{4\pi}\frac{(d_{\perp}\Pi_{\perp})^2}{\gamma_{\rm NV}B_z}\right), \quad (52)$$

$$f_{-1\to+1} \approx 2 \left( \frac{\gamma_{\rm NV}}{2\pi} B_z + \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{(d_\perp \Pi_\perp)^2}{\gamma_{\rm NV} B_z} \right).$$
(53)

This effect has been demonstrated through the application of high-dielectric-constant liquids to the diamond surface (Kim *et al.*, 2015). When one contemplates a point charge q positioned on the diamond surface, the electric field experienced at the NV center is influenced by the dielectric constants of both the diamond and the liquid (Kim *et al.*, 2015), which is given by

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{1}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \frac{2}{\kappa_d + \kappa_{\text{ext}}} \frac{q}{r^2} \,\hat{\mathbf{r}},\tag{54}$$

where *r* is the distance between the charge and NV,  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$  is the unit direction from NV to the point charge,  $\kappa_d$  is the dielectric constant of diamond,  $\kappa_{\text{ext}}$  is the dielectric constant of the external medium, and  $\varepsilon_0$  is the vacuum permittivity. After being covered by a dielectric medium, the electrical field on NV reduces by  $(\kappa_d + 1)/(\kappa_d + \kappa_{\text{ext}})$  compared to air. According to Kim *et al.* (2015), glycerol (dielectric constant  $\kappa_G = 42$ ) elongates the  $T_2$  time by 4.6 times, and propylene carbonate ( $\kappa_{\text{PC}} = 64$ ) elongates it by 2.4 times, thereby enhancing the magnetic field sensitivity [Eqs. (43) and (44)]. However, this liquid-based enhancement diminishes over several hours due to the formation of a layer with reduced mobility, thereby reducing the effective dielectric constant (Xu and Salmeron, 1998; Capponi *et al.*, 2010).

Reference	Spin density $(\mu_B/nm^2)$	Charge density $(e/nm^2)$	Surface treatment
Myers et al. (2014)	0.04		PECVD grown diamond, delta-doped <sup>15</sup> N atoms with $8.6 \times 10^{15}$ /cm <sup>3</sup> . The diamond surface was oxygen terminated in an acid process in 190 °C, a 1:1:1 mixture of sulfuric, nitric, and perchloric acid for 30 min.
Rosskopf et al. (2014)	0.1		MPCVD grown diamond layer on a HPHT substrate, delta-doped <sup>15</sup> N atoms with $8.6 \times 10^{18}$ /cm <sup>3</sup> that are oxygen terminated with three acids.
	0.047		(100)-oriented single crystal implanted with ${}^{15}N^+$ or ${}^{15}N^{2+}$ ions at a series of extremely low energies (0.4–5 keV) and fluences ( $10^{10}-10^{14}/cm^2$ ) and hydrogen terminated.
	0.04		Same as previously given except for being oxygen terminated with three acids.
	0.013		Same as previously given except for being fluorine terminated.
Grinolds et al. (2014)	0.5		(100)-oriented single crystal implanted with <sup>14</sup> N at 6 keV and $3 \times 10^{11}$ /cm <sup>2</sup> and annealed for 2 h at 800 °C in vacuum.
Luan et al. (2015)	0.28		Single-crystal diamond implanted with <sup>14</sup> N at 6 keV and $3 \times 10^{11}$ /cm <sup>2</sup> , annealed for 2 h at 800 °C in vacuum, cleaned in a boiling acid mixture of 1:1:1 sulfuric, nitric, and perchloric acid, and subsequently thoroughly rinsed in distilled water.
Myers, Ariyaratne, and Jayich (2017)		1.9	Single-crystal diamond polished and subsequently etched by $ArCl_2$ , implanted with <sup>14</sup> N at 4 keV and $3 \times 10^{11}/cm^2$ on a CVD grown layer, annealed 2.5 h at 850 °C in vacuum, cleaned in a boiling acid mixture of 1:1:1 sulfuric, nitric, and perchloric acid, and subsequently thoroughly rinsed in distilled water.
Bluvstein et al. (2019)	0.01-0.01		Single-crystal diamond polished and subsequently etched by ArCl <sub>2</sub> , implanted with <sup>14</sup> N at 4 keV and 5.2 × 10 <sup>10</sup> /cm <sup>2</sup> on a CVD grown layer, annealed 2.5 h at 850 °C in vacuum and cleaned in a 230–240 °C acid mixture of 1:1:1 sulfuric, nitric, and perchloric acid.
Stacey et al. (2019)		0.001-0.1	Theory

TABLE II. Surface electron spin density of various diamond surfaces subjected to different treatments. MPCVD, microwave plasma CVD; HPHT, high-pressure high-temperature.

#### 1. Surface treatment

Several methods are available to extend the coherence time of NV centers in single-molecule experiments. The proximity of the NV sensor to the surface significantly reduces the coherence time compared to when it is far from the surface [Fig. 24(a)]. The most straightforward way is to remove the possible spins, charges, or strain of the surface (Chu *et al.*, 2014). We now discuss several common surface treatment methods.

- (i) Preparation. The diamond is initially a polished single-crystal diamond. Subsequently the diamond is etched using an Ar-Cl<sub>2</sub> plasma, followed by an O<sub>2</sub> plasma etch, to clean the diamond surface (Sushkov, Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2014).
- (ii) Ion implantation. The diamond is implanted by nitrogen ions with different dosages and energies. The relationship between the created NV depth with implanted energies is further discussed in Sec. VI.A.
- (iii) Annealing. The implanted diamond is annealed in vacuum. The temperature changes steeply from 400 to 800 or 1200 °C under high vacuum, P ≤ 10<sup>-6</sup> torr (Sushkov et al., 2014; Sushkov, Lovchinsky et al., 2014; Lovchinsky et al., 2016, 2017).
- (iv) Acid clean I. A mixture of three-acid (1:1: 1 H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>/HNO<sub>3</sub>/HClO<sub>4</sub>) treatment on the diamond at 180 °C to boiling for several hours (Müller *et al.*, 2014; Sushkov, Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2014; Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2017; Schlipf *et al.*, 2017; Pinto *et al.*, 2020).
- (v) Oxygen annealing. The diamond is annealed in an oxygen environment for several hours at 465 °C to

make an oxygen-terminated surface (Sushkov, Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2014; Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2016, 2017).

(vi) Acid clean II. Piranha solution [sulfuric acid (98%) and hydrogen peroxide (30%); volume ratio 3:1] treatment on diamond at 75 °C for several hours (Sushkov, Lovchinsky et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2015; Lovchinsky et al., 2016, 2017).

The sensitivity is largely enhanced with procedures (i)–(vi) compared to procedures (i)–(iv), as shown in Fig. 24(b).

In addition to the diamond surface, the layer near the diamond surface holds significant influence over both the stability of the charge states and the decoherence time of the NV centers. Following growth or ion implantation, this shallow layer often hosts various defects alongside the NV centers. For instance, implanted defects post annealing give rise to divacancy  $(V_2)$  complexes or higher-order vacancy chains. Post low-energy nitrogen implantation and thermal annealing, it is estimated that within a nanometer-scale volume approximately four to six  $V_2$  complexes may surround a single NV center (Fávaro de Oliveira et al., 2017). These complexes demonstrate thermal stability (Yamamoto et al., 2013) and exhibit electronic paramagnetism with a spin of I = 1(Twitchen et al., 1999). The presence of these  $V_2$  electron spins could notably contribute to decoherence (Hanson et al., 2008). Strategies aimed at curbing the formation of such defects during thermal annealing serve as pivotal steps toward enhancing the quantum properties of NV centers.

During thermal annealing, individually charging vacancies within the defect cluster has been shown to limit vacancy



FIG. 24. (a) Surface electron detection utilizing the NV sensor. The green line represents the coherence decay curve observed when the NV sensor is positioned close to another diamond surface, while the blue line shows the decay curve when the NV sensor is positioned farther from the diamond surface. Oscillations in the curves stem from the <sup>13</sup>C nuclear spin bath within the diamond. Adapted from Luan *et al.*, 2015. (b) Comparison of nuclear spin sensitivities (<sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C nuclear spins) against NV center depth before (blue) and after (red) surface treatment. Adapted from Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2016.

recombination (Fávaro de Oliveira *et al.*, 2017). An alternate method involves nitrogen ion implantation into a space charge layer of free carriers (specifically, holes) generated by a thin layer of boron-doped diamond on the diamond surface. This process yields considerable enhancements in various NV center properties: a tenfold increase in  $T_2$  time, an extension of  $T_1$  time to over 5 ms, and a twofold improvement in the yield of NV centers situated at depths of 2–8 nm (Fávaro de

Oliveira *et al.*, 2017). In addition, incorporating various donors such as phosphorus, oxygen, and sulfur during the chemical vapor deposition (CVD) diamond growth process has been explored (Lühmann *et al.*, 2019). This method utilizes negatively charged vacancies during annealing, while the introduced nitrogen N<sup>+</sup> becomes positively charged. This interplay may bolster NV center formation, potentially impeding V-V formation through Coulomb forces. This approach has exhibited a tenfold increase in NV center yield (Lühmann *et al.*, 2019), thereby significantly enhancing charge stability and electron spin coherence time for NV centers located as deep as 15 nm (Watanabe *et al.*, 2021).

#### 2. Quantum control for sensor

Passive surface treatment is not the only strategy available to mitigate decoherence noise; active quantum control methods are available, which can further improve coherence time. The effect of fluctuating fields [Eq. (9)] can be reduced by dynamical control. In particular, the power spectral density  $S(\omega)$  can be used to characterize the magnetic signal generated by magnetic fluctuations  $\Delta B$ , where

$$\langle \Delta B(0) \Delta B(t) \rangle = \frac{1}{2\pi\gamma_e^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} S(\omega) e^{i\omega t} \mathrm{d}\omega.$$
 (55)

Under the influence of magnetic fluctuation noise, the NV coherence [Eq. (10)] is calculated as

$$\xi(t) = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega S(\omega) \frac{F_t(\omega)}{\omega^2}\right), \quad (56)$$

where  $F_t(\omega)$  is the filter function as in Table III and Fig. 25.

Magnetic noise, stemming from residual paramagnetic impurities [Fig. 26(a)] within bulk diamond and on its surface (Grinolds *et al.*, 2014; Myers *et al.*, 2014; Rosskopf *et al.*, 2014; Romach *et al.*, 2019), significantly contributes to the decoherence of NV centers. Typically employed for dc or lowfrequency magnetic field measurements, the Ramsey fringe technique exhibits a dephasing time  $T_2^*$  at the microsecond level. In contrast, the Hahn-echo protocol used to detect ac magnetic fields differs by introducing an additional microwave  $\pi$  pulse. This echo sequence remains insensitive to static magnetic fields, as the phases before and after the  $\pi$  pulse

TABLE III. Microwave pulse sequence, filter function, and detection frequency range of various quantum control sequences (Cywiński *et al.*, 2008). Some of the filter functions are plotted in Fig. 25.

Pulse sequence	Microwave pulse	Filter function	Frequency range
$T_1$	$\pi - t$	$2\delta(\omega-\omega_0)^2\omega^2t/\pi$	~GHz
Ramsey	$\frac{\pi}{2} - t - \frac{\pi}{2}$	$\sin^2 \frac{\omega t}{2}$	$\sim dc$
Hahn echo	$\frac{\pi}{2} - \frac{t}{2} - \pi - \frac{t}{2} - \frac{\pi}{2}$	$8\sin^4\frac{\omega t}{4}$	~MHz
PDD (odd $N$ )	$\frac{\pi}{2} - \frac{t}{N} - (\pi - \frac{t}{N})^N - \frac{\pi}{2}$	$2 \tan^2 \frac{\omega t}{2N+2} \sin^2 \frac{\omega t}{2}$	~MHz
CPMG (even N)	$\frac{\pi}{2x} - (\frac{t}{2N} - \pi_y - \frac{t}{2N})^N - \frac{\pi}{2x}$	$8\sin^4\frac{\omega t}{4N}\sin^2\frac{\omega t}{2}/\cos^2\frac{\omega t}{2N}$	~MHz
CDD	$\operatorname{CDD}_{l-1}(\frac{t}{2}) - \pi - \operatorname{CDD}_{l-1}(\frac{t}{2}) - \pi$	$2^{2l+1}\sin^2\frac{\omega t}{2^{l+1}}\prod_{k=1}^l\sin^2\frac{\omega t}{2^{k+1}}$	~MHz
UDD	$\frac{\pi}{2}-t_1-\pi-\cdots-t_N-\frac{\pi}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}  \sum_{k=-N-1}^{N} (-1)^k \exp \left[\frac{i\omega t}{2} \cos \frac{\pi k}{N+1}\right] ^2$	~MHz
Spin lock	$\frac{\pi}{2x} - \mathbf{MW}(t)_y - \frac{\pi}{2x}$	$2\delta(\omega-\omega_0)^2\omega^2t/\pi$	~MHz



FIG. 25. Dynamical decoupling. (a) Control pulse sequences for different control methods. (b) Filter function for each control method. The details for the sequence are listed in Table III.

nullify each other. The coherence time  $T_2$  typically exceeds  $T_2^*$  by 1 to 2 orders of magnitude.

However, the response of Hahn-echo measurements proves sensitive to ac magnetic fields, particularly at certain frequencies. The Hahn-echo sequence can be expanded into multipulse sequences like periodical dynamical decoupling (PDD), Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill (CPMG) concatenated dynamical decoupling (CDD), and Uhrig dynamical decoupling (UDD),



FIG. 26. Coherence elongation by modulating the surface spins. (a) The shallow NV center is affected by the fluctuating field from the surface electronic spin bath, which can cause decoherence and depolarization of the shallow NV center. (b) Modulating the electronic spin bath alters the noise spectrum, creating a mismatch with the filter function, thereby elongating the decoherence time of the NV centers. (c) Control sequence of pulsed control of the bath spin. (d) Control sequence of continuous driving of the bath spin.

as detailed in Table III and depicted in Fig. 25. By inserting a series of equally spaced  $\pi$  pulses into the sequence, the coherence time  $T_2$  extends by flipping the NV electron spin, effectively decoupling it from environmental noise. Alternatively, considering an increase in the number of  $\pi$ pulses, the filter function (outlined in Table III) narrows, resulting in lower integrated noise levels [Eq. (56)]. An astute choice of microwave  $\pi$  pulse phases further mitigates the impact of nonideal controls (de Lange et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012; Z.-Y. Wang et al., 2019). CPMG XY8-N, as a phase-modulated pulse sequence, involves eight repeated  $\pi$ pulses in the pattern XYXYYXYX (X and Y represent  $\pi$  pulses along the x or y axis). This sequence is robust against errors in both pulse duration and phase. In bulk diamond, the longest decoherence time achieved for an NV center using DD stands at 3.3 ms with 512  $\pi$  pulses (Herbschleb *et al.*, 2019). However, this coherence time remains about half of the  $T_1$ time, despite the theoretical limit for coherence time being  $2T_1$ . This discrepancy might be due to high-frequency noise surpassing the maximum filter frequency constrained by the duration of the  $\pi$  pulses (Herbschleb *et al.*, 2019). However, for shallow NV centers the coherence time is approximately an order of magnitude smaller than the  $T_1$  time (Myers *et al.*, 2014; Romach et al., 2015).

The dynamical decoupling approach aims to actively control NV spins to counter environmental noise. However, its compatibility with sensing operations poses limitations, especially concerning the resonance frequencies of paramagnetic impurities near the surface, which differ from the NV electron spin. Manipulating the noise spectrum itself within the environment [Fig. 26(a)] presents an alternative approach to counter NV spin decoherence [Fig. 26(b)].

To tackle this, various methods are employed, including pulsed control and continuous driving of the bath spin. The pulsed spin control sequence [Fig. 26(c)] involves a  $\pi$  pulse on the bath inserted midway through the NV Ramsey fringe sequence. Analogous to the Hahn-echo sequence of the NV center spin, this  $\pi$  pulse flips the electron spins in the bath, neutralizing low-frequency noise. Continuous spin driving [Fig. 26(d)] employs resonant microwave control, continuously driving the bath spin while the dynamical decoupling sequence acts on the NV electron spin. This method extends coherence time by shifting the noise spectrum frequency through bath spin driving. Bath control techniques have improved  $T_2^*$  and  $T_2$  of the NV electron spin by roughly 1.5 times (de Lange et al., 2012; Bluvstein et al., 2019), though the extent of enhancement varies with NV depth and environmental factors. Stochastic bath driving techniques have shown promise in further extending coherence time (Joos et al., 2022).

The NV center electron spin, which constitutes a spin-1 system, facilitates the seamless extension of control techniques from the single-quantum (SQ) methods ( $\Delta m_s = 1$ ) to double-quantum (DQ) methods ( $\Delta m_s = 2$ ). In DQ methods, the impact of temperature fluctuations on noise ( $\partial D/\partial T = -71.9$  kHz K<sup>-1</sup>) is nullified, as evidenced in studies (Acosta, Bauch *et al.*, 2010; Lourette *et al.*, 2023; Xu *et al.*, 2023). This encompasses the elimination of the axial electric field  $E_{\parallel}$  and axial strain  $\sigma_{\parallel}$ . Simultaneously, the influence of the off-axis

electric field  $E_{\perp}$  and strain  $\sigma_{\perp}$  is subdued by the magnetic field  $B_{\tau}$  [Eq. (53)].

Moreover, the DQ method substantially augments the signal strength for magnetometry owing to the quantum number difference being twice as large as that in the SQ method, a point validated by Mamin *et al.* (2014). However, this enhancement comes at a cost: in environments where magnetic noise dominates the spin bath, the  $T_2^*$  and  $T_2$  times in the DQ measurement approximately halve compared to the values in the SQ method, as established by Fang *et al.* (2013) and Mamin *et al.* (2014). Despite this, when accounting for electric field noise and temperature fluctuations, an overall enhancement in magnetometry sensitivity is anticipated.

With the DQ method, the coherence time  $T_2$  of a single NV center shows a marked increase, rising from  $1.66 \pm 0.16$  ms in the SQ method to  $2.36 \pm 0.09$  ms, thereby marking a 2.7-fold improvement (Angerer *et al.*, 2015). For shallow NV centers at 12.8(3) nm, the sensitivity of the DQ measurement exhibits a 1.8-fold increase compared to the SQ result, which escalates to a 2.5-fold improvement with bath driving (Bluvstein *et al.*, 2019). Note that the DQ experiment necessitates the simultaneous manipulation of two microwave pulses to drive the two subspaces of the NV ground state, rendering it notably more intricate than the SQ experiment. Certain considerations must be taken into account during manipulation. Specifically, the separation of the two microwave frequencies is imperative to prevent mutual interference.

#### E. Signal amplification

The magnetic dipolar interaction experiences a substantial decay concerning distance,  $\sim r^{-3}$ , while the gyromagnetic ratios of nuclear spins are approximately 3 orders of magnitude smaller than those of electron spins. Consequently, the detection of individual nuclear spins poses a formidable challenge. For coupling between the sensor and the target nuclear spin to be established, intermediary quantum systems prove instrumental in amplifying the nuclear spin signal. These systems encompass various options, such as single-electron spins (Bermudez *et al.*, 2011; Schaffry *et al.*, 2011), an electron spin ensemble (Goldstein *et al.*, 2011), a spin chain (Bose, 2003; Yao *et al.*, 2012), and even ferromagnetic particles (Trifunovic *et al.*, 2015).

Currently the sole experimentally realized protocol (Schaffry *et al.*, 2011) involves leveraging single dark reporter electron spins positioned on the diamond surface (Sushkov, Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2014). The protocol reliant on electron spin ensembles (Schaffry *et al.*, 2011) poses a significant challenge due to the difficulty in acquiring multiple highly polarized electron spins that exhibit strong coupling to the NV center.

Utilizing dark reporter electron spins positioned on the diamond surface serves as a means of detecting nuclear spins (Sushkov, Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2014). The term *reporter electron spin* pertains to the dangling bond (see Table II) on the diamond surface [depicted in Fig. 27(a)], which is strategically situated near both the NV sensor and the target nuclear spins. When the DEER sequence is employed (see Sec. II.A.1), the reporter electron spin can be measured and manipulated by  $\pi$  pulses, inducing a polarization transfer that corresponds to the DEER signal. The NV center exhibits the



FIG. 27. Single nuclear spin detection enabled by the reporter electron spins. (a) Measurement of a nuclear spin bath through the reporter spins on the diamond surface. It exhibits the spinecho modulation induced by a proton spin bath. Inset: control pulse sequence applied to the reporter and the NV center. (b) Spin-echo modulation of the reporter measured with the NV center. It is estimated by the best fit that the reporter is coupled to two proton spins. (c) Schematic diagram of the hyperfine interaction between the reporter spin and the proton spins (the gold arrows). (d) Energy-level diagram for the coupled system of the reporter spin and the proton spin. (e) Localization of the two nearby proton spins with respect to the reporter spin, which is extracted from a fit to the data shown in (b). Adapted from Sushkov, Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2014.

capability to couple with multiple reporter spins within a range of approximately 10 nm.

Upon subjecting the diamond to a robustly oxidizing reflux mixture of concentrated nitric, sulfuric, and perchloric acids, the DEER signal undergoes clear modification. This suggests that the surface treatment effectively "resets" the positions of the surface reporter spins (Sushkov, Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2014). The longitudinal relaxation time  $T_1$  of the reporter electron spin is approximately 29 µs. Through a Hahn-echo measurement of the reporter electron spin, the oscillation induced by a nuclear spin bath is observable in Fig. 27(a). The measured gyromagnetic ratio aligns well with that of the proton nuclear spin, indicating the specific nuclear species. The pronounced modulation in Fig. 27(b) implies the presence of two proton spins near the reporter spin. The relative azimuth angles of these two nuclear spins can be further elucidated through detailed calculation, as illustrated in Figs. 27(c)–27(e).

#### F. Conclusion

In conclusion, several methods have been pursued to enhance the sensitivity of the SQS, NV center. Notably improvements have been witnessed in both readout fidelity and coherence time. Achieving a readout fidelity of 97.7% with helium cryogen (Humphreys *et al.*, 2018) and 86.9% at ambient temperature (Xie *et al.*, 2021) through nuclear-spinassisted repetitive readout showcases significant advancements. The latter method, which is adaptable to ambient conditions, maintains a fidelity of approximately 84% even for shallow NV centers with depths as minimal as 15 nm (Zhao *et al.*, 2023). However, this fidelity hinges significantly on the depolarization time of the assisted nuclear spin and the stability of the NV charge state (Xie *et al.*, 2021).

Efforts involving deterministic charge state control (Xie *et al.*, 2021) and high magnetic fields (Neumann, Beck *et al.*, 2010) are anticipated to elevate the readout fidelities of shallow NV centers (Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2016; Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2017) from approximately 0.2 to around 0.8 (Xie *et al.*, 2021). Nevertheless, this approach faces limitations and may not be universally applicable under conditions characterized by short coherence times. In scenarios where  $T_{\text{read}} \gg T_{\text{accu}}$ , the scaling relationship between the spin sensitivity [Eqs. (45) and (46)] and  $T_{\text{read}}$  degenerates to

$$\eta_{\rm fluc,pola} \propto \sqrt{T_{\rm read} + \frac{T_{\rm read}}{n_{\rm avg}C^2}},$$
 (57)

which does not benefit from repetitive readout. Thus, the pivotal challenge in enhancing sensitivity rests with coherence time. Even with shallow NV centers at depths below 5 nm, the current record for coherence time stands at 100-200 µs (Müller et al., 2014; Lovchinsky et al., 2016; Lovchinsky et al., 2017), which is still an order of magnitude shorter than  $2T_1$  of the NV center. Despite the best  $T_2$  time registering at 2.4 ms (Herbschleb et al., 2019) and an optimal fluorescence count rate of approximately 4 Mcounts/s (M. Wang et al., 2022), the achieved proton nuclear spin sensitivity by NV centers under ambient conditions remains at around 0.01 proton  $Hz^{-1/2}$  within 5 nm and approximately 1 proton  $Hz^{-1/2}$  within 10 nm for both the fluctuation and polarization signals. This sensitivity facilitates the identification of a single nuclear spin (defined here as  $SNR \ge 3$ ) within 1 ms to 3 s, enabling the real-time observation of a single molecule's dynamics below kilohertz level within a 5 nm proximity. The measurement of electron spins strongly relies on the characteristics of the molecular electron spin. Under ambient conditions, the most optimal depolarization time for the electron spin spans 1 µs, extending to 10 ms under cryogenic temperatures (Zadrozny et al., 2015; Bader, Winkler, and van Slageren, 2016; Graham et al., 2017). At ambient temperature, the sensitivity of the electron spin stands at  $10^{-4}\mu_B$  Hz<sup>-1/2</sup> within 5 nm and approximately  $0.01\mu_B$  Hz<sup>-1/2</sup> within 10 nm for fluctuation measurements [as per Eq. (45)]. This sensitivity allows the identification of a single-electron spin (defined here as SNR  $\geq$  3) within 0.1 to 1 ms, facilitating the real-time observation of a single molecule's dynamics and chemical reactions at frequencies below ~10 kHz within a 5 nm distance. This stands as a substantial advancement compared to the current sensitivity, which hovers around 10 molecules (Barton et al., 2020). Beyond the electron spin's depolarization time, the photobleaching effect in optical measurements remains a critical concern. In typical sensing experiments, the laser power density at the optical focal point reaches approximately  $10^5 \text{ W cm}^{-2}$ , which significantly impacts the stability of both electron spins and molecules. The resolution of this issue is pivotal to eliminate laser-induced damage in optical measurements. Addressing this problem could pave the way for highly stable single-molecule EPR studies in aqueous solutions, membranes, and cells, thereby providing crucial insights into molecular structures and local environments. An alternative avenue for enhancement involves parallel high-throughput detection (Cai *et al.*, 2021) employing a large array of NV center probes to conduct single-molecule measurements in parallel. This high-throughput detection methodology enables the practical implementation of single-molecule tracing diagnostics (Miller *et al.*, 2020; Chen *et al.*, 2022; Li *et al.*, 2022).

At cryogenic temperatures, the typical optimal depolarization time spans 10 ms (Zadrozny et al., 2015; Bader, Winkler, and van Slageren, 2016; Graham et al., 2017), thereby enabling the recognition of a single-electron spin within 100 nm. This spatial range permits the creation of adaptable configurations within the electron spin network via lithography (Abb et al., 2016) or peptide self-assembly (Gopinath et al., 2016; Dey et al., 2021). Harnessing and manipulating these spins could prove instrumental in crafting a scalable solid-state quantum information processor (Yao et al., 2012; Schlipf et al., 2017) or a large-scale quantum simulator (Cai, Retzker et al., 2013). Beyond quantum architecture, molecular spintronics stands to benefit significantly from solid-state magnetic resonance detection. NV-center-based magnetic resonance detection operates across a broad temperature spectrum ranging from ambient to cryogenic conditions. This capability extends to the measurement of the state of single-molecule spintronic devices even under elevated cryogenic temperatures (Gaita-Ariño et al., 2019; Coronado, 2020).

### **IV. SPECTRAL RESOLUTION**

Spectral resolution holds significant importance in both EPR and NMR studies. In EPR spectroscopy achieving a spectral resolution in the range of megahertz or below enables the differentiation of molecules with slight structural variations (Martorana et al., 2014) and the delineation of local polarity profiles (Kurad, Jeschke, and Marsh, 2003). Conversely, in NMR spectroscopy the precise measurement of distinct chemical environments, such as chemical shift and J coupling, necessitates the attainment of high spectral resolution. Consequently, merging single-molecule techniques with high-resolution spectroscopy methods emerges as a pivotal concern. The capacity of spin spectroscopy to discern chemical environments offers unique insights that are distinct from conventional single-molecule techniques. This ability underscores the significance of enhancing spectral resolution in these methodologies. This section aims to introduce various methods geared toward improving spectral resolution. Included among these are the zero-field technique (Kong et al., 2018; Kong, Zhao et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020), correlation spectroscopy (Laraoui et al., 2013; Kong et al., 2015; Staudacher et al., 2015; Aslam et al., 2017), Qdyne (Boss et al., 2017; Schmitt et al., 2017), and weak measurement (Cujia et al., 2019; Pfender et al., 2019).

### A. Spectral resolution

The spectral linewidth is limited by different mechanisms for different control sequences.

(i) *cw ODMR*. In the cw ODMR sequence, the microwave frequency undergoes a sweep across the complete NV resonance range while the 532 nm laser concurrently continues its operation. The resonant frequency determined by the spectrum's center necessitates a narrow linewidth for precise frequency measurement. At resonance, the signal achieves maximum contrast as the resonant microwave drive transitions the spin state to  $m_s = \pm 1$ , consequently reducing the PL. The linewidth  $\Delta f$  relies on both the microwave control strength and the laser power (Jensen *et al.*, 2013),

$$\Delta f = \sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{\pi T_2^{\text{eff}}}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{4T_1^{\text{eff}}}{T_2^{\text{eff}}}\right) \left(\frac{\Omega_e}{2\pi}\right)^2},\qquad(58)$$

where  $\Omega_e$  is the Rabi frequency,  $1/T_1^{\text{eff}} = 1/T_1 + \Gamma_P$  and  $1/T_2^{\text{eff}} = 1/T_2^* + \Gamma_P/2$  are the effective relaxation times, and  $\Gamma_P$  is the optical pumping rate. At low microwave power, the linewidth  $\Delta f \approx 1/\pi T_2^{\text{eff}}$  is limited by  $T_2^*$ . At high power, the linewidth broadens according to the MW power:  $\Delta f \approx \sqrt{T_1^{\text{eff}}/T_2^{\text{eff}}} \Omega_e/\pi$ .

- (ii) *DEER*, *Ramsey*, *Hahn echo*, *and DD*. The control sequences are listed in Table III and Fig. 25. The linewidth is limited by both the filter function and the decoherence time.
- (iii) Quantum relaxometry. The cross-relaxation approach probes target spins through spectral overlap between them and the NV center. The linewidth is limited by both the NV spin decoherence time and the relaxation time of the target spins.
- (iv) Spin-lock (Hartmann-Hahn) method. The spin-lock method employs a resonant microwave to reduce the dephasing of the NV electron spin, locking it in a specific direction in the rotating frame. The linewidth is limited by the power-instability-induced linewidth  $\delta_{power}$  and  $T_{1\rho}$ :  $\Delta f = 1/\pi T_{1\rho} + \delta_{power}$ .
- (v) *Correlation or Qdyne*. The control sequence is shown in Fig. 29. The spectral resolution of native correlation spectroscopy (Laraoui, Hodges, and Meriles, 2010; Laraoui *et al.*, 2013; Kong *et al.*, 2015; Staudacher *et al.*, 2015) is  $\Delta f = 1/\pi T_1$ , depending on the NV center electron spin depolarization time  $T_1$ , which is on the scale of milliseconds. However, utilizing the adjacent nitrogen nuclear spin (Laraoui *et al.*, 2013) or classical memory in a Qdyne detection scheme can achieve a spectral resolution of  $1/\pi T_1^{\text{memory}}$ , depending on the memory type, which can reach the submillihertz scale (Aslam *et al.*, 2017; Boss *et al.*, 2017; Schmitt *et al.*, 2017; Glenn *et al.*, 2018).

#### B. Methods to enhance the spectral resolution

#### 1. Zero-field electron paramagnetic resonance

Under ambient conditions, ensemble powder EPR spectra or single-molecule EPR spectra experience line broadening due to the magnetic inequivalence among otherwise identical spins or the movement in molecule configuration. While high-field EPR experiments can partially mitigate this broadening (Schweiger and Jeschke, 2001), zero-field EPR (ZFEPR) spectroscopy presents a method to entirely eliminate line broadening by eradicating the Zeeman term, which depends on the magnetic field orientation (Bogle *et al.*, 1961; Silver and Kushida, 1963; Bramley and Strach, 1983; Bramley, 1986). Despite offering a straightforward route to enhance spectral resolution, ZFEPR spectroscopy remains seldom utilized due to significantly lower sensitivity compared to conventional high-field EPR. However, this limitation does not hold true for NV sensor-based EPR, as the signal derives from statistical fluctuations rather than target spin polarization (Sec. II.A.1).

In the context of biological or ambient temperature singlemolecule scenarios, controlling the rotational dynamics of the target spin becomes complex. Consequently, the DEER method becomes an unsuitable choice. The resolution of this issue lies in manipulations that are solely on the NV sensor. The NV sensor undergoes resonant microwave  $\mathbf{B}_1(t) =$  $\mathbf{B}_1 \cos \mathcal{D}t$  radiation, driving it into dressed states [Fig. 28(a)] represented by

$$\begin{split} |-1\rangle_{d} &= \frac{1}{2}|1\rangle - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|0\rangle + \frac{1}{2}|-1\rangle, \\ |0\rangle_{d} &= -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|1\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|-1\rangle, \\ |1\rangle_{d} &= \frac{1}{2}|1\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|0\rangle + \frac{1}{2}|-1\rangle \end{split}$$
(59)

in the rotating reference frame with eigenenergies  $-\Omega/2$ , 0, and  $\Omega/2$ , respectively, where  $\Omega = \gamma_{\rm NV} (B_{1,x}^2 + B_{1,y}^2)^{1/2}$  is the Rabi frequency and proportional to the perpendicular amplitude of the microwave driving field. The dipole-dipole interaction between the NV center and the target spins induces a flip-flop process at the resonance condition

$$\Omega = 2\Delta\omega_{ii},\tag{60}$$

where  $\Delta \omega_{ij} = \omega_j - \omega_i (i < j)$  is the energy-level splitting of the target spins corresponding to an allowed magnetic dipole transition. When the NV center is initially polarized to one of the dressed states given by Eq. (59), the polarization will be transferred from the NV center to the target spins, and consequently the populations of dressed states change. At the zero magnetic field, all the Zeeman terms vanish and the energy-level structure of the target spins is determined solely by the intrinsic spin-spin interactions. Thus, for a spin-1/2 electron-nuclear system, the simplified spin Hamiltonian under secular approximation is determined solely by the hyperfine interaction expressed as

$$H = A_{\perp} (S_{x,e} I_x + S_{y,e} I_y) + A_{\parallel} S_{z,e} I_z,$$
(61)

where  $A_{\perp}$  and  $A_{\parallel}$  are the hyperfine constants. The eigenstates consist of one antisymmetric singlet  $|S_0\rangle$  and three symmetric triplet states  $|T_0\rangle$  and  $|T_{\pm 1}\rangle$  [Fig. 28(b)]. The corresponding eigenvalues are



FIG. 28. Zero-field EPR. (a) Power-sweeping sequence for zero-field measurements. (b) Energy levels of the coupling system involving an  $S_e = 1/2$  electron spin and I = 1/2 nuclear spin at zero field. (c) Dependence of EPR spectra on the orientations of target spins. The spectra are simulations of an <sup>15</sup>N nitroxide spin label. (d) Correlation sequence for zero-field measurements. (e) Comparison between normal  $(ST_{\pm 1})$  and clock  $(ST_0)$  transitions. Left panel: Ramsey measurements. Right panel: Fourier transform of the Ramsey measurements. Adapted from Kong *et al.*, 2018, and Kong, Zhao *et al.*, 2020.

$$\omega_{S_0} = -\frac{A_\perp}{2} - \frac{A_\parallel}{4},$$

$$\omega_{T_0} = \frac{A_\perp}{2} - \frac{A_\parallel}{4},$$

$$\omega_{T_{\pm 1}} = \frac{A_\parallel}{4},$$
(62)

respectively. Precision in tuning the energy levels of NV centers in dressed states to resonate with target spins facilitates polarization transfer and enables measurement of the dark spin using the NV sensor (Sec. II.A.2). The ZFEPR spectrum is attained by varying the driving power. As depicted in Fig. 28(c), the peak positions remain independent of target orientations, thereby providing a narrow spectrum.

Furthermore, the application of zero magnetic field EPR effectively mitigates the primary cause of line broadening induced by magnetic noise. The presence of magnetic noise, denoted as  $\delta B$ , instigates fluctuations in energy levels within the targeted spin, thereby resulting in line broadening. Notably the  $|S_0\rangle$  and  $|T_0\rangle$  states exhibit no first-order dependence on

the magnetic field. Consequently, the frequency fluctuation of the  $|S_0\rangle \rightarrow |T_0\rangle$  transition (referred to as  $ST_0$  hereafter) diminishes to  $\sim \gamma_e^2 \delta B^2/A$ . This reduction leads to a noticeable line-narrowing effect. However, observing such a narrowed  $ST_0$  spectrum proves challenging when using the conventional microwave power-sweeping method, demanding exceptional power stability across the entire microwave circuits.

Similarly, the widely used DEER method faces limitations due to the interrogation time constrained by the coherence time  $T_2$  of the NV center. Drawing inspiration from the correlation spectroscopy of nuclear spins (Laraoui et al., 2013), a modified correlation detection protocol for ZFEPR spectroscopy has been devised (Kong, Zhao et al., 2020); see Fig. 28(d). This modification extends the sensor's lifetime to the spin-locking relaxation time  $T_{1\rho}$ , which is often significantly longer than  $T_2$  for shallow NV centers (Rosskopf *et al.*, 2014; Kong et al., 2018). Employing Ramsey experiments on the P1 center enables the acquisition of ZFEPR spectra [Fig. 28(d)]. The Fourier transformation of these spectra, as shown in Fig. 28(e), distinctly illustrates the enhanced spectral resolution. This method underscores the potential to reduce the EPR linewidth of dark electron spins by more than an order, achieving values on the scale of several kilohertz.

#### 2. Correlation and quantum heterodyne method

Quantum sensing techniques involve subjecting a quantum coherent sensor to a response Hamiltonian  $H_V(t)$  [Eq. (2)], thereby influencing the evolution of the probe state within the sensor's coherence time. These protocols (Sec. I.C.2) enable the extraction of information concerning the Hamiltonian  $H_V(t)$ . Consequently, the coherence time of the sensor dictates the duration of coherent signal accumulation. The accurate reconstruction of a given Hamiltonian frequency spectrum holds paramount importance for chemical analysis, molecular structure determination, and various other applications. The linewidth of this method serves as a pivotal metric for spectral analysis, impacting not only the precision in estimating individual frequency components but also the capability to resolve multiple frequencies simultaneously.

Various methods (see Secs. III.D.1 and III.D.2) have been employed to extend the coherence time of the NV sensor. However, despite these approaches, including dynamical decoupling and diamond surface fabrication, the decoherence time remains relatively limited. The most prolonged achieved coherence stands at 3.3 ms (Herbschleb *et al.*, 2019) for a single NV center at ambient temperature, which is approximately half the duration of  $T_1$ .

An alternative path toward achieving high-resolution spectroscopy involves transferring the signal encoded in the phase of the NV quantum state to electron spin population, nuclear spin, or even classical computer memory. While enhancing the spectral resolution to the memory relaxation time is feasible, it does not augment the sensitivity of the NV sensor, which relies on coherent phase accumulation. An ac magnetic field  $B(t) = B_{\rm ac} \cos(\omega t + \varphi)$  is assessed via correlation spectroscopy [Fig. 29(a)], where  $B_{\rm ac}$  signifies the field strength,  $\omega$  denotes the oscillating frequency, and  $\varphi$  represents the initial phase of the oscillating magnetic field. The sensing protocol corresponds to the imaginary-component measurement



FIG. 29. Correlation spectroscopy utilizing the NV sensor, ancilla quantum memory, and Qdyne. (a) Oscillating magnetic field  $B(t) = B_{ac} \sin(\omega t + \varphi)$  probed using a quantum NV sensor employing a dynamical decoupling sequence  $U_{img}$  that is aligned with the resonant condition. The intervals between the  $\pi$  pulses are  $\tau = \pi/\omega$ , and the accumulated phase  $\Phi_n = 2\gamma_e B_{ac} t_s \cos \varphi_n/\pi$  relies on the initial oscillating field phase  $\varphi_n$  for each sample. (b) Control procedure for correlation spectroscopy that involves detection of two phases  $\varphi$  and  $\varphi'$  using two sensing protocols and culminates in a final measurement recording a correlation signal  $\langle \sin \Phi \sin \Phi' \rangle$ . (c) Correlation spectroscopy integrates a quantum memory such as an adjacent nitrogen nuclear spin and can be combined with the ENDOR sequence. (d) Qdyne sequence involving the repetitive accumulation and measurement of phases  $\Phi_n$  over the entire measurement time  $T_{exp}$ . (e) Heterodyning with an external clock that records the NV population series  $\sin \Phi_n$  and, consequently, the corresponding photon numbers. Through FFT, the time evolution is transformed into the spectrum, enabling the resolution of signal frequency concerning the local oscillator frequency. (f) Spectral resolution comparison of correlation spectroscopy, ancilla quantum memory, and the Qdyne method. Adapted from Schmitt *et al.*, 2017.

[Figs. 7(d) and 7(e)]. Under the imaginary-component sensing protocol  $U_{img}$ , the intervals between control  $\pi$  pulses align with the half period of the ac field, resulting in an accumulated phase  $\Phi = (2\gamma_e B_{ac} t_s \cos \varphi)/\pi$ , where  $t_s$  denotes the interaction time (Maze *et al.*, 2008; Kotler *et al.*, 2011). This phase  $\Phi$ is stored in the NV spin magnetization as  $(1 - \sin \Phi)/2$ [Eq. (8)]. Subsequently, a second sensing protocol is conducted after a waiting time  $\Delta t$ , accumulating a phase  $\Phi' = (2\gamma_e B_{ac} t_s \cos \varphi')/\pi$ . Employing correlation spectroscopy [Fig. 29(b)], the resulting correlation signal is thus derived (Laraoui *et al.*, 2013) as

$$S(t) \propto \langle \sin \varphi \sin \varphi' \rangle \sim \frac{1}{2} \cos \omega \Delta t,$$
 (63)

where the brackets stand for time average. Unlike the Hahnecho or dynamical decoupling protocols, the spectral resolution is limited only by the NV  $T_1$  relaxation time, which is usually longer than the decoherence time.

By utilizing the nitrogen nuclear spin as a memory ancilla for storing the quantum state [Fig. 29(c)], the achievable spectral resolution can be improved beyond the NV sensor  $T_1$  limit up to the nuclear longitudinal relaxation time  $T_1^{nuclear}$ , which can typically last for several minutes (Laraoui et al., 2013; Aslam et al., 2017; Pfender, Aslam et al., 2017). In the encoding and decoding process, the accumulated phase  $\Phi$  of the NV sensor is transferred to the superposition state of nuclear spin, which is performed by entangling and disentangling the NV center and nuclear memory with a C<sub>m</sub>ROT<sub>s</sub> gate. The two Hardmard gates on the nuclear spin switch between the NV state and nuclear memory information. After a target spin evolution, the decoding process allows the current target spin state to be correlated with its initial state stored in the memory nuclear spin. Finally, the state of nuclear memory is extracted by the single-shot readout method. The NMR spectrum of a nanoscale liquid with a chemical resolution of approximately 1 ppm was demonstrated by Aslam et al. (2017).

Further enhancement in spectral resolution is attainable through narrowband synchronized readout protocols such as the Qdyne detection scheme (Boss *et al.*, 2017; Schmitt *et al.*, 2017) [Fig. 29(d)] and analogous coherently averaged synchronized readout (CASR) schemes (Glenn *et al.*,

2018). The CASR protocol finds application in microsized nuclear spin samples exhibiting sufficiently strong thermal polarization (Glenn *et al.*, 2018; Munuera-Javaloy, Tobalina, and Casanova, 2023) or those enhanced via the DNP method (Bucher *et al.*, 2020; Arunkumar *et al.*, 2021). It involves initiating polarized nuclear spins with an initial  $\pi/2$  pulse for coherent signal averaging. Subsequently, the NMR free-induction-decay signal is acquired through a synchronized NV magnetometry pulse sequence interspersed with projective NV spin-state readouts.

The Qdyne technique applied in nanoscale nuclear spin samples experiencing fluctuations resembles classical heterodyne detection, where an unknown signal is "mixed" with a local oscillator. However, in the Qdyne protocol [Fig. 29(c)] the nonlinear mixing element is a quantum coherent probe: the NV sensor. Throughout the Qdyne protocol, the NV sensor continuously samples at a rate of  $f_{\rm LO}$ , capturing a phase  $\Phi_n = (2\gamma_e B_{\rm ac} t_s \cos \varphi_n)/\pi$  with each sample. This phase, which is measured using the imaginary component for each sample while considering the sample frequency  $f_{\rm LO}$  and sampling time  $t_L = 1/f_{\rm LO}$ , can be described as

$$\Phi_n = \frac{2\gamma_e B_{\rm ac} t_s}{\pi} \cos[2\pi \, n\delta f t_L + \varphi], \tag{64}$$

where  $\delta f = \omega/2\pi - f_{\rm LO}$  represents the undersampling mixed beating frequency and *n* is an integer. By measuring the beating frequency  $\delta f$  and with knowledge of  $f_{\rm LO}$ , the signal frequency can be determined, although this determination is limited by the local oscillator stability. The resolution of the Qdyne method depends on the experiment time  $T_{\rm exp}$ , which approximates  $\sim 1/\pi T_{\rm exp}$ .

The frequency precision, which surpasses the corresponding linewidth, can be obtained using a least-squares fit of the spectra. The precision of estimated frequency of Qdyne scales as (Schmitt *et al.*, 2017)

$$\Delta f_Q \approx \frac{1}{g_s T_{\exp} \sqrt{T_{\exp} T_2}} \propto T_{\exp}^{-3/2}, \tag{65}$$

where  $g_s = \gamma_e B_{ac}$  is the interaction strength. Note that this precision refers to the sensor and does not take into account the linewidth of the target sample itself. The formula holds until the experiment time reaches the clock stability  $T_{LO}$  and follows the standard quantum limit  $\Delta f_Q \sim 1/g_s T_{LO} \sqrt{T_{exp}T_2}$ . Compared to the frequency precision of dynamical decoupling  $\Delta f_{DD} \approx 1/g_s T_2 \sqrt{T_{exp}T_2}$  and correlation spectroscopy  $\Delta f_M \approx 1/g_s T_2 \sqrt{T_{exp}T_M}$ , the Qdyne method substantially improves both the frequency precision and the spectral resolution by several orders beyond the clock stability  $T_{LO} \gg$  $T_2$ ,  $T_M$  (Fig. 30). The ultimate absolute precisions achieved are 20 µHz (Schmitt *et al.*, 2017) and 70 µHz (Boss *et al.*, 2017). The bandwidth of the Qdyne method is limited only by the phase accumulation protocol, dynamical decoupling sequence, which peaks at the megahertz level.

The high-resolution method can be readily combined with measurements of different properties of the nuclear spins. The protocols, which entail a combination of correlation and



FIG. 30. (a) Comparison of the Qdyne spectral resolution with the XY8 technique. The resolution of the XY8 technique is determined by the interrogation time and remains constant at 300 kHz. The resolution of the Qdyne method improves with the experiment time  $T^{-1}$  until the limit of clock stability is reached. (b) Comparison of the Qdyne spectral precision and the XY8 technique. The frequency precision is fitted by least-squares estimation and thus is always better than the spectral resolution. The XY8 technique has a measurement precision approximating the standard quantum limit. In contrast, the spectral accuracy of Qdyne exceeds and scales as  $T^{-3/2}$  until reaching the clock stability limit. Adapted from Schmitt *et al.*, 2017.

operation on the target nuclear spins, are illustrated in Fig. 31(a). The dynamical decoupling sequence  $U_{img}$  comprises a periodical  $(\tau/2 - \pi - \tau/2)^N$  control sequence with  $\pi/2|_y$  and  $\pi/2|_x$  before and after, respectively. The overall effect of the  $U_{img}$  sequence is (Boss *et al.*, 2016)

$$\hat{\sigma}_a = \cos\left(a_\perp N\tau/\pi\right)S_x + \sin\left(a_\perp N\tau/\pi\right)2S_z I_x.$$
 (66)

Thus, the operator  $\hat{\sigma}_a$  consists of both the electron coherence  $S_x$  and the nuclear coherence  $2S_z I_x$ , which is conditional on



FIG. 31. Combination of the high-resolution method with the nuclear spin detection. (a) Overall correlation pulse sequence. The spin operations are inserted in the free evolution interval of the correlation sequence. (b) Spin operation of the free effective Hamiltonian  $H_0 = \omega_0 I_z + a_{\parallel} (S_z + 1/2) I_z$ . (c) Spin operation of the effective Hamiltonian  $H_{\text{eff}} = \omega_0 I_z + a_{\parallel} I_z/2$ . (b),(c) Adapted from Boss *et al.*, 2016. (d) Spin operation of the effective Hamiltonian  $H_{\text{eff}} = 2a_{\perp}/\pi S_z I_x$ . (e) Two-dimensional NMR COSY sequence.

the electron spin state. By the target nuclear spin operation  $U_{\rm op}$  between two  $U_{\rm img}$  evolution, the final observation is

$$p(t) = \cos^2(\omega_1 t) \operatorname{Tr}(U_{\text{op}} \hat{S}_x U_{\text{op}}^{\dagger} \hat{S}_x) + \sin^2(\omega_1 t) \operatorname{Tr}(U_{\text{op}} \hat{I}_x U_{\text{op}}^{\dagger} I_x).$$
(67)

The desired nuclear evolution can be measured by recording the final observation. The different sequences in Figs. 31(b)-31(e) represent the protocols for free evolution, detection for the parallel component of the hyperfine interaction  $a_{\parallel}$ , the perpendicular component  $a_{\perp}$  (Boss *et al.*, 2016), and the two-dimensional NMR COSY spectrum (Yang *et al.*, 2020).

### 3. Backaction effect of measurement

In traditional NMR or EPR, the influence of measurement on the system is usually negligible due to the weak coupling between the target spin and the detector. However, exceptions arise, such as the damping of magnetic resonance induced by the electric detection circuit in the presence of a nuclear spin ensemble (Bloembergen and Pound, 1954). Quantum measurements inherently induce backaction on the measured system, causing the system to collapse into different states determined by the random measurement outcome. In the context of single-molecule techniques, where measurements often involve only a few spins or even a single spin, overcoming the impact of backaction becomes crucial.

The backaction effect is generally negligible for dynamical decoupling and correlation spectroscopy, where the fluctuation signal is measured, making the signal independent of the sample state. Quantum memories enhance spectral resolution at the expense of sensitivity. In contrast, the Qdyne method achieves exceptional spectral resolution through continuous measurement techniques without compromising sensitivity. When the dynamics of a quantum object are monitored using sequential measurements, the backaction induces inevitable disturbance. The strong measurement can even trap the state coherently (Pfender et al., 2019) and thus change the spin oscillation frequency. Weak measurements as introduced theoretically (Aharonov, Albert, and Vaidman, 1988; Korotkov, 2001a, 2001b; Wiseman, 2002; Jordan and Büttiker, 2005; Jordan and Korotkov, 2006; von Neumann, 2018) and demonstrated experimentally with NV centers (Blok et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2017; Cujia et al., 2019; Pfender et al., 2019), superconducting qubits (Groen et al., 2013; Hatridge et al., 2013; Murch et al., 2013), and other systems (Piacentini et al., 2016; Muhonen et al., 2018) are potential solutions to approaching the limit of negligible disturbance of the system under study.

The influence of backaction is significant when observing the nuclear spin due to its considerably longer coherence time (Fig. 32). In observing the nuclear spin, sequential measurements utilizing  $U_{img}$  are interleaved. To begin, the nuclear spin is initialized to the *x-y* plane (Cujia *et al.*, 2019) or its statistical fluctuations are observed through a measurementcorrelation scheme (Pfender *et al.*, 2019). The rate of dephasing induced by the measurement is determined as



FIG. 32. Tracking the precession of single nuclear spins using weak measurements. (a) Bloch sphere representation of the spin evolution of the measured spin. (b) Signal amplitude depending on the measurement strength  $\sin \beta$ . (c) Measurement-induced decoherence suppressed quadratically with the measurement strength while performing the weak measurements. Adapted from Cujia *et al.*, 2019.

$$\Gamma_{\beta} = \frac{a_{\perp}^2 t_s^2}{\pi^2 t_L},\tag{68}$$

where  $\tau$  is the interrogation time of  $U_{img}$  and  $t_L$  is the sampling time. By choosing the interaction strength  $\beta = a_{\perp} t_s / \pi$ , the backaction-induced dephasing can be eliminated. However, the weak measurement comes at the price of less information on the system. In particular, the trade-off between signal strength and backaction plays an important role in high-resolution sensing. With the condition that the interrogation time  $t_s$  dominates the measurement time and  $t_s \leq \sqrt{\pi^2 \Gamma_n t_L / a_\perp^2}$ , where  $\Gamma_n$  is the intrinsic dephasing rate, the sensitivity is almost not affected by the backaction (Cujia et al., 2019). Another measurement-related dephasing is caused by the residual hyperfine interaction during optical illumination. The hyperfine field on the nuclear spin stochastically changes as the spin state and the charge state of the NV center randomly switch during the optical readout process. The decay rate is  $\Gamma_{\gamma} \propto a_{\parallel}^2 t_{\text{optical}}^2 / 2t_L$ . The best achieved linewidths have been 120 Hz (Cujia et al., 2019) and 3.8 Hz (Pfender et al., 2019).

### 4. Confined space

The precision of correlation spectroscopy and the Qdyne method in resolving spectra relies significantly on sensor properties and the backaction stemming from the measurement protocols. However, the intrinsic relaxation of the target spin remains the dominant factor in determining the linewidth. In both fluidic systems (Staudacher *et al.*, 2015) and solid



FIG. 33. Dynamics of the sample near the diamond surface. The layered model in the detection volume (green semisphere) consists of a static adsorption film (below the dashed red line) where translational diffusion of the molecules (light blue arrows) is restricted. In contrast, the outer section behaves as a bulk liquid, where the molecules self-diffuse. Adapted from Staudacher *et al.*, 2015.

nanoscale systems (Shi *et al.*, 2015), molecules experience rapid tumbling and self-diffusion (Fig. 33). These mechanisms contribute to the averaging of internuclear spin couplings, thus leading to longer nuclear spin relaxation times. In nanoscale NMR, molecular diffusion can result in molecules escaping the detection volume, thereby reducing the interaction time with the sensor and broadening the linewidth (Yang *et al.*, 2022). This differs from conventional NMR, where molecular diffusion often leads to narrower linewidths through motional narrowing. The diffusion-induced spectral resolution for NV-based nanoscale NMR is limited by the relaxation time of the sensor  $T_{\text{sensor}}$ , the dephasing time of the target sample spins  $T_{2,\text{tar}}^*$ , and the molecular diffusion-induced relaxation (Steinert *et al.*, 2013)

$$\frac{1}{T_{\rm D}} = D_{\rm diff} \left(\frac{3}{4d}\right)^2,\tag{69}$$

where *d* is the depth of the NV sensor. Previous experiments observing nanoscale spins generally involved immobilized target samples (Mamin *et al.*, 2013; Staudacher *et al.*, 2013, 2015; Müller *et al.*, 2014; Yang *et al.*, 2022) or samples with relatively low diffusion rates (Mamin *et al.*, 2013; Staudacher *et al.*, 2013, 2015; Kong *et al.*, 2015; Aslam *et al.*, 2017; Schmitt *et al.*, 2017; Yang *et al.*, 2022). The best spectral resolution achieved, at 200 Hz (Aslam *et al.*, 2017) with an NV sensor depth of 30–50 nm, corresponds to a chemical-shift resolution of 1.3 ppm for <sup>1</sup>H nuclear spins under 3 T. However, owing to the greater depth of the NV sensor, the nuclear spin number sensitivity achieved by Aslam *et al.* (2017) is still far from the single-molecule limit.

To mitigate the linewidth broadening challenge, some methods prioritize measuring the polarization signal over the fluctuation signal. However, for nanoscale or single-molecule spin detection (Fig. 13), the polarization might not reach sufficiently high levels. This method is notably advantageous for micrometer-scale samples such as single cells (Xie *et al.*, 2018). Another approach involves immobilizing samples on the sensor surface and has shown potential in resolving these challenges. Experiments with chemically attached DNA molecules have shown promise in potentially

eliminating spin-spin interactions due to molecular liquid motion (Shi et al., 2018), although further investigation is necessary. A third strategy to address diffusion effects is sample confinement within a limited space. Theoretical analyses focused on confined nano-NMR using an NV center (Cohen *et al.*, 2020). When the experiment time t is less than the diffusion time  $T_{\rm D}$ , nuclear spins hardly diffuse out of the detection region while maintaining nearly constant signal intensity. For sensing times t less than the boundary reaching the time  $t_V = V^{2/3}/D_{\text{diff}}$ , the signal decays according to a power law, resulting in sharply peaked spectral lines (Staudenmaier et al., 2022). Over a prolonged experiment, nuclear spins might reflect back from the boundary and be detected by the NV sensor, eventually causing the signal to degrade into a constant. Confining the sample significantly reduces the diffusion effects, thereby enhancing spectral resolution. Experiments employing metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) with angstrom-sized pores demonstrated noteworthy outcomes. In <sup>31</sup>P NMR, these experiments achieved a minimum linewidth of 3 kHz, whereas the spectrum was undetectable without MOF confinement (Liu, Ma et al., 2022).

### C. Conclusion

The NV sensing protocol has successfully achieved a spectral resolution on the order of millihertz (Boss *et al.*, 2017; Schmitt *et al.*, 2017), with a best-reported linewidth of approximately hertz attained for NMR (Cujia *et al.*, 2019; Pfender *et al.*, 2019) and of kilohertz attained for EPR (Kong *et al.*, 2018). This level of precision proves adequate for distinguishing <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C chemical shifts at external magnetic fields below 1 T (Kong *et al.*, 2015; Glenn *et al.*, 2018; Smits *et al.*, 2019), as well as for resolving chemical species under magnetic fields of around 20 mT (DeVience *et al.*, 2015; Häberle *et al.*, 2015).

The primary challenge in achieving chemical-shift resolution at the single-molecule level arises from diffusioninduced nuclear spin relaxation. Utilizing a confined structure to minimize surface diffusion of liquid on diamond (Liu, Ma *et al.*, 2022; Staudenmaier *et al.*, 2022) presents a viable approach to reducing linewidths for the realization of singlemolecule chemical-resolved NMR. When combined with two-dimensional NMR protocols, this approach enables single-molecule structures to be resolved by leveraging the nuclear Overhauser effect, residual dipolar coupling, or paramagnetic relaxation enhancement. Furthermore, the enhancement in spectral resolution is advantageous for single-molecule EPR, as it allows for more precise measurements of bond distances and chemical environments, along with an accurate determination of the *g* factor.

#### **V. SPATIAL RESOLUTION**

MRI typically offers submillimeter spatial resolution, rendering it inadequate for imaging subcellular biological structures. While TEM, MFM, and nano-SQUID can achieve nanometer-scale resolution, they are not suitable for imaging biological structures in living samples (Rugar *et al.*, 2004; Degen *et al.*, 2009; Finkler *et al.*, 2010). Although superresolution optical microscopy, STM, and AFM can achieve high-resolution imaging in biological environments, simultaneous integration of chemical recognition capabilities poses significant challenges.

The NV center presents the possibility of achieving nanoand subnano-level spatial resolution alongside chemical recognition under *in vivo* biological conditions. The chemical recognition capabilities and spectroscopic methods inherent in NV-based imaging techniques will play a pivotal role in physics, biology, and chemistry. This section introduces two methods: scanning probe magnetic imaging (Maletinsky *et al.*, 2012; Grinolds *et al.*, 2013; Häberle *et al.*, 2015; Rugar *et al.*, 2015; P. Wang *et al.*, 2019) and gradient field-based magnetic imaging (Grinolds *et al.*, 2014; Müller *et al.*, 2014; Arai *et al.*, 2015; Abobeih *et al.*, 2019).

#### A. Scanning probe magnetic imaging

Scanning microscopy stands as one of the most potent tools for exploring the nanoscale world, encompassing various techniques such as optical microscopy (Betzig and Chichester, 1993), SEM (Glaeser, 1985), STM (Binnig et al., 1982), spin-polarized STM (Wiesendanger, 2009), AFM (Giessibl, 2003; Gross et al., 2009), and MRFM (Rugar et al., 2004; Degen et al., 2009). Integrating magnetic resonance measurements with AFM via the fabrication of individual nanoscale diamond probes allows high spatial resolution magnetometry under less stringent conditions. Combining the NV sensor with AFM necessitates a confocal optical microscope system (Fig. 34). A green laser from this system is utilized for addressing, initializing, and reading out the NV center. The spin-state-dependent fluorescence is collected by an objective, enabling the acquisition of the sample's magnetic image by scanning it across the NV sensor while simultaneously measuring the desired signal. The leapfrog AFM scanning mode, chosen due to the diamond's hardness minimizing sample abrasion, ensures result reproducibility (Rugar et al., 2015; P. Wang et al., 2019). The fluctuating magnetic field follows an inverse sixth power law [ $\sim 1/r^6$ ; Eq. (18)] limiting achievable resolution to the depth d.



FIG. 34. Schematics of NV scanning probe microscopy. (a) Target sample attached to the cantilever of the conventional AFM probe. The sample scans above the diamond, which contains a shallow NV center. The NV sensor is read out by the confocal microscope. (b) The NV sensor is fabricated at the end of a diamond nanopillar (as shown in the inset). The diamond nanopillar is utilized as a magnetic probe to scan over the target sample.

The achieved spatial resolution ranges from 8.3to 20 nm, contingent upon the distance between the NV center and the sample (Maletinsky *et al.*, 2012; Häberle *et al.*, 2015; Rugar *et al.*, 2015; P. Wang *et al.*, 2019). Two forms of NV-centerbased scanning microscopy exist: one involves attaching the target sample to the scanning AFM tip over the NV sensor [Fig. 34(a)], while the other employs high-purity diamond nanopillars containing NV centers as the AFM tip [Fig. 34(b)] (Maletinsky *et al.*, 2012).

The first scheme, which is compatible with the typical AFM setup, enhances spatial resolution beyond optical diffraction limits. Here the microscale sample attaches to the cantilever of an AFM tip and scans above the diamond containing a shallow NV center [Fig. 35(a)]. This configuration enables the implementation of scanning magnetic resonance imaging. For instance, in one setup a nanoscale fluorine sphere scans over an NV sensor, while the sensor conducts NMR DD measurements (Sec. II.B.1) simultaneously to measure the NMR spectra (Häberle et al., 2015). By analyzing the NMR spectra of <sup>19</sup>F nuclear spins, the power spectral density of the nuclear magnetic signal reconstructs from the fluorescence of the NV sensor, facilitating <sup>19</sup>F density measurement (Häberle et al., 2015), as illustrated in Fig. 35(b). In another experiment, scanning <sup>1</sup>H NMR observes the <sup>1</sup>H nuclear spin sample, which is represented by a sharp polymer tip drawn from glass [Figs. 35(c) and 35(d)] (Rugar et al., 2015). The method achieves a spatial resolution of ~10 nm and a sensitivity of  $\sim 200 \text{ nT Hz}^{-1/2}$ . A pertinent application involves measuring ferritins in liver cancer cells. Here the cell, which is fixed in a solid state, is subsequently sectioned into a cube and placed on



FIG. 35. Nanoscale MRI of fluorine (<sup>19</sup>F) and protons (<sup>1</sup>H). (a) Single shallow NV center (red spin). Nuclear spins are detected within a nanoscale sensing volume above the diamond surface (red hemisphere). Imaging involves scanning the target sample through this sensing volume. (b) A calibration grating is etched into the sample (green sphere representing <sup>19</sup>F-rich Teflon) using the AFM tip. (c) <sup>19</sup>F NMR imaging of the sample (calibration grating). (d) Accumulated signals obtained through  $4 \times 3$  binning of the linescan in (c). Adapted from Häberle *et al.*, 2015.

a tuning fork scanning probe attached to an AFM, thereby exposing the cell's flat cross section to air. To minimize cell sample abrasion and ensure result reproducibility, scanning occurs in a slow "leapfrog" mode, albeit limiting sensitivity. This approach achieves intracellular ferritin imaging with a spatial resolution of about 10 nm.

The second approach situates a single NV center at the termination of a high-purity diamond nanopillar [Fig. 34(b)], amalgamating extended spin coherence time, augmented photon collection efficiency due to optical waveguiding (Babinec *et al.*, 2010), and superior spatial resolution. Beyond the pointed diamond probes, flat probes find application in scanning probe microscopy through far-field optical leveling techniques (Ernst *et al.*, 2019). These flat probes streamline the diamond engineering process and mitigate potential engineering damage.

Imaging via short-distance scanning probes achieves nanoscale, and sometimes subnanoscale, resolution. The inception of nanoscale NV magnetic imaging occurred through the NV sensor integration into a diamond nanocrystal affixed to the AFM tip (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2008). The 40 nm diameter of the nanocrystal ensures proximity between the NV center and the sample, yielding a spatial resolution in the range of several tens of nanometers.

While these methods achieve impressive spatial resolution, their detection sensitivity remains considerably limited, falling short of single-molecule applications. An alternative approach involves the use of nanofabricated diamond optical waveguides to enhance the NV sensor's optical collection efficiency. This optical waveguide constitutes a nanopillar formed on a thin film of high-purity diamond single crystals using nanofabrication techniques [Fig. 34(b) inset]. NV sensors crafted within these nanopillars possess minute end surfaces (ranging between  $\sim 100$  nm and  $\sim 1 \mu$ m), thereby mitigating the typically short coherence times observed in NV centers within nanodiamonds. The design of optical waveguides in nanopillars facilitates stronger coupling between the excitation light and the embedded NV center, thereby amplifying the optical excitation efficiency. Moreover, this design alters the fluorescence emission light field of the NV center, resulting in a substantial increase of about 5-10 times in the collected farfield photon numbers by the objective (Sec. III.C.1). This heightened signal collection efficiency and enhanced excitation efficiency hold promise for improving measurement sensitivity while concurrently reducing the intensity of the excitation light and its impact on the sample.

Through highly efficient optical waveguiding [Fig. 36(a)], the sensitivity of the scanning NV sensor reaches 96 nT Hz<sup>-1/2</sup>. It is constrained primarily by surface noise and background fluorescence (Grinolds *et al.*, 2013). Given that the magnetic field of a single-electron spin measures approximately 9 nT (1  $\mu$ T) when the distance between the sensor and the target spin spans about 50 nm (10 nm), detecting a single-electron spin becomes feasible (Fig. 36). When the magnetic field intensity of the target single-electron spin is mapped, the NV magnetic probe averages multiple scans across an area of ~200 × 200 nm<sup>2</sup>. In these scanning experiments, the spin sensitivity can attain 11 $\mu_B$  Hz<sup>-1/2</sup> at ambient temperature (Grinolds *et al.*, 2013). While this



FIG. 36. (a) Nanopillar embedding an NV center employed to scan the target sample. (b) The NV sensor observes the magnetic field imaging of a single-electron spin. A substantial decrease in fluorescence near the center signifies the detection of a single-electron spin. Adapted from Grinolds *et al.*, 2013.

sensitivity stands 15 times lower than in ultralow-temperature MRFM experiments (Rugar *et al.*, 2004), future advancements aim to surpass or meet this level by reducing the sensor-to-target distance.

#### B. Gradient field-based magnetic imaging

Improved spatial resolution becomes attainable through the exploitation of magnetic gradients, altering the resonant frequencies of spins across various spatial locations. Magnetic gradient techniques enable nuclear spins to be precisely addressed in conventional NMR at resolutions down to the micrometer level. This technological advancement has propelled the use of MRI in medical and biological sciences, thereby facilitating microscopic insights into organisms (Lauterbur, 1973; Lee et al., 2001; Mansfield, 2004; Plewes and Kucharczyk, 2012). Nevertheless, conventional NMR's spatial resolution struggles to surpass the micrometer level due to limited sensitivity and gradients (Glover and Mansfield, 2002). Leveraging the NV center's high sensitivity and atomic-scale positioning presents a distinctive opportunity for magnetic imaging at nanoscale or even singlemolecule levels.

#### 1. External applied gradient magnetic fields

By utilizing an external magnetic field gradient, higher spatial resolution is possible, which is independent of sensorsample distance. The magnetized AFM tip can be positioned infinitesimally close to the sample, thereby generating a strong magnetic field gradient. The magnetic tip can be produced by depositing a layer of magnetic material on the AFM tip (Grinolds et al., 2011). A typical magnetic probe can produce a magnetic field gradient of approximately 1 mT nm<sup>-1</sup> at a distance of approximately 20 nm (Grinolds et al., 2014). By placing the magnetic tip above an NV center, as shown in Fig. 37(a), the magnetic field gradient is combined with the NV-based magnetic resonance microscopy, thereby enabling three-dimensional imaging of the target spins. The driving microwave frequency and the inhomogeneous magnetic field determine a narrow spatial volume, a "resonant slice" (Rugar et al., 2004), where the spins resonate with the driving microwave frequency. By scanning the magnetic tip precisely, one can obtain the high-resolution three-dimensional map.



FIG. 37. Gradient-based MRI with NV sensor. (a) MRI of dark spins in a diamond utilizing a scanning gradient and a single NV sensor. A scanning magnetic tip is positioned 100 nm above the diamond surface, thereby enabling the measurement of the spatial distribution of the dark spin density by the NV sensor. (b) 0.8 nm resolution NV MRI of a single dark spin. (a),(b) Adapted from Grinolds et al., 2014. (c) Schematic of Fourier magnetic imaging. An adjustable magnetic field gradient for phase encoding is established by passing an electric current through a pair of gradient microcoils. Currents of 1 A through two gradient microcoil pairs generate magnetic field gradients up to  $0.2 \ \mu T nm^{-1}$ . (d) Nanoscale resolution MRI of the NV center. Top panel: cross section depicting two distinct peaks along the direction indicated by the dashed white line in the twodimensional image. These peaks correspond to two separate NV centers spaced 121(9) nm apart. Bottom panel: twodimensional real-space images of the Fourier transform of these two NV centers. (c),(d) Adapted from Arai et al., 2015.

Specifically, the point spread function (PSF) of the measured spins can be directly determined experimentally using the spatial map of the resonant NV, which is independent of the magnetic field models or iterative deconvolution schemes. The density distribution of the spins to be measured can be reconstructed by convolving the measurement results by the PSF. Thus, using the NV sensor, MRI measurement for the target spins can be accomplished with the EPR or NMR method.

The spatial resolution of the gradient-based MRI is given by (Grinolds *et al.*, 2014)

$$\delta r = \frac{2\pi}{t_s \gamma_e |\mathbf{n} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} B_{\text{tip}}|},\tag{70}$$

where  $\gamma_e$  denotes the gyromagnetic ratio of the target spin,  $t_s$  represents the interrogation time, **n** depicts the unit vector of the target spin's quantization axis, and  $\nabla B_{tip}$  indicates the magnetic field gradient at the target spin position. For electron spin measurements, a spatial resolution of 2.5 Å is achievable when the magnetic gradient is 1.2 mT nm<sup>-1</sup> and the interrogation time is 120 ns (Grinolds *et al.*, 2014). This spatial

resolution can be further enhanced by commercial magnetic recording heads, which can generate up to  $\sim 10 \text{ mT} \text{ nm}^{-1}$ magnetic field gradient (Jakobi et al., 2017; Bodenstedt et al., 2018). The amalgamation of scanning gradient fields with NV magnetic resonance microscopy holds promise for achieving subnanoscale resolution in three-dimensional NV-based MRI. However, the current spatial resolution of NV-based MRI confronts limitations on two fronts. First, maintaining stability in the relative position between the magnetic tip and the NV center is critical, yet even welldesigned setups experience position drift of several nanometers due to 1-K temperature vibrations (Grinolds et al., 2014; P. Wang et al., 2019). Second, the interrogation time is restricted by  $T_2^*$ , which is consistently much shorter than  $T_2$ for shallow NV centers. However, the intricate DD control protocols are incompatible with static magnetic gradients.

The adjustable magnetic field gradient can be integrated with the dynamic control protocol of the NV center, utilizing microcoils that adjust currents to generate these gradients. Enhancements in spatial resolution and measurement efficiency can be achieved by extending the interrogation time limit from  $T_2^*$  to  $T_2$ . Encoding both the magnetic field gradient and the spatial information of spins in phase, the real-space image of the spin distribution can be reconstructed via Fourier transformation. In experimental setups [Fig. 37(c)], the NV magnetic resonance microscope is positioned below a pair of gradient microcoils (metallic wires capable of producing adjustable magnetic field gradients through delivered currents). However, limitations arise due to electric resistance heating, restricting the achieved magnetic field strength to 0.07 mT nm<sup>-1</sup> at an interrogation time  $\tau = 104 \ \mu s$ . This limitation results in a spatial resolution of < 5 nm and a dynamic range of approximately 500 (Arai et al., 2015). When Fourier magnetic imaging is utilized, the magnetic resonance frequency encoding selectively addresses electron spins (Zhang et al., 2017).

### 2. Spin-based gradient magnetic fields

The NV center itself possesses a magnetic electron spin, thus generating a robust magnetic field gradient when in close proximity to a sample. This gradient, produced by the NV center, serves as a field gradient in MRI applications. For an NV center positioned at a depth d, the effective magnetic field gradient [Fig. 38(a)] is described as follows:

$$\left|\frac{\partial(H_{\rm dip}/\gamma_{\rm tar})}{\partial \mathbf{r}}\right| = \frac{3\mu_0\gamma_e\hbar}{4\pi r^4}\sqrt{\cos^2\theta(1+5\cos2\theta)},\quad(71)$$

which is  $\sim 0.1 \text{ mT} \text{ nm}^{-1}$  for a 2-nm-deep NV center.

The NV spin gradient proves useful in detecting nuclear spins, where the target sample is deposited onto the diamond's surface [Fig. 38(a)]. Diverse NV-based NMR techniques such as DD, ENDOR, and HHDR can be applied. In the presence of high-order DD, the NMR signal exhibits apparent inhomogeneous broadening [Fig. 38(a)]. The spatial information of nuclear spins becomes encoded in the frequency shift induced by the NV hyperfine interaction. Although the frequencies of individual nuclei could not be resolved by Müller *et al.* (2014), extracting them is feasible using the superresolution



FIG. 38. Nanoscale resolution MRI of single nuclear spins using the gradient magnetic field of the NV center. (a) Shallow NV center in diamond (2 nm from the surface) coupled with nearby nuclear spins due to hyperfine interaction. The contour lines depict the strength of the effective magnetic gradient experienced by the nuclear spins. (b) Optimal locations of the four most significant contributing nuclear spins (illustrated as colored arcs), as determined through basis pursuit. Each spin's representative position is marked with a filled ball, and the positional uncertainty in the *x* and *z* directions is indicated by the ball's size. The *y*-axis resolution ranges from 0.1 nm for the nearest spin to 0.5 nm for the farthest spin. Adapted from Müller *et al.*, 2014.

capabilities of basis pursuit denoising (Chen, Donoho, and Saunders, 1998). The experimental results display the spectral decomposition of contributing nuclear spins and their hyperfine coupling parameters. It was indicated that four nuclei constituted over 50% of the signal, a size comparable to many chemical functional groups and smaller than a small amino acid. Despite the added complexity, estimating the location of two nuclei is achievable with an uncertainty below 0.2 nm [Fig. 38(b)] (Müller *et al.*, 2014).

Imaging nuclear spins in molecules rather than the sensor background poses an immense challenge due to limitations imposed by diamond and shallow NV centers. Although demonstrated solely in amorphous silica (Müller et al., 2014), the potential applications of NV-based MRI have enabled the analysis of multiple theoretical schemes and demonstrations of the sensor background signal. Several sensing protocols have been proposed to resolve the spatial positions of nuclear spins using one-dimensional or multidimensional NMR methods (Ajoy et al., 2015; Kost, Cai, and Plenio, 2015; Perunicic et al., 2016; Z.-Y. Wang et al., 2016). Beyond the NV gradient, resolving the interaction among nuclear spins allows the distance and direction between nuclear spin pairs to be determined (Zhao et al., 2011; Shi et al., 2014; Kong, Zhou et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). Proof-of-concept experiments have been conducted to demonstrate MRI of the background <sup>13</sup>C nuclear spins in a diamond sensor. Absolute three-dimensional positions of nuclear spins can be determined by manipulating the direction of the external magnetic or spin control field (Zopes, Cujia et al., 2018; Zopes, Herb et al., 2018). However, the coherence time limitation restricts the resolution of these methods, making them suitable only for locating strongly coupled nuclear spins numbering fewer than 10. Cryogenic temperature multidimensional NMR enables MRI of 27 nuclear spins with subangstrom resolution (Abobeih et al., 2019). Recently a new parallel detection technique combining weak quantum measurements, phase coding, and simulated annealing enabled the imaging of more than 20 <sup>13</sup>C nuclear spins within 2.4 nm (equivalent to 5 to 6 nm for <sup>1</sup>H NMR) at ambient temperature, thereby achieving subangstrom resolution. These proof-of-concept imaging techniques using one-dimensional or multidimensional NMR spectroscopy mark a significant breakthrough for the future.

The gradient of the NV or electron spin holds promise for structural analysis through EPR. In traditional EPR, DEER measurements analyze distances between two electron spins, such as in proteins with dual spin labels. Here coupling depends on both the distance and the direction between the labels. Ensemble averaging over all possible directions allows distance to be extracted, a powerful tool for biomolecular structure analysis, especially for biomacromolecules. The NV sensor offers the potential to measure this spin-spin coupling at a single-molecule level. Distance extraction involves repeating measurements with varying directions of the external magnetic field. In traditional EPR, measured distances often have significant variance due to spin label decoherence. In addition, molecular heterogeneity contributes to variance, which is indistinguishable from decoherence. NV EPR might offer more precise distance information due to the unique capabilities of NV-based measurements. This heightened precision could enable the resolution of single-molecule conformational transitions (Munuera-Javaloy et al., 2022).

#### C. Conclusion

In the pursuit of single-molecule MRI using NV centers, the aim is to attain structural resolution for individual molecules. Unlike established techniques like x-ray crystallography or cryoelectron tomography, NV-based MRI needs only a single copy of a molecule. This allows conformational variations among individual molecules to be directly observed, potentially unveiling new insights into their structure and functions. Both liquid and solid-state NMR measurements are feasible with NV centers for structural analysis. Liquid-phase singlemolecule NMR (discussed in Sec. IV.C) relies on effects like the nuclear Overhauser effect, residual dipolar coupling, and paramagnetic relaxation enhancement. Conversely, solid-state single-molecule NMR relies on dipolar interactions between NV centers and nuclear spins or among nuclear spins themselves. The proof-of-concept methods outlined in this section, which employ external gradients or NV-coupled techniques, have achieved resolutions within the angstrom range, thereby meeting the structural resolution requirements. Through cryogenic temperatures or parallel detection methods, proof-of-concept experiments have shown fixed relative positions between NV centers and molecules with subangstrom resolution (Abobeih et al., 2019; Cujia et al., 2022).

Despite some proof-of-concept demonstrations in structural analysis, practical single-molecule measurements under biological conditions pose challenges. The primary hurdles involve sensitivity limitations and stability (Sec. III.F). In real biological settings, maintaining a stable relative position between sample molecules and NV sensors is crucial for achieving high-resolution single-molecule structural analysis. Once the sensitivity challenge is addressed, singlemolecule imaging with less stringent resolution can also be accomplished, thereby complementing single-molecule structural analysis. In comparison to traditional optical superresolution microscopy, NV-based single-molecule imaging offers a simultaneous analysis of individual molecules within *in vivo* biological environments. This includes chemical recognition, single-molecule dynamics, the chemical environment, and chemical reactions. While achieving nuclear spin chemical resolution requires specific conditions, recognizing chemical species within magnetic fields of around  $\sim$ 10 mT is readily feasible.

### VI. SENSOR FABRICATION

This section provides an extensive overview of processing techniques pertinent to NV sensors that encompasses the establishment of NV centers (Sec. VI.A), surface modification (Sec. VI.B), and diamond structure engineering (Sec. VI.C). Given the pivotal role of the NV sensor in NV-based quantum sensing, these techniques are anticipated to address previously highlighted challenges. NV centers are initially formed in diamond through ion implantation or delta doping, which is followed by subsequent annealing. Furthermore, the advantage of an NV sensor lies in its ability to sustain high sensing sensitivity near the surface. Thus, surface treatment methods aid in enhancing coherence time, stabilizing charge states, and facilitating sample assembly. Finally, diamond engineering holds significance. On the one hand, the optical structure enhances optical collection efficiency, thereby elevating readout sensitivity. On the other hand, diamond can be shaped into a probe suitable for relevant sensing tasks.

### A. NV creation

The realization of SSMR relies on NV centers situated several to tens of nanometers below the diamond surface. An NV center comprises a nitrogen atom substituting for a carbon atom alongside a vacancy. Introduction of the nitrogen atom commonly occurs through nitrogen ion implantation or delta doping. The vacancy, which is naturally introduced through ion implantation, can also be incorporated via the delta-doping method using ion implantation, laser writing, or electron irradiation. Subsequent vacuum annealing becomes imperative to amalgamate the vacancy and nitrogen, culminating in the formation of an NV center and bolstering its properties.

Ion implantation is a well-established and pivotal technique for altering the physical or chemical properties of a target sample by accelerating ions of an element into it. Widely employed in semiconductor device fabrication, this method plays a crucial role in quantum device creation to generate shallow NV centers (Pezzagna, Naydenov *et al.*, 2010; Pezzagna *et al.*, 2011; Spinicelli *et al.*, 2011).

In the process, nitrogen ions are introduced into the diamond via low-energy ion bombardment while vacancy creation is concurrently induced [Fig. 39(a)]. To create the shallow NV center essential for single-molecule spectros-copy, N<sup>+</sup> ions typically bombard the diamond with energies ranging between 2 and 8 keV, resulting in mean implantation



FIG. 39. (a) Process for creating an NV center via ion implantation. NV centers are formed through nitrogen ion implantation (with energies ranging from 2 to 50 keV and a density of  $10^8-10^{11}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>), followed by high-temperature annealing (ranging from 600 to 1200 °C). (b) Delta-doping procedure. A thin nitrogen-doped layer (light red) is produced by introducing N<sub>2</sub> gas during the diamond growth process. Subsequently, irradiation via laser, ions, or electrons induces vacancies. Annealing is then performed to generate NV centers.

depths of approximately 2-12 nm. These depths are calculated through stopping and range of ions in matter simulations [Fig. 40(a)]. As the implanted ions collide with the diamond, their energy dissipates, leading to positional deviations in both lateral and longitudinal directions, a phenomenon referred to as straggling. This straggling effect imposes limitations on the spatial resolution achievable in NV sensor fabrication. Nevertheless, various strategies exist to regulate this effect.

The focused ion beam method (Meijer et al., 2005; Lesik et al., 2013; Schröder et al., 2017) offers ion implantation with spatial precision smaller than 50 nm. Enhanced control over implantation location is achievable through the utilization of a nanoporous mask deposited on the diamond during ion implantation. Nanochannels in mica (Neumann et al., 2010; Pezzagna et al., 2011), SiO<sub>2</sub> masks (Toyli et al., 2010), and polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA) masks (Spinicelli et al., 2011) are employed to create NV centers with spatial precision on the order of 10 nm. Combining ion implantation with AFM facilitates the production of NV centers at specific positions with high spatial resolution or the preparation of NV center arrays with distinct patterns. This is achieved by fabricating a nanopore on a piezo-sensitive AFM tip made of silicon nitride (Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>). The tip maneuvers to a specific position, and the nanopore precisely focuses the ion beam to a location with a lateral spatial resolution of a few nanometers (Meijer et al., 2008; Pezzagna, Wildanger et al., 2010; Riedrich-Möller et al., 2015). Depending upon the



FIG. 40. (a) Depth of the implanted ions vs the implantation energy. The blue shadow indicates ion straggling. (b) Yield of the NV centers vs the implantation energy. (b) Adapted from Pezzagna, Naydenov *et al.*, 2010.

longitudinal direction, the ion channeling effect becomes a crucial consideration. Optimal conditions for a [100] diamond surface necessitate a 12°-inclined beam (Raatz *et al.*, 2019).

However, the aforementioned implantation methods rely on a random ion source, which poses challenges for achieving deterministic single ion implantation (Meijer et al., 2006). This limitation in turn restricts the accuracy achievable in quantum sensor fabrication. However, the advent of a deterministic ion source was realized by loading a single lasercooled ion into a linear Paul trap (Alves et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2013; Jacob et al., 2016). Through laser cooling, a single ion is precisely confined to a specific location. By attaining deterministic ion implantation at precise locations, this method ensures minimal charging and irradiation, consequently minimizing damage to the diamond substrate (Groot-Berning et al., 2021). The production of individual NV centers deterministically via this method currently faces limitations due to the creation yield dependency on the need for NV to be bound to a defect alongside nitrogen. Despite this constraint, this approach signifies a crucial stride toward realizing a truly deterministic single NV sensor creation process in the future (Groot-Berning et al., 2021).

Another bottom-up approach involves delta doping [Fig. 39(b)], wherein a minimal quantity of nitrogen is doped during diamond growth using plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD). In this process, a mixture of

CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub> undergoes ionization into plasma by microwaves within the growth chamber. Nitrogen injection for 10 min while the [100]-surface diamond slowly grows at a rate of 8 nm/h results in the growth of a nitrogen layer only a few nanometers thick (Ohno et al., 2012). Research efforts (Fukui et al., 2014a; Lesik et al., 2015; Ozawa et al., 2017) have showcased that the diamond growth process can be conducted on surfaces of orientations other than the [100] surface. Additional defects are introduced through electron irradiation (Ohno et al., 2012; McLellan et al., 2016), ion implantation (Huang et al., 2013; Ohno et al., 2014), or laser writing (Chen et al., 2017). Growth of thin, uniform epitaxial diamond layers facilitates the formation of high-quality, shallow NV centers. Controlling the thickness and density of the nitrogen layer is contingent on the duration of nitrogen injection and the gas flow rate. Maintaining a slow growth rate minimizes defects and strain, thereby ensuring extended coherence times for NV centers. Notably NV centers produced via delta doping consistently exhibit long  $T_2$  coherence times (Ohno *et al.*, 2012; Ohashi et al., 2013; Chandran et al., 2016). Moreover, a preferential orientation of NV centers can be achieved by carefully selecting growth surfaces (Fukui et al., 2014b; Lesik et al., 2014; Michl et al., 2014; Miyazaki et al., 2014; Tahara et al., 2015; Ozawa et al., 2017). However, the delta-doping method, which lacks vacancies, relies on the generation of vacancies through ion or electron irradiation to enhance NV center creation yield, potentially reintroducing other defects (Fávaro de Oliveira et al., 2016; McLellan et al., 2016).

Following ion implantation, the diamond undergoes annealing in a vacuum or forming gas. During this procedure, crystal damage is repaired, and vacancies move randomly until they are captured by nitrogen defects, culminating in the formation of NV centers. To prevent etching of the diamond surface, the vacuum maintains a pressure consistently below  $5 \times 10^{-7}$  mbar (Ofori-Okai *et al.*, 2012; Appel *et al.*, 2016; J. Wang et al., 2016). Annealing temperatures typically range from 800 to 1200 °C, although studies have shown insignificant differences within this range (Appel et al., 2016). Alternatively, employing a forming gas (composed of 4%  $H_2$  in Ar at 8 GPa) serves as a protective measure for the diamond surface during annealing (Santori et al., 2009; Orwa et al., 2011). For optimal annealing under high pressure, temperatures between 900 and 1000 °C prove effective, whereas temperatures exceeding 2000 °C diminish the NV yield (Orwa et al., 2011). The conversion efficiency from implanted nitrogen to NV centers typically remains below 1% for implantation energies below 5 keV, resulting in depths of around 8 nm [Fig. 40(b)] (Pezzagna, Naydenov et al., 2010; Ofori-Okai et al., 2012). Twofold yield improvements have been achieved using boron-doped diamond structures (Fávaro de Oliveira et al., 2017), while dopants like phosphorus, oxygen, and sulfur have enhanced yields by tenfold and correlate with improved coherence times (Lühmann et al., 2019).

#### **B.** Surface modification

Surface treatment holds paramount importance in singlemolecule applications. Diamond is renowned for its chemical inertness, and its surface can be functionalized with diverse groups and attached to various molecules. Numerous coating methods based on surface chemistry have emerged in the realms of physics and biology for both diamonds and nanodiamonds (Krueger, 2008; Krueger and Lang, 2012; Reina *et al.*, 2019; Crawford *et al.*, 2021; James *et al.*, 2021; Jung and Neuman, 2021). In nanoscale sensing applications, the performance of shallow NV centers is notably influenced by the diamond surface. Consequently, surface treatments for diamonds prove beneficial in sample assembly and the enhancement of NV sensor properties.

### 1. Chemical treatment

Apart from dissolving and depositing samples on the diamond surface (Müller et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2015; Schlipf et al., 2017), alternative approaches involve covalent methods (such as carbodiimide cross-linker chemistry and click chemistry) and noncovalent methods (Shi et al., 2018) for immobilizing samples on the diamond surface. The initial step involves surface purification, which is often achieved through wet chemistry methods employing harsh oxidation for surface cleaning. A common procedure involves treating the surface with a boiling mixture of nitric, perchloric, and sulfuric acids in a 1:1:1 volume ratio to restore a pristine diamond surface (Brown et al., 2019). This process effectively removes unwanted graphitic and pyrolytic carbon domains, thereby substantially enhancing coherence times by over an order of magnitude (Lovchinsky et al., 2016). In addition, strongly oxidizing mineral acids, such as the "piranha solution" (a mixture of sulfuric acid and hydrogen peroxide in a 3:1 volume ratio) (Rondin et al., 2010) and a mixture of sulfuric and nitric acids (3:1 volume ratio) (Tu et al., 2006), have found wide usage. These wet chemical treatments introduce diverse oxygen-containing groups, including carboxyl groups, to the surfaces (Lovchinsky et al., 2016; Schlipf et al., 2017). Carboxylated diamond surfaces serve as versatile starting points for subsequent modifications that are required in biological and chemical applications. Silvlation (Grotz et al., 2011) or acylation (Terada et al., 2018) of the diamond surface becomes feasible through the carboxyl surface. Furthermore, activation of carboxyl groups using 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide and N-hydroxysuccinimide allows for the preparation of an aminated diamond surface (Sushkov et al., 2014; Lovchinsky et al., 2016).

The density of carboxyl groups on a carboxylated diamond surface typically remains below a few percentage points (Wolcott et al., 2014). Utilizing plasma treatment to achieve hydrogen termination on diamond surfaces presents a more effective chemical bonding method. Through hydrogen termination, functional groups including carboxylic acid (COOH<sup>-</sup>), hydroxyl (OH<sup>-</sup>) (Navas et al., 2018), hydrogen  $(H^+)$  (Nichols *et al.*, 2005), amino (NH<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) (Zhu *et al.*, 2016), and halide (F<sup>-</sup>) (Rietwyk et al., 2013) can be affixed to the diamond surface. In general, hydrogen-terminated diamonds (Shpilman et al., 2008; Cui et al., 2015) exhibit a more uniform surface than oxygen-terminated diamonds, making them preferable for subsequent chemical modifications. Electrochemical methods (Pinson and Podvorica, 2005; Krysova et al., 2016) and photochemical reactions (Miller and Brown, 1996; Strother et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2002)



FIG. 41. The electron affinity (in eV) and the stability of an NV charge state depend on the diamond surface termination for a shallow NV center. Adapted from Kawai *et al.*, 2019.

offer pathways to synthesize a monolayer comprising  $2 \times 10^{14}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> amino groups or a monolayer ranging between  $10^{12}$  and  $10^{13}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> DNA from an H-terminated diamond surface (Yang *et al.*, 2007).

The stability of shallow NV centers critically hinges on the electron affinity polarity of the diamond surface (Kawai et al., 2019). Hydrogen termination possessing negative electron affinity (Fig. 41) induces surface charge transfer, rendering shallow NV centers unstable [Fig. 42(b)]. Conversely, oxygen or fluorine termination, with positive electron affinity, stabilizes shallow NV centers (Rietwyk et al., 2013; Osterkamp et al., 2015). Despite hydrogen-terminated surfaces exhibiting greater chemical modification efficiency, their unsuitability for NV-based quantum sensing due to instability prompts the exploration of novel modification methods or electrical control (Sec. VI.B.2). Recent advancements involve chemically modifying hybrid diamond surfaces through atomic layer deposition of aluminum oxide (Liu, Henning et al., 2022; Xie et al., 2022) and integration of graphene (Hao et al., 2023). The aluminum oxide monolayer on the diamond surface not only simplifies technical complexities in chemical and optoelectronic applications but also serves as structural support in various catalytic processes (Liu, Henning et al., 2022; Xie et al., 2022).

### 2. Electric control

The NV center, which comprises a substituting nitrogen atom and a vacancy, exhibits noteworthy quantum properties



FIG. 42. Energy band schematic of diamond. (a) Diamond surface with positive electron affinity. The conduction band  $E_{\rm C}$  is below  $E_{\rm vac}$  (O termination, for example). The negatively charged NV<sup>-</sup> center lies beneath the Fermi level  $E_{\rm F}$ . (b) Diamond surface with negative electron affinity. The band levels are shifted up, and the electron in diamond can transfer into the acceptor states on the surface. (c) The band bends due to the effect of electron transfer. The NV center prefers an NV<sup>0</sup> charge state near the surface. (d) A voltage is applied to lift the Fermi energy to control the NV charge state.

when capturing an electron, rendering a stable charge state crucial for NV-based quantum sensing. Surface electric conditions have a significant influence on charge state stability, particularly that affecting shallow NV centers, which frequently encounter charge instability (Dhomkar *et al.*, 2018; Bluvstein, Zhang, and Jayich, 2019). Within a few tens of microseconds of laser shutdown, the NV<sup>0</sup> population rapidly escalates, causing a baseline drop that interferes with  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  measurements, thus compromising sensitivity. Mitigating this instability involves application of a negative voltage to the diamond surface [Fig. 42(d)], thereby stabilizing the NV center's charge state and its ambient environment (Hauf *et al.*, 2014). A robust built-in electric field formed within this stable charge environment sustains NV charge stability even during laser illumination (Bian *et al.*, 2021).

Control over electron affinity comes via the chemical treatment of the diamond surface, while manipulation of negative voltage involves electrodes fabricated on the diamond surface. Electrically tuning the Fermi level facilitates rapid and stable manipulation of the NV charge state. Electric fields can be induced by various means, including electrolyte electrodes (Grotz et al., 2012), p-i-n diode structures (Doi et al., 2014), and in-plane configurations (Hauf et al., 2014; Schreyvogel et al., 2015; Pfender et al., 2017). Alternatively, all-diamond in-plane gates can laterally deplete the conductive channel on a hydrogen-terminated diamond surface instead of using an electrolytic top gate (Hauf et al., 2014; Pfender et al., 2017). While the addition of electrodes augments operational complexity in diamond sensors, it substantially improves quantum sensing by enhancing charge stability in the NV center and its surroundings. Instead of electrodes directly fabricated on the diamond, a conductive scanning tip provides nanoscale spatial precision for charge manipulation (Bian et al., 2021). A stabilized charge environment not only secures the charge state but also extends coherence time by minimizing surface electric field noise effects on shallow NV centers (Zheng, Bian et al., 2022).

Another advantage of charge stabilization lies in reducing sample line broadening under examination. Nonresonant optical readouts of NV centers induce stochastic electron spin and charge state switching, along with photoionization of surface defects, thereby introducing random phase shifts to nearby nuclear spin precessions. While these disturbances minimally impact spectral line broadening at a micrometerscale sensing volume (Glenn *et al.*, 2018), the scenario differs for detecting single or a few nuclear spins, where the coupling between nuclear spins and NV centers surpasses their intrinsic dephasing rate  $1/T_2^*$  (Cujia *et al.*, 2019). Fluctuations in the NV center charge state and diamond surface defects can impede chemical-shift measurement resolution. Electrically stabilizing the NV center's charge state and environmental charges emerges as a promising remedy for this issue.

### C. Diamond engineering

Solid-state quantum sensors necessitate nanofabrication techniques to address requirements for both biological (Shi *et al.*, 2018; P. Wang *et al.*, 2019) and physical (Casola, van der Sar, and Yacoby, 2018) sensing tasks [Fig. 43(a)].



FIG. 43. (a) Diamond fabrication process without alignment. NV centers are created through maskless ion implantation followed by annealing. Subsequently, nanopillar photonic structures are fashioned using EBL and RIE techniques. (b) Illustration of the self-alignment process employed for fabricating photonic structures. A double-layer mask comprising polydimethylglutarimide (PMGI) and PMMA, produced via a single-step EBL process, confines the positions of both the etching resist and the ion implantation region. Nitrogen ions are implanted in the diamond through the PMMA layer mask. Subsequently, the PMGI layer masks are transferred to the etching resist through a lift-off process. This is followed using RIE techniques to produce the photonic structures, which are then annealed to convert the implanted nitrogen ions into NV centers. Adapted from M. Wang *et al.*, 2022.

The NV sensor's functionality involves converting external magnetic fields into fluorescence signals. However, owing to diamond's high refractive index ( $n \approx 2.4$ ), NV center fluorescence faces hindrance from total internal reflection at the interface, a significant limiting factor for magnetic detection sensitivity. Simulations indicate that less than 5% of the fluorescence from diamonds with [100] crystal orientation can escape the diamond-air interface (Siyushev *et al.*, 2010).

Standard "top-down" fabrication methods have been employed to enhance fluorescence collection efficiency from NV centers. These methods include nanopillars (1–5 Mcounts/s) (Babinec *et al.*, 2010; Hausmann *et al.*, 2010; Choy *et al.*, 2011; Neu *et al.*, 2014; Momenzadeh *et al.*, 2015), bull's-eye grating (~2.7 Mcounts/s) (Li *et al.*, 2015), and inverted nanocones (~2.7 Mcounts/s) fashioned with conical Faraday cages for etching direction guidance (Jeon *et al.*, 2020). FIB milling has been utilized for structuring with sizes greater than but similar to micrometer level like SIL (~1 Mcounts/s) (Hadden *et al.*, 2010; Jamali *et al.*, 2014). In addition, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> antireflective coating applications have increased the fluorescence counts to 1.2 Mcounts/s (Robledo, Childress *et al.*, 2011). Larger structures, for example, ~1 mm SIL, are created through laser and mechanical processing stages (Siyushev *et al.*, 2010). Commonly used fabrication methods include the following:

- (i) Standard top-down method. This method involves the fabrication of etching resist masks (such as PMMA or silicon) on diamond surfaces through photolithography or EBL. Subsequently, reactive plasma technology etches the diamond surface to create the desired structures (Babinec *et al.*, 2010; Hausmann *et al.*, 2010; Choy *et al.*, 2011; Neu *et al.*, 2014; Momenzadeh *et al.*, 2015).
- (ii) *FIB milling*. Employing gallium or oxygen ions, this technique directly cuts diamond into desired structures. However, the use of ions in this process can lead to sensor contamination. It finds application in instances such as cutting the diamond holder (Appel *et al.*, 2016) or milling SIL where the ions are distant from the NV center during fabrication.
- (iii) Laser and mechanical processing stages. This technique mills larger diamond structures, such as  $\sim 1 \text{ mm}$  diameter SIL, achieving flatness better than 10 nm (rms) (Siyushev *et al.*, 2010).
- (iv) "Lift-off" technique. High-energy ion implantation creates a buried damage layer within the diamond. After annealing, this layer transforms into graphitic material, easily removable by chemical etching. This method is suitable for producing single-crystal thin diamond membranes (Parikh *et al.*, 1992; Olivero *et al.*, 2005).
- (v) Inductively coupled plasma- (ICP-) RIE technique. Utilizing ArCl<sub>2</sub> plasma, this technique etches diamond into thin membranes without roughening the surface (Friel *et al.*, 2009).

Nanopillars easily integrate with AFM, thereby enhancing scanning magnetic resonance technologies for imaging at nanoscale resolutions (Maletinsky et al., 2012; Grinolds et al., 2014; Appel et al., 2016; Thiel et al., 2019; P. Wang et al., 2019). The ICP-RIE technique is employed to etch away 3 to 4 µm from the diamond surface, thus minimizing mechanical polishing-induced surface damage. Subsequently, NV centers are created via ion implantation and annealing processes (Sec. VI.A). The diamond is further etched to a few micrometers in thickness from the original 50 µm while employing cycling ArCl<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> in the ICP-RIE process. This progression culminates in the creation of diamond sensors featuring a 200-nm-diameter nanopillar on a 500-nm cantilever, accomplished through mutually aligned EBL and ICP-RIE processes (M. Wang et al., 2022). Finally, micromanipulators are used to pick up the diamond sensors and connect them to AFM tips.

The engineering of large-scale photonic devices for multiple quantum sensors relies heavily on accurately aligning NV centers with the optical structures. This alignment significantly impacts the optical photon collection efficiency. One approach involves predetermining the position of the photonic structure through confocal imaging, but this method tends to be intricate and inefficient. Another strategy entails precise ion implantation into the photonic structure and necessitates a specially designed implantation system (Meijer *et al.*, 2008;

Raatz *et al.*, 2019). A recent technique based on a self-aligning strategy [Fig. 43(b)] demonstrated significant improvement in device performance (M. Wang *et al.*, 2022). This method streamlines the process by integrating independent steps (ion implantation and photonic structure lithography) into a single pattern. By doing so, it eliminates alignment inaccuracies and greatly simplifies the design and fabrication processes. This approach, which achieves NV center and photonic structure alignment, has resulted in a saturated photon count rate of 4.7 Mcounts/s (M. Wang *et al.*, 2022).

### VII. CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

This section draws conclusions (Fig. 44) and presents a blueprint (Fig. 45) for single-molecule magnetic resonance spectroscopy. It considers various perspectives, encompassing current achievements, technical gaps, and potential applications (Table IV). In recent decades, the NV center in diamond has emerged as a pivotal physical system in quantum sensing, particularly due to its distinct advantages in magnetometry. Achieving a magnetic field sensitivity of approximately  $1 \text{ nTHz}^{-1/2}$ , along with a spatial resolution of about 10 nm, showcases its capabilities (Zhao et al., 2023). Among magnetometry sensors, SQS exhibits superior performance in sensitivity and spatial resolution, which enables individual spins and molecules to be detected (Mitchell and Palacios Alvarez, 2020). Notably the best sensitivity achieved for SSMR stands at  $0.3\mu_B$  Hz<sup>-1/2</sup> (Shi *et al.*, 2018) for NVcenter-based EPR and 0.06 proton  $Hz^{-1/2}$  (Müller *et al.*, 2014) for NV-based NMR under ambient conditions. Moreover, SSMR's spectral resolution approximately reaches the millihertz level (Boss et al., 2017; Schmitt et al., 2017), with the best linewidth at around the hertz level for NMR (Cujia et al., 2019; Pfender et al., 2019) and the kilohertz level for EPR (Kong et al., 2018). This technique also achieves subnanometer resolution for spatial measurements and is capable of both electron spin (Grinolds et al., 2014) and nuclear spin (Müller et al., 2014), and possibly even subangstrom resolution in future studies (Abobeih et al., 2019).

#### A. Achievements: Quantum sensing outside the diamond

Significant strides have been made in microscale and nanoscale magnetic resonance spectroscopy using SQS in the past decade. Notably advancements in single-molecule EPR and NMR spectroscopy have been reviewed. Five attempts utilizing SQS aimed at achieving magnetic spectroscopy at the single-molecule level. At room temperature, successful single-molecule solid-state NMR spectroscopy has been achieved (Lovchinsky et al., 2016), thereby enabling the recognition and sensing of chemical environments. Both solid-state (Shi et al., 2015) and liquid-state (Shi et al., 2018) single-molecule EPR spectroscopy have been achieved, offering insights into q factors and molecular motion. At cryogenic temperatures, measurements and controls of single-molecule EPR in spin-labeled peptide network (Schlipf et al., 2017) and endofullerene N@C<sub>60</sub> (Pinto et al., 2020) not only demonstrate single-molecule sensing but also hint at controllable quantum devices. Additional nanoscale sensing achievements include NMR spectroscopy of ~10-nm-scale organic

Du et al.: Single-molecule scale magnetic resonance ...



FIG. 44. Various sensing protocols exhibit differing compatibility levels. This evaluation categorizes the compatibility between diverse technologies into three tiers: high, medium, and low. High compatibility signifies technologies that can enhance one other's performance, while medium compatibility indicates the absence of conflict. Low compatibility suggests either an inability to coexist or a severe compromise in performance when the protocols are combined. A comprehensive assessment of the compatibility of different technologies is given in Table V.



FIG. 45. There has been significant advancement in microscale and nanoscale magnetic resonance spectroscopy through the utilization of SQS. Despite these strides, the single-molecule field's progress remains constrained, thus necessitating further development. The primary hindrances impeding advancement revolve around technical gaps that require resolution to enable substantial applications. By amalgamating various SQS technologies, potential solutions arise for addressing several of these technical gaps. The figure delineates the current SQS technology within these categories is discernible by a unique shade corresponding to its color group. Specifically, the red group encompasses quantum sensing technologies such as DEER (Sec. II.A.1), quantum relaxometry (Sec. II.A.2), and NMR methods (Sec. II.B). Green indicates sensitivity enhancement technologies like PL enhancement (Sec. III.C.1), ancilla-assisted readout (Sec. III.C.3), and SCC or photoelectric readout (Sec. III.C.4). The orange group signifies spectral resolution enhancement technologies encompassing ZFEPR (Sec. IV.B.1), Qdyne, or weak measurement (Sec. IV.B.2) and IV.B.3), along with confined-space techniques (Sec. IV.B.4). In addition, blue denotes spatial resolution enhancement technology (Sec. V.B), while purple signifies probe fabrication technology Sec. VI). The second column illustrates the technical gaps within single-molecule technology that can potentially be addressed by combining various SQS techniques. The third column outlines the applications that will potentially be achievable when these technical gaps are overcome.

	Single-molecule EPR spectroscopy	Single-molecule or nanoscale NMR spectroscopy
Achievements: Quantum sensing outside	<ol> <li>Single protein EPR (Shi <i>et al.</i>, 2015)</li> <li>Single DNA EPR (Shi <i>et al.</i>, 2018)</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Single protein NMR (Lovchinsky <i>et al.</i>, 2016)</li> <li>Nanoscale NMR (Mamin <i>et al.</i>, 2013; Staudacher <i>et al.</i>, 2013, 2015)</li> </ol>
diamond	<ol> <li>Single-molecule EPR on molecules that are able to be assembled (Schlipf <i>et al.</i>, 2017; Pinto <i>et al.</i>, 2020)</li> </ol>	3. Nanoscale NMR with chemical resolution (Aslam <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
	4. All-optical quantum relaxometry (Sushkov et al. 2014)	4. NQR on atomically thin material (Lovchinsky et al., 2017)
	er un, 2017)	5. Nanoscale MRI (Müller et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2018)
Technical gaps on sensors	<ol> <li>Fabrication of shallow NV centers with high yi</li> <li>Quantum control, chemical modification, and el</li> <li>Chemical modification and electric control meth</li> <li>Diamond surface functionalization</li> <li>SQS with good quality fabricated in nanodiamond</li> </ol>	eld at fixed locations ectronic control methods to improve the coherence time hods to enhance the charge state stability of the NV center and
Specific technical gaps	<ol> <li>Detection with low laser power</li> <li>Optical stability of spin labels</li> <li>Distance measurements</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Sensing and resolving a single nuclear spin</li> <li>Single-molecule NMR with chemical resolution</li> <li>Single-molecule two-dimensional NMR</li> </ol>
Overall technical gaps	<ol> <li>SSMR on <i>in situ</i> living conditions</li> <li>New methods for high spectral resolution</li> <li>Parallel high-throughput detection methods</li> </ol>	
Potential applications	<ol> <li>Dynamics and structure of single molecule</li> <li>Chemical environment and chemical reaction</li> <li>Quantum information and spintronics</li> <li>MRI of a single cell</li> <li>Medical diagnostics</li> </ol>	

TABLE IV. Summary of the achievements, technical gaps, and potential applications for SSMR.

molecules (Mamin *et al.*, 2013; Staudacher *et al.*, 2013), nanoscale chemical-shift resolving (Aslam *et al.*, 2017), nuclear quadrupole resonance (NQR) on single-layer *h*-BN (Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2017), and nuclear spin position reconstruction (Müller *et al.*, 2014; Yang *et al.*, 2018). These milestones pave the way for advancements in SSMR.

A range of magnetic resonance spectroscopy techniques suitable for single-molecule sensing has been proposed or experimentally confirmed, including DEER (Sec. II.A.1), quantum relaxometry (Sec. II.A.2), DD (Sec. II.B.1), ENDOR (Sec. II.B.2), HHDR (Sec. II.B.3), and twodimensional NMR (Sec. II.B.4). Notable research strides have progressively enhanced the sensitivity (Sec. III), spectral resolution (Sec. IV), and spatial resolution (Sec. V) of SQS. Additionally, chemical modification methods have been employed to optimize sensor performance and molecule stability (Sec. VI.B). Despite these advancements, technical gaps remain and hinder the widespread adoption of SSMR across disciplines.

The amalgamation of existing technologies presents several solutions for bridging technical gaps. However, these technologies are not entirely compatible with one another (Fig. 44). Incompatibilities stem from different underlying mechanisms in each technique. Techniques boasting both single-molecule sensitivity and high spectral resolution are pivotal for structural analysis, molecular dynamics, and biological processes. However, striving for high-resolution spectra often compromises sensitivity. For instance, the ZFEPR method significantly enhances spectral resolution but poses challenges when combined with nuclear-assisted

techniques aimed at increasing sensitivity and reliant on a magnetic field. Nevertheless, it can still be amalgamated with PL enhancement and SCC techniques. While the Qdyne technique does not easily mesh with the NV charge state readout method, it pairs effectively with the ancilla-assisted method, thereby enhancing the NV sensor's spectral resolution without sacrificing sensitivity. Notably linewidth broadening of the target sample plays a crucial role in determining spectral resolution. Further narrowing of the linewidth can be achieved by combining SSMR with homonuclear decoupling techniques (Maurer et al., 2012; Aslam et al., 2017) or nanoscale magic angle spinning techniques (Wood et al., 2018) for solid-state sensing, as well as confined-space methods for liquid-state sensing. Innovative spectral narrowing techniques are imperative for high spectral resolution in single-cell MRI. Subsequently we primarily address technology gaps resolvable by compatible techniques, along with associated scientific goals and future applications (Fig. 45).

### B. Technical gaps on sensors

The quantum sensor acts as the core of quantum sensing by directly impacting critical parameters like sensitivity and resolution [Eqs. (46) and (45)]. The sensitivity of NV sensors relies on their distance from the surface, coherence time, and charge state stability. Enhancing the production yield for shallow NV centers at fixed points is pivotal for facilitating effective preparation of SQS given the current low yield. Furthermore, improving the coherence time of shallow NV centers, which are often inferior to those deeper than 30 nm (Zhao *et al.*, 2023), remains imperative. Surface electric and magnetic noise greatly impact the coherence and charge stability of shallow NV centers. Developing methods that mitigate surface noise, such as surface passivation techniques (Sec. VI.B.1), would augment NV sensor performance in single-cell MRI and high-resolution solid-state sensing. In addition, enhancing the stability of NV charge states under ambient conditions is crucial, especially for liquid-state sensing. Techniques combining ancilla-assisted readout (Shi *et al.*, 2018) with SCC (Boss *et al.*, 2017) show promise in addressing this challenge, maintaining high sensitivity and resolution while stabilizing NV charge states.

### C. Specific technical gaps on single-molecule EPR or NMR

There are several specific technical gaps for singlemolecule EPR spectroscopy, including detection with low laser power, optical stability of spin labels, and distance measurements.

Detection with low laser power. Within the optical confocal system, the power density of the laser on the focal point can reach approximately  $10^5$  W cm<sup>-2</sup>, significantly impacting the stability of molecules and spin labels at room temperature. Hence, mitigating laser-induced damage stands as a pivotal concern for the effective application of single-molecule EPR methods. Addressing this necessitates the development of new detection techniques, with one potential solution being the utilization of SCC or photoelectric detection methods (Sec. III.C.4) to curtail the average laser power.

*Optical stability of spin labels*. An alternative approach to enhance laser stability involves development of radicals that exhibit stability intracellularly under laser irradiation and allow flexible labeling at specific sites. The tetrathiatriaryl-methyl radical (Matsumoto *et al.*, 2004) and transition metallic ions (Zadrozny *et al.*, 2015) emerge as promising candidates.

*Distance measurements.* Employing site-specific spin labeling serves as a conventional EPR technique. Labeling two specific sites of a molecule and discerning the distance between the labeled spins facilitates direct access to structural information that is critical for conducting molecular analyses, studying dynamics, and understanding conformational changes in single molecules. Enhancing spatial resolution may be achievable through methodologies like ZFEPR (Sec. IV.B.1) under single-molecule conditions.

There are also noteworthy technical gaps in single-molecule or nanoscale NMR spectroscopy, encompassing aspects such as sensing and resolving a single nuclear spin, achieving single-molecule NMR with chemical resolution, and executing single-molecule two-dimensional NMR.

Sensing and resolving a single nuclear spin. To scrutinize molecular structure and dynamics at the single-molecule level, the direct detection and resolution of individual nuclear spins via single-molecule NMR techniques stand as imperative requisites. While achieving single nuclear spin sensitivity has been demonstrated (Müller *et al.*, 2014; Sushkov, Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2014; Lovchinsky *et al.*, 2017), detecting a single nuclear spin within an external molecule remains challenging, necessitating more universal protocols and the ability to resolve individual nuclear spins. Single-molecule NMR with chemical resolution. A primary limitation of current single-molecule NMR is its restricted resolution, which constrains the obtainable information on chemical structure and nuclear spin relaxation rates. The resolution of SSMR itself suffices for discerning chemical shifts (Sec. IV.B.2); yet, challenges persist in suppressing molecular diffusion and mitigating the effects of measurement-induced backaction. Solutions to these issues might involve restricting sensing space (Sec. IV.B.4) and implementing weak measurement methods (Sec. IV.B.3). Improving sensitivity is also pivotal for analyzing complex spectral structures.

Single-molecule two-dimensional NMR. Upon addressing the aforementioned challenges, employing two-dimensional NMR spectroscopy becomes feasible for analyzing molecular structures and dynamics (Abobeih *et al.*, 2019; Smits *et al.*, 2019; Yang *et al.*, 2020). Multidimensional NMR spectroscopy is a robust method for determining molecular and protein structures. Previous demonstrations (Müller *et al.*, 2014; Yang *et al.*, 2018; Abobeih *et al.*, 2019) showcased the efficiency of SQS in spatial reconstruction, which will potentially enable three-dimensional singlemolecule imaging of large nuclear spin structures with atomic resolution in the future.

### D. Overall technical gaps

Single-molecule magnetic resonance spectroscopy on in situ living conditions. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy stands among the structural biology techniques, akin to cryoelectron microscopy and x-ray diffraction, enabling molecule detection under loose conditions like in vivo and in situ ones. This capability extends to SSMR, which inherits these features. While single-molecule solid-state quantum sensing typically employs shallow NV centers in bulk diamond, nanodiamonds exhibit no inherent limitations for magnetic resonance techniques at the nanoscale and the single-molecule scale. Notably nanoscale NMR has been conducted using nanodiamonds of approximately 30 nm (Holzgrafe et al., 2020; Qin et al., 2023). Given their compatibility with in vivo conditions (McGuinness et al., 2011), implementing SSMR in aqueous solutions, membranes, and cells represents a significant milestone.

*New methods for achieving high spectral resolution.* Extracting molecular structure and local environment information relies directly on magnetic resonance spectra's structures and line shapes. Therefore, designing new methods and pulsed sequences becomes pivotal to narrow spectral widths and augments the quantum spectrometer's dynamic range. Unlike merely observing single-molecule signals, achieving greater spectral resolution poses a heightened challenge that will necessitate enhanced sensitivity.

Parallel high-throughput detection methods. Expediting sensing procedures entails the simultaneous detection of multiple NV centers through high-throughput detection protocols. Current methods enable parallel measurements of NV centers (Cai *et al.*, 2021); however, improvements in NV center numbers and measurement efficiency remain imperative. Achieving parallel detection of more than 100 NV centers marks a significant milestone requiring an efficient and precise creation of two-dimensional arrays of single NV centers with high yield (Shi *et al.*, 2018; Cai *et al.*, 2021).

#### E. Scientific objectives and potential applications

In recent decades, advancements in single-molecule technologies spanning optical, electric, magnetic, and force-based methods have yielded significant multidisciplinary applications. However, these technologies primarily visualize single molecules under ambient temperatures, particularly *in vivo* conditions, thereby restricting the direct implementation of chemical recognition or spectroscopic research methods to vacuum or low-temperature settings. Enter SQS, specifically the NV center in diamond, which offers the potential and the initial strides toward implementing chemical recognition or spectroscopic analysis at the single-molecule level across diverse conditions. This avenue opens the opportunity for direct observation of each molecule's distinct characteristics and behaviors.

*Dynamics and structure of single molecule*. Understanding the dynamics and structure of molecules at the singlemolecule level within physiological conditions like living cells and cellular membranes remains a crucial pursuit. Fundamental biological mechanisms such as cellular signaling, metabolism, and immune responses rely on the detection of physiological species like free radicals and ions, which demands sensitive and biocompatible sensing methodologies. Establishing a biologically specific and quantitative platform capable of precise sensing and imaging in the local physiological environment is paramount.

Investigations into molecular dynamics benefit significantly from implementing distance measurement and stable EPR techniques. Leveraging distance measurements, a traditional ensemble EPR technology, at the single-molecule level alongside stable EPR technology facilitates probing the dynamics of single molecules, including molecular conformational changes and tumbling. Enabling single-molecule chemicalshift-resolved NMR spectroscopy, coupled with high-resolution NMR, offers insights into nuclear spin relaxation times for tracking dynamics within well-defined functional groups. In addition, direct measurement of chemical bond reorientation becomes feasible through two-dimensional NMR exchange experiments.

The high sensitivity and resolution offered by SSMR across diverse environments present opportunities for structural analysis in solid, liquid, or *in situ* conditions, including living systems. Nanotechnology confinement or chemical modification allows molecules to be assembed with SQS probes. Stable EPR and distance measurement methods aid in gauging distances between molecular sites bearing free-radical electron spin labels in both solid and liquid states. Augmented by chemical-resolved two-dimensional NMR and spin position reconstruction, SQS enables the analysis of single-molecule molecular structures, as evidenced in experiments (Müller *et al.*, 2014; Yang *et al.*, 2018; Abobeih *et al.*, 2019). This potential for analysis signifies a promising direction for future applications.

*Chemical environment and chemical reaction.* The NV center offers another advantage: the capability to conduct quantitative measurements across various physical quantities

that encompass magnetic and electric fields as well as temperature. These measurements enable simultaneous assessments of a diverse range of physiological variables that align with the analysis of single-molecule dynamics and structure. Parameters such as ion concentration, free radicals, biomolecule concentration, pH, and temperature can be concurrently evaluated.

Augmenting single-molecule EPR, single-molecule NMR, and other foundational measurement techniques, the functionalization of diamond surfaces and the implementation of high-throughput detection methods contribute significantly by enhancing measurement efficiency, thus rendering these technologies notably practical. Such physiological measurements extend the capacity for quantitative and single-molecule detection within biological and biochemical processes. This advancement holds promise in addressing critical questions in the fields of biology and medicine, specifically those pertaining to cell signaling, development, and differentiation.

Quantum information and spintronics. Besides biochemical measurements, the hybrid system of biological molecules and quantum sensors offers an avenue for quantum information applications. The proficiency of biology and chemistry in designing and synthesizing new molecules, from small entities to supramolecular assemblies, enables the construction of stable, controllable quantum systems on the nanoscale. Scalable quantum technologies demands an unprecedented blend of precision and complexity. The search for an elementary building block conducive to a scalable quantum network remains challenging. Notably electron and nuclear spins in solids present noteworthy coherence times of up to 6 h (Zhong et al., 2015), with coherent control at gigahertz rates (Fuchs et al., 2009) and both optical (Gruber et al., 1997) and electronic readouts (Bourgeois et al., 2015). However, scaling spin systems to larger arrays is a formidable technical hurdle, as the distances for coupling electron spins via magnetic dipole interactions [below 30 nm (Dolde et al., 2013)] currently surpass reliable top-down nanotechnology. A programmable molecular structure such as sequence-controlled self-assembly of peptides on SQS surfaces (Abb et al., 2016) can effectively span these length scales.

*MRI of single cells.* Intermolecular interactions measurable through EPR and NMR based on SQS hold significance in addressing biological concerns like phase transitions and intracellular organic phase separation. Moreover, enhanced sensitivity of NV centers broadens a single NV center's detection range from tens of nanometers to beyond a micron, thus promising single-cell MRI with a spatial resolution of ~100 nm (Xie *et al.*, 2018).

*Medical diagnostics.* The SQS-based EPR technique, especially quantum relaxometry, has demonstrated partial success in tumor issue sensing (P. Wang *et al.*, 2019; Chen *et al.*, 2022) and in achieving ultrasensitive quantum diagnostics (Miller *et al.*, 2020; Li *et al.*, 2022). Current diagnostic methods concentrate primarily on SQS in nanoparticles. Future advancements, coupled with high-quality nanofabricated sensors and efficient diamond surface functionalization, could lead to single-molecule diagnostics. This could evolve into a practical technology by integrating high-throughput detection methods.

**ENDOR** 

EPR

FIB

HH

ICP

FRET

electron-nuclear double resonance

Hartmann-Hahn double resonance

inductively coupled plasma

fluorescence resonance energy transfer

electron paramagnetic resonance

focused ion beam

Other applications. Beyond SSMR in biology, quantum sensing based on single NV centers has found substantial application in condensed matter physics (Casola, van der Sar, and Yacoby, 2018). Condensed matter physics hosts numerous magnetic or electrically charged quasiparticles (Venema et al., 2016). Nanoscale quantum sensing techniques hold promise in realizing a real-space detection platform (Gross et al., 2017) for spatial correlation 2013). In lution, mic serve as qu across a sciences to

#### LIST OF S

for spatial di	stribution, spectral properties, and real-space	ISC	intersystem crossing
correlation fu	unctions of these quasiparticles (Stano et al.,	MFM	magnetic force microscopy
2013). In add	lition, although they compromise spatial reso-	NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
ution, micror	n- to millimeter-sized ensemble NV centers can	NV	nitrogen vacancy
serve as quan	tum sensors, thereby delivering high sensitivity	ODMR	optically detected magnetic resonance
across a broa	ad range of applications that vary from life	ONP	optically nuclear polarization
sciences to in	dustry (Barry et al., 2020).	PL	photoluminescence
	TOLC AND ADDDULATIONS	QND	quantum nondemolition
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS		Qdyne	quantum heterodyne
AFM	atomic force microscopy	RIE	reactive ion etching
CW	continuous wave	rf	radio frequency
cwODMR	continuous-wave optically detected mag-	SCC	spin to charge
• • • • • • • • • • • • •	netic resonance	SNR	signal-to-noise ratio
counts/s	counts per second	SIL	solid immersion lens
CVD	chemical vapor deposition	SQS	solid-state quantum sensor
DD	dynamical decoupling	SQ	single quantum
DEER	double electron-electron resonance	SSMR	spin-based single-molecule magnetic res-
DNP	dynamical nuclear polarization		onance technologies
DO	double quantum	UHV	ultrahigh vacuum
EBL	electron beam lithography	ZFEPR	zero-field electron paramagnetic resonance
EDMR	electrically detected magnetic resonance	ZPL	zero phonon line

Symbol	Value	Quantity
γe	$-2\pi$ 28.03 GHz T <sup>-1</sup>	gyromagnetic ratio of the electron spin
$\gamma_{\rm NV}$	$-2\pi$ 28.04 GHz T <sup>-1</sup>	gyromagnetic ratio of the NV center spin (Loubser and van Wyk, 1978)
γ <sub>N</sub>	$2\pi$ 3.077 MHz T <sup>-1</sup>	gyromagnetic ratio of <sup>14</sup> N
$N_A$	$6.02214076 \times 10^{23} \text{ mol}^{-1}$	Avogadro constant
$\mathcal{D}$	$2\pi D$	zero-field splitting in the ground state of the NV center
D	2.87 GHz + $C_T \Delta T$	zero-field splitting depending on the temperature $\Delta T$ (with respect to 298 K)
$C_T$	-71.9(0.3) kHz K <sup>-1</sup>	temperature coefficient (Acosta, Bauch et al., 2010; Lourette et al., 2023; Xu et al., 2023)
$d_{\parallel}$	$2\pi (0.35 \pm 0.02) \text{ Hz cm V}^{-1}$	parallel electric dipole moment of the NV center
$d_{\perp}$	$2\pi (17 \pm 3) \text{ Hz cm V}^{-1}$	perpendicular electric dipole moment of the NV center
$\mathcal{P}$	$-2\pi 4.946$ MHz	the <sup>14</sup> N quadrupole coupling (Xie, Zhao et al., 2021)
$A_{\parallel}$	$-2\pi 2.165$ MHz	parallel hyperfine coupling between the NV spin and the adjacent <sup>14</sup> N (Xie, Zhao <i>et al.</i> , 2021)
$A_{\perp}$	-2π 2.633 MHz	perpendicular hyperfine coupling between the NV spin and the adjacent <sup>14</sup> N (Xie, Zhao <i>et al.</i> , 2021)
$a_{\parallel}$		parallel hyperfine coupling between the NV spin and the nuclear spin
$a_{\perp}$		perpendicular hyperfine coupling between the NV spin and the nuclear spin
θ		phase of the control microwave
<i>x</i>	0°	
y y	90°	
$g_s$		response coefficient of the physical quantity $V(t)$ in rad Hz
Н		Hamiltonian in rad Hz
C		PL contrast
T		temperature in kelvin
t T		time in s
$I_{1\rho}$		decay time of the spin-lock sequence
<i>I</i> <sub>1</sub> <i>T</i> *		depolarization time
$I_2$		dephasing time of the Kamsey fringe
12		deconerence time under the Hann-ecno sequence

Symbol	Value	Quantity
$ \frac{t_s}{t_L} \\ \Gamma \\ \Gamma \\ \Gamma_1 \\ \Gamma_2 \\ \Gamma_n \\ \Gamma_p \\ P \\ f_{LO} \\ \Delta f \\ B_0 \\ \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{E} + \boldsymbol{\delta} \\ \mathbf{E} \\ \boldsymbol{\delta} \\ D_{\text{diff}} \\ S(\omega) \\ F_t(\omega) \\ \mathcal{F}(f(t)) $	$(\Pi_{x}, \Pi_{y}, \Pi_{z}) (E_{x}, E_{y}, E_{z}) (\delta_{x}, \delta_{y}, \delta_{z}) (f^{+\infty} f(t) e^{-i\omega t} dt$	interaction time of sensor and the target sampling time $1/f_{LO}$ relaxation rate in Hz depolarization rate $1/T_1$ dephasing rate $1/T_2^*$ intrinsic dephasing rate of nuclear spin optical pumping rate the polarization of the spins frequency in Hz sampling frequency spectral resolution external magnetic field in T effective electric field electric field strain field diffusion coefficient in m <sup>2</sup> Hz noise spectral density in rad Hz filter function Ecurier transformation
$\mathcal{F}_t^{-1}(f(\omega))$	$(1/2\pi)\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty}f(\omega)e^{i\omega t}d\omega$	inverse Fourier transformation
$U_{ m img}$ ${f S}_{ m NV}$ $S_{x,y,z, m NV}$	$\pi_{y} - DD - \pi_{x}$ $(S_{x,NV}, S_{y,NV}, S_{z,NV})$ $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \\ \end{pmatrix}, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \\ \end{pmatrix}, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0$	evolution of the imaginary-component readout $NV^-$ electronic spin operator $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i & 0 \\ i & 0 & -i \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$
$\mathbf{I},  \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{e}}$ $I_{x,y,z},  S_{e,x,y,z}$	$ \begin{array}{c} (I_x, I_y, I_z), (S_{e,x}, S_{e,y}, S_{e,z}) \\ (I_z, I_y, I_z), (S_{e,x}, S_{e,y}, S_{e,z}) \\ 1/2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, 1/2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \end{array} $	$i = 0 \int \left( \begin{array}{c} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{array} \right)^{-1} \int \left( \begin{array}{c} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{array} \right)^{-1/2}$ the spin-1/2 spin operator (nuclear spin or electron spin) $1/2 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Fei Kong, Jia Su, Tianyu Xie, Zhiping Yang, Qi Zhang, and Zhiyuan Zhao for their helpful advice and for revising the manuscript. The authors thank Friedemann Reinhard and Mengqi Wang for feedback and suggestions on the manuscript. This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. T2125011), the CAS (Grants No. YSBR-068 and No. GJJSTD20200001), Innovation Program for Quantum Science and Technology (Grants No. 2021ZD0302200 and No. 2021ZD0303204), the Anhui Initiative in Quantum Information Technologies (Grant No. AHY050000), the New Cornerstone Science Foundation through the Xplorer Prize and the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities, the DFG (Grants No. GRK 2642 and No. FOR 2724), the BW Foundation via the project SPOC, the BMBF via the projects Spinning and QSens, and the EU via the project AMADEUS.

#### APPENDIX A: DERIVATIONS

#### 1. Detection of nuclear spins via dynamical decoupling control

In a spin-bath system comprising an  $NV^-$  spin and  ${}^{13}C$  nuclear spins using the secular approximation, we can express the Hamiltonian as

$$H = -\gamma_n \mathbf{B} \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{I}_i + \mathbf{S} \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbb{A}_i \cdot \mathbf{I}_i$$
$$+ \sum_{i < j} \frac{\mu_0}{4\pi} \frac{\gamma_i \gamma_j \hbar}{r_{ij}^3} \left[ \mathbf{I}_i \cdot \mathbf{I}_j - \frac{3(\mathbf{I}_i \cdot \mathbf{r}_{ij})(\mathbf{r}_{ij} \cdot \mathbf{I}_j)}{r_{ij}^2} \right]$$
$$\approx \omega_L \sum_{i=1}^{N} I_i^z + S_z \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{N} (a_j^{\parallel} I_j^z + a_j^{\perp} I_j^{\perp}).$$
(A1)

The interactions between the nuclear spins  $(H_{dip}^{ij} = \mu_0 \gamma_i \gamma_j \hbar / 4\pi r_{ij}^3)$  can be disregarded when the experimental timescale is smaller than  $1/H_{dip}^{ij}$ , which generally holds for shallow NV centers.

To begin, the NV sensor is initialized into the  $|m_s = 0\rangle$  state; then a  $\pi/2$  pulse transforms it into the superposition state  $|\psi_0\rangle = |+\rangle \equiv (|0\rangle + |1\rangle)/\sqrt{2}$ . Subsequently a series of resonant  $\pi$  microwave pulses (Fig. 46) are applied to the NV<sup>-</sup> sensor with a basic unit as  $\tau/2 - \pi - \tau - \pi - \tau/2$ , where  $\tau$  represents the free evolution time. The overall evolution of the NV-nuclear-spin system

$$U_{\rm DD} = |0\rangle \langle 0| \prod_{i=1}^{N} \exp\left[-i\phi(\hat{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{h}}_{j}^{0})\right] + |1\rangle \langle 1| \prod_{i=1}^{N} \exp\left[-i\phi(\hat{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{h}}_{j}^{1})\right]$$
(A2)



FIG. 46. The effective evolution for nuclear spins under dynamical decoupling controlling. (a) Pulse sequence for a typical dynamical decoupling sequence. The basic unit  $\tau/2 - \pi - \tau - \pi - \tau/2$  repeats for a longer sequence. Complicated sequences are reported in Fig. 25. (b) Pulse sequence for manipulating nuclear spins. (c) Nuclear spin evolution for DD under the resonant condition  $\tau = \tau_0$  shown in the Bloch sphere. Consequently, the nuclear spin will rotate around antiparallel axes  $\hat{\mathbf{n}}_0$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{n}}_1$  for different initial NV<sup>-</sup> electron spin states  $m_s = 0$  and 1.

denotes a rotation of the nuclear spin by an angle  $\phi_i$  around an axis  $\hat{\mathbf{h}}_i^{m_s}$ , depending on the initial NV spin state  $m_s$  (Taminiau *et al.*, 2012). The two axes  $\hat{\mathbf{h}}_i^0$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{h}}_i^1$  lie in the antiparallel direction shown in Fig. 46(b) when the free evolution time meets the resonant condition

$$\tau = \tau_0 = \frac{2\pi}{2(\omega_L + a_i^{\parallel}/2)}$$
(A3)

and the rotation angle

$$\phi \approx \frac{a_j^{\perp}}{\pi} N \tau, \tag{A4}$$

with  $\omega_L \gg a_i^{\parallel}, a_i^{\perp}$ .

The statistical fluctuation signal is independent of the nuclear spin state. For any nuclear spin ensemble state

$$|J\rangle = \alpha_j |h_j^+\rangle + \beta_j |h_j^-\rangle, \tag{A5}$$

the NV<sup>-</sup> spin and nuclear spin system will evolve as

$$\begin{split} |\Psi\rangle &= \prod_{j=1}^{N} U_{\text{DD},j}^{K} |+\rangle_{e} \bigotimes_{J} |J\rangle \\ &= |0\rangle_{e} \bigotimes_{J} (\alpha e^{-i\phi_{j}} |+\rangle + \beta e^{i\phi_{j}} |-\rangle) \\ &+ |1\rangle_{e} \bigotimes_{J} (\alpha e^{i\phi_{j}} |+\rangle + \beta e^{-i\phi_{j}} |-\rangle) \\ &\equiv |0\rangle_{e} |J_{0}\rangle + |1\rangle_{e} |J_{1}\rangle. \end{split}$$
(A6)

Thus, the signal is the projection on  $|+\rangle_e \langle -|_e$ ,

$$\operatorname{Tr}(|+\rangle_{e}\langle+|_{e}|\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}|\langle J_{0}||J_{1}\rangle|^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\prod_{j=1}^{N}\cos 2\phi_{j}$$
$$\approx 1 - \sum_{j=1}^{N}\frac{\phi_{j}^{2}}{4}$$
$$= 1 - \sum_{j=1}^{N}\left(\frac{a_{\parallel}N\tau}{\pi}\right)^{2}. \quad (A7)$$

#### 2. Noise calculation

We assume that the fluorescence photon numbers of  $m_s = 0$ and  $\pm 1$  state are  $n_0$  and  $n_1$ , and that  $p = |\langle \Psi_f \rangle 0|^2 = \cos^2 \phi/2$ is the probability in the  $m_s = 0$  state. According to the Poisson distribution, the probability of finding a photon number is given by

$$P(n) = p \frac{e^{-n_0} n_0^n}{n!} + (1-p) \frac{e^{-n_1} n_1^n}{n!}.$$
 (A8)

Accordingly, the variance of n is expressed as

$$\langle n \rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} nP(n)$$
  
=  $pn_0 + (1-p)n_1$ , (A9)  
 $\langle \Delta n^2 \rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n^2 P(n) - \langle n \rangle^2$ 

$$= p(1-p)(n_0 - n_1)^2 + pn_0 + (1-p)n_1.$$
 (A10)

When one considers the real and imaginary magnetometry for  $\phi \sim 0$  and  $\phi \sim \pi/2$  for the real-component readout,  $\phi \sim 0$ . Thus,

$$\Delta \phi^2 = \frac{\sqrt{\langle \Delta n^2 \rangle}}{|d\langle \hat{n} \rangle / d\phi^2|}$$
$$= \frac{4\sqrt{n_0}}{n_0 - n_1}.$$
(A11)

For  $\phi \sim \pi/2$ , the normalized noise is

$$\Delta \phi = \frac{\sqrt{\langle \Delta n^2 \rangle}}{|d\langle \hat{n} \rangle / d\phi|}$$
$$= \sqrt{1 + \frac{2(n_0 + n_1)}{(n_0 - n_1)^2}}.$$
(A12)

#### **APPENDIX B: TECHNOLOGY COMPATIBILITY**

Here we primarily evaluate the compatibility of different technologies, supporting Fig. 44 in the main text. The focus is placed on the middle and low compatibility scenarios depicted in Fig. 44. Compatible and previously achieved cases are not discussed here. For simplicity, the compatibility of PL enhancement and surface treatment with other methods are both omitted. In addition, certain judgments regarding compatibility are experientially based on the authors' decisions.

TABLE V. Evaluation of the compatibility of different technologies depicted in Fig. 44.

Method	Method(s)	Compatible level
DD method	Relaxometry	Low (The relaxometry method relies on the polarization of target spins, whereas the DD method utilizes coherence. Furthermore, the experimental sequences employed for the two methods differ significantly.)
	HHDR	Low (HHDR necessitates continuous driving of the target spins, whereas the DD method operates on a pulsed sequence.)
	2D NMR	Abobeih et al. (2019) and Yang et al. (2020)
	Ancilla assisted	Lovchinsky <i>et al.</i> (2016)
	Charge read ZFEPR	Jaskula <i>et al.</i> (2019) Low (The DD method necessitates a magnetic field to eliminate the degeneracy of the electron spin state, a requirement that conflicts with the zero-field prerequisite of ZFEPR.)
	Correlation or Qdyne	Laraoui et al. (2013), Boss et al. (2017), and Schmitt et al. (2017)
	Backaction	Cujia et al. (2019)
	Confined space	Liu, Ma <i>et al.</i> (2022)
	Scanning probe Magnetic gradient	Luan <i>et al.</i> (2015) Müller <i>et al.</i> (2014) and Arai <i>et al.</i> (2015)
Relaxometry	HHDR 2D NMR	Low (HHDR and relaxometry methods utilize different control methods.) Low (Relaxometry lacks the capacity to disclose information such as the chemical shifts and <i>J</i> coupling of target spins, which is of concern in 2D NMR due to the high spectral resolution required.)
	Charge read ZFEPR	<ul> <li>Andersen <i>et al.</i> (2019)</li> <li>Middle (Although the combination of these two methods is not challenging in principle, it does not offer any particular advantages.)</li> </ul>
	Correlation or Qdyne Backaction Scanning probe Magnetic gradient	Low (The correlation or Qdyne and relaxometry methods utilize different control methods.) Middle (The backaction method is not helpful in relaxometry measurements.) P. Wang <i>et al.</i> (2019) Rodenstadt <i>et al.</i> (2018)
нник	Correlation or Qdyne	Low (Correlation and Qdyne rely on the transverse coupling between the target spins and sensor $S_z I_x$ , whereas HHDR utilizes longitudinal coupling $S_z I_z$ .)
	Backaction	Middle (Backaction does not contribute significantly to HHDR measurements.)
2D NMR	ZFEPR Correlation or Qdyne	Low (The detection targets are different.) Abobeih <i>et al.</i> (2019) and Yang <i>et al.</i> (2020)
Ancilla assisted	Charge read ZFEPR	Middle (Currently sensitivity cannot be improved by combining these two methods.) Low (ZFEPR requires zero magnetic field, while ancilla-assisted readout requires a certain magnetic field for proper readout fidelity.)
	Correlation or Qdyne	Aslam <i>et al.</i> (2017)
ZF-EPR	Correlation or Qdyne Backaction	Kong, Zhao <i>et al.</i> (2020) Low (Performing weak measurements that prevent backaction of nuclear spins at zero magnetic field is abalanging.)
	Magnetic gradient	Low (The magnetic field requirements are in conflict with the ZFEPR method.)
Correlation or Qdyne	Backaction Confined space	Cujia <i>et al.</i> (2019) Liu, Ma <i>et al.</i> (2022)
Confined space	Scanning probe	Low (The confined-space method confines the target sample to a nanoscale region, thereby obviating the need for scanning.)
	Magnetic gradient	Low (This confined-space method already limits the target sample to a nanoscale region, thereby eliminating the need for a magnetic gradient to achieve high spatial resolution.)

### REFERENCES

- Abb, S., L. Harnau, R. Gutzler, S. Rauschenbach, and K. Kern, 2016, Nat. Commun. 7, 10335.
- Abobeih, M. H., J. Randall, C. E. Bradley, H. P. Bartling, M. A. Bakker, M. J. Degen, M. Markham, D. J. Twitchen, and T. H. Taminiau, 2019, Nature (London) **576**, 411.
- Abragam, A., 1983, *The Principles of Nuclear Magnetism* (Clarendon Press, Oxford).
- Acosta, V.M., E. Bauch, M.P. Ledbetter, A. Waxman, L.-S. Bouchard, and D. Budker, 2010, Phys. Rev. Lett. **104**, 070801.
- Acosta, V. M., A. Jarmola, E. Bauch, and D. Budker, 2010, Phys. Rev. B 82, 201202.
- Aharonov, Y., D. Z. Albert, and L. Vaidman, 1988, Phys. Rev. Lett. **60**, 1351.
- Ajoy, A., U. Bissbort, M. D. Lukin, R. L. Walsworth, and P. Cappellaro, 2015, Phys. Rev. X 5, 011001.
- Alivisatos, P., 2004, Nat. Biotechnol. 22, 47.
- Alves, A. D. C., J. Newnham, J. A. van Donkelaar, S. Rubanov, J. C. McCallum, and D. N. Jamieson, 2013, Nanotechnology 24, 145304.

Andersen, T. I., et al., 2019, Science 364, 154.

- Angerer, A., T. Nöbauer, G. Wachter, M. Markham, A. Stacey, J. Majer, J. Schmiedmayer, and M. Trupke, 2015, arXiv:1509.01637.
- Appel, P., E. Neu, M. Ganzhorn, A. Barfuss, M. Batzer, M. Gratz, A. Tschöpe, and P. Maletinsky, 2016, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 87, 063703.
- Aradhya, S. V., and L. Venkataraman, 2013, Nat. Nanotechnol. 8, 399.
- Arai, K., C. Belthangady, H. Zhang, N. Bar-Gill, S. J. DeVience, P. Cappellaro, A. Yacoby, and R. L. Walsworth, 2015, Nat. Nanotechnol. 10, 859.
- Ardenkjær-Larsen, J. H., B. Fridlund, A. Gram, G. Hansson, L. Hansson, M. H. Lerche, R. Servin, M. Thaning, and K. Golman, 2003, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 10158.
- Arunkumar, N., et al., 2021, PRX Quantum 2, 010305.
- Ashkin, A., J. M. Dziedzic, J. E. Bjorkholm, and S. Chu, 1986, Opt. Lett. 11, 288.
- Aslam, N., G. Waldherr, P. Neumann, F. Jelezko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2013, New J. Phys. **15**, 013064.
- Aslam, N., et al., 2017, Science 357, 67.
- Atodiresei, N., J. Brede, P. Lazić, V. Caciuc, G. Hoffmann, R. Wiesendanger, and S. Blügel, 2010, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 066601.
- Babinec, T. M., B. J. M. Hausmann, M. Khan, Y. Zhang, J. R. Maze, P. R. Hemmer, and M. Loncar, 2010, Nat. Nanotechnol. 5, 195.
- Bader, K., M. Winkler, and J. van Slageren, 2016, Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) **52**, 3623.
- Balasubramanian, G., et al., 2008, Nature (London) 455, 648.
- Balasubramanian, G., et al., 2009, Nat. Mater. 8, 383.
- Bansal, R. C., F. J. Vastola, and P. L. Walker, 1972, Carbon 10, 443.
- Bar-Gill, N., L. M. Pham, A. Jarmola, D. Budker, and R. L. Walsworth, 2013, Nat. Commun. 4, 1743.
- Barry, J. F., J. M. Schloss, E. Bauch, M. J. Turner, C. A. Hart, L. M. Pham, and R. L. Walsworth, 2020, Rev. Mod. Phys. **92**, 015004.
- Barry, J. F., M. J. Turner, J. M. Schloss, D. R. Glenn, Y. Song, M. D. Lukin, H. Park, and R. L. Walsworth, 2016, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 113, 14133.
- Barton, J., et al., 2020, ACS Nano 14, 12938.
- Bassett, L. C., F. J. Heremans, D. J. Christle, C. G. Yale, G. Burkard, B. B. Buckley, and D. D. Awschalom, 2014, Science 345, 1333.
- Batalov, A., V. Jacques, F. Kaiser, P. Siyushev, P. Neumann, L. J. Rogers, R. L. McMurtrie, N. B. Manson, F. Jelezko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2009, Phys. Rev. Lett. **102**, 195506.
- Bauch, E., et al., 2020, Phys. Rev. B 102, 134210.
- Belthangady, C., N. Bar-Gill, L. M. Pham, K. Arai, D. Le Sage, P. Cappellaro, and R. L. Walsworth, 2013, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 157601.
- Bermudez, A., F. Jelezko, M. B. Plenio, and A. Retzker, 2011, Phys. Rev. Lett. **107**, 150503.
- Bernien, H., et al., 2013, Nature (London) 497, 86.
- Betzig, E., and R. J. Chichester, 1993, Science 262, 1422.
- Betzig, E., G. H. Patterson, R. Sougrat, O. W. Lindwasser, S. Olenych, J. S. Bonifacino, M. W. Davidson, J. Lippincott-Schwartz, and H. F. Hess, 2006, Science 313, 1642.
- Bian, K., W. Zheng, X. Zeng, X. Chen, R. Stöhr, A. Denisenko, S. Yang, J. Wrachtrup, and Y. Jiang, 2021, Nat. Commun. 12, 2457.
- Binnig, G., H. Rohrer, C. Gerber, and E. Weibel, 1982, Appl. Phys. Lett. **40**, 178.
- Bloembergen, N., and R. V. Pound, 1954, Phys. Rev. 95, 8.
- Blok, M. S., C. Bonato, M. L. Markham, D. J. Twitchen, V. V. Dobrovitski, and R. Hanson, 2014, Nat. Phys. **10**, 189.
- Bluvstein, D., Z. Zhang, and A. C. B. Jayich, 2019, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 076101.
- Bluvstein, D., Z. Zhang, C. A. McLellan, N. R. Williams, and A. C. B. Jayich, 2019, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**, 146804.

- Bodenstedt, S., I. Jakobi, J. Michl, I. Gerhardt, P. Neumann, and J. Wrachtrup, 2018, Nano Lett. 18, 5389.
- Bogle, G. S., H. F. Symmons, V. R. Burgess, and J. V. Sierins, 1961, Proc. Phys. Soc. London 77, 561.
- Borbat, P. P., 2001, Science 291, 266.
- Bose, S., 2003, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 207901.
- Boss, J. M., K. Chang, J. Armijo, K. Cujia, T. Rosskopf, J. R. Maze, and C. L. Degen, 2016, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**, 197601.
- Boss, J. M., K. S. Cujia, J. Zopes, and C. L. Degen, 2017, Science **356**, 837.
- Bourgeois, E., M. Gulka, and M. Nesladek, 2020, Adv. Opt. Mater. 8, 1902132.
- Bourgeois, E., A. Jarmola, P. Siyushev, M. Gulka, J. Hruby, F. Jelezko, D. Budker, and M. Nesladek, 2015, Nat. Commun. 6, 8577.
- Bourgeois, E., et al., 2021, Semicond. Semimetals, 104, 105.
- Bramley, R., 1986, Int. Rev. Phys. Chem. 5, 211.
- Bramley, R., and S. J. Strach, 1983, Chem. Rev. 83, 49.
- Branton, D., et al., 2008, Nat. Biotechnol. 26, 1146.
- Brede, J., N. Atodiresei, S. Kuck, P. Lazić, V. Caciuc, Y. Morikawa, G. Hoffmann, S. Blügel, and R. Wiesendanger, 2010, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 047204.
- Brenneis, A., L. Gaudreau, M. Seifert, H. Karl, M. S. Brandt, H. Huebl, J. A. Garrido, F. H. L. Koppens, and A. W. Holleitner, 2015, Nat. Nanotechnol. 10, 135.
- Brown, K. J., E. Chartier, E. M. Sweet, D. A. Hopper, and L. C. Bassett, 2019, J. Chem. Health Saf. 26, 40.
- Bucher, D. B., D. R. Glenn, H. Park, M. D. Lukin, and R. L. Walsworth, 2020, Phys. Rev. X 10, 021053.
- Buckley, B. B., G. D. Fuchs, L. C. Bassett, and D. D. Awschalom, 2010, Science **330**, 1212.
- Cai, J., F. Jelezko, M. B. Plenio, and A. Retzker, 2013, New J. Phys. 15, 013020.
- Cai, J., A. Retzker, F. Jelezko, and M. B. Plenio, 2013, Nat. Phys. 9, 168.
- Cai, M., Z. Guo, F. Shi, C. Li, M. Wang, W. Ji, P. Wang, and J. Du, 2021, Rev. Sci. Instrum. **92**, 045107.
- Capponi, S., S. Napolitano, N. R. Behrnd, G. Couderc, J. Hulliger, and M. Wübbenhorst, 2010, J. Phys. Chem. C 114, 16696.
- Casola, F., T. van der Sar, and A. Yacoby, 2018, Nat. Rev. Mater. **3**, 1.
- Chandran, M., S. Michaelson, C. Saguy, and A. Hoffman, 2016, Appl. Phys. Lett. **109**, 221602.
- Chen, F., J. Hihath, Z. Huang, X. Li, and N. Tao, 2007, Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 58, 535.
- Chen, S., *et al.*, 2022, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **119**, e2118876119.
- Chen, S. S., D. L. Donoho, and M. A. Saunders, 1998, SIAM J. Sci. Comput. **20**, 33.
- Chen, Y.-C., et al., 2017, Nat. Photonics 11, 77.
- Choi, B.-Y., S.-J. Kahng, S. Kim, H. Kim, H. W. Kim, Y. J. Song, J. Ihm, and Y. Kuk, 2006, Phys. Rev. Lett. **96**, 156106.
- Choi, T., W. Paul, S. Rolf-Pissarczyk, A. J. Macdonald, F. D. Natterer, K. Yang, P. Willke, C. P. Lutz, and A. J. Heinrich, 2017, Nat. Nanotechnol. **12**, 420.
- Choy, J. T., B. J. M. Hausmann, T. M. Babinec, I. Bulu, M. Khan, P. Maletinsky, A. Yacoby, and M. Loncar, 2011, Nat. Photonics **5**, 738.
- Chu, Y., et al., 2014, Nano Lett. 14, 1982.
- Claridge, S. A., S. L. Goh, J. M. J. Fréchet, S. C. Williams, C. M. Micheel, and A. P. Alivisatos, 2005, Chem. Mater. **17**, 1628.
- Cohen, D., R. Nigmatullin, M. Eldar, and A. Retzker, 2020, Adv. Quantum Technol. **3**, 2000019.
- Coronado, E., 2020, Nat. Rev. Mater. 5, 87.

- Crampton, N., and D. J. Brockwell, 2010, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 20, 508.
- Crawford, K. G., I. Maini, D. A. Macdonald, and D. A. J. Moran, 2021, Prog. Surf. Sci. **96**, 100613.
- Cui, S., A. S. Greenspon, K. Ohno, B. A. Myers, A. C. B. Jayich, D. D. Awschalom, and E. L. Hu, 2015, Nano Lett. 15, 2887.
- Cujia, K. S., J. M. Boss, K. Herb, J. Zopes, and C. L. Degen, 2019, Nature (London) **571**, 230.
- Cujia, K. S., K. Herb, J. Zopes, J. M. Abendroth, and C. L. Degen, 2022, Nat. Commun. 13, 1260.
- Cywiński, Ł., R. M. Lutchyn, C. P. Nave, and S. Das Sarma, 2008, Phys. Rev. B 77, 174509.
- Dai, M., R. Jungmann, and P. Yin, 2016, Nat. Nanotechnol. 11, 798.
- Degen, C. L., 2008, Appl. Phys. Lett. 92, 243111.
- Degen, C. L., M. Poggio, H. J. Mamin, C. T. Rettner, and D. Rugar, 2009, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 1313.
- Degen, C. L., F. Reinhard, and P. Cappellaro, 2017, Rev. Mod. Phys. **89**, 035002.
- Dekker, C., 2007, Nat. Nanotechnol. 2, 209.
- de Lange, G., T. van der Sar, M. Blok, Z.-H. Wang, V. Dobrovitski, and R. Hanson, 2012, Sci. Rep. 2, 382.
- de Lange, G., Z. H. Wang, D. Ristè, V. V. Dobrovitski, and R. Hanson, 2010, Science **330**, 60.
- DeVience, S. J., et al., 2015, Nat. Nanotechnol. 10, 129.
- Dey, S., et al., 2021, Nat. Rev. Methods Primers 1, 1.
- Dhomkar, S., H. Jayakumar, P. R. Zangara, and C. A. Meriles, 2018, Nano Lett. **18**, 4046.
- Doherty, M. W., N. B. Manson, P. Delaney, F. Jelezko, J. Wrachtrup, and L. C. Hollenberg, 2013, Phys. Rep. 528, 1.
- Doi, Y., et al., 2014, Phys. Rev. X 4, 011057.
- Dolde, F., I. Jakobi, B. Naydenov, N. Zhao, S. Pezzagna, C. Trautmann, J. Meijer, P. Neumann, F. Jelezko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2013, Nat. Phys. 9, 139.
- Dolde, F., et al., 2011, Nat. Phys. 7, 459.
- Dréau, A., P. Spinicelli, J. R. Maze, J.-F. Roch, and V. Jacques, 2013, Phys. Rev. Lett. **110**, 060502.
- Du, C., et al., 2017, Science 357, 195.
- Durkan, C., and M. E. Welland, 2002, Appl. Phys. Lett. 80, 458.
- Elzerman, J. M., R. Hanson, L. H. Willems van Beveren, B. Witkamp, L. M. K. Vandersypen, and L. P. Kouwenhoven, 2004, Nature (London) **430**, 431.
- Ermakova, A., et al., 2013, Nano Lett. 13, 3305.
- Ernst, S., D. M. Irber, A. M. Waeber, G. Braunbeck, and F. Reinhard, 2019, ACS Photonics **6**, 327.
- Facchi, P., D. A. Lidar, and S. Pascazio, 2004, Phys. Rev. A 69, 032314.
- Fanchini, F. F., J. E. M. Hornos, and R. d. J. Napolitano, 2007, Phys. Rev. A **75**, 022329.
- Fang, K., V. M. Acosta, C. Santori, Z. Huang, K. M. Itoh, H. Watanabe, S. Shikata, and R. G. Beausoleil, 2013, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 130802.
- Fávaro de Oliveira, F., D. Antonov, Y. Wang, P. Neumann, S. A. Momenzadeh, T. Häußermann, A. Pasquarelli, A. Denisenko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2017, Nat. Commun. 8, 15409.
- Fávaro de Oliveira, F., S. A. Momenzadeh, D. Antonov, J. Scharpf, C. Osterkamp, B. Naydenov, F. Jelezko, A. Denisenko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2016, Nano Lett. 16, 2228.
- Feldkamp, U., and C. M. Niemeyer, 2006, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 45, 1856.
- Feng, X., W.-H. Leong, K. Xia, C.-F. Liu, G.-Q. Liu, T. Rendler, J. Wrachtrup, R.-B. Liu, and Q. Li, 2021, Nano Lett. 21, 3393.
- Feringa, B. L., R. A. van Delden, N. Koumura, and E. M. Geertsema, 2000, Chem. Rev. **100**, 1789.

Fernández-Acebal, P., et al., 2018, Nano Lett. 18, 1882.

- Finkler, A., Y. Segev, Y. Myasoedov, M. L. Rappaport, L. Ne'eman, D. Vasyukov, E. Zeldov, M. E. Huber, J. Martin, and A. Yacoby, 2010, Nano Lett. 10, 1046.
- Friel, I., S. L. Clewes, H. K. Dhillon, N. Perkins, D. J. Twitchen, and G. A. Scarsbrook, 2009, Diamond Relat. Mater. 18, 808.
- Fu, A., C. M. Micheel, J. Cha, H. Chang, H. Yang, and A. P. Alivisatos, 2004, J. Am. Chem. Soc. **126**, 10832.
- Fu, K.-M. C., C. Santori, P. E. Barclay, L. J. Rogers, N. B. Manson, and R. G. Beausoleil, 2009, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 256404.
- Fuchs, G. D., V. V. Dobrovitski, D. M. Toyli, F. J. Heremans, and D. D. Awschalom, 2009, Science **326**, 1520.
- Fuchs, G. D., V. V. Dobrovitski, D. M. Toyli, F. J. Heremans, C. D. Weis, T. Schenkel, and D. D. Awschalom, 2010, Nat. Phys. 6, 668.
- Fujisaku, T., R. Tanabe, S. Onoda, R. Kubota, T. F. Segawa, F. T.-K. So, T. Ohshima, I. Hamachi, M. Shirakawa, and R. Igarashi, 2019, ACS Nano 13, 11726.
- Fukui, T., et al., 2014a, Appl. Phys. Express 7, 055201.
- Fukui, T., et al., 2014b, Appl. Phys. Express 7, 055201.
- Gaita-Ariño, A., F. Luis, S. Hill, and E. Coronado, 2019, Nat. Chem. 11, 301.
- Gajan, D., et al., 2014, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 14693.
- Gali, A., M. Fyta, and E. Kaxiras, 2008, Phys. Rev. B 77, 155206.
- Giepmans, B. N. G., S. R. Adams, M. H. Ellisman, and R. Y. Tsien, 2006, Science **312**, 217.
- Giessibl, F. J., 2003, Rev. Mod. Phys. 75, 949.
- Giljohann, D. A., D. S. Seferos, W. L. Daniel, M. D. Massich, P. C. Patel, and C. A. Mirkin, 2010, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **49**, 3280. Glaeser, R. M., 1985, Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. **36**, 243.
- Glenn, D. R., D. B. Bucher, J. Lee, M. D. Lukin, H. Park, and R. L. Walsworth, 2018, Nature (London) 555, 351.
- Glover, P., and S. P. Mansfield, 2002, Rep. Prog. Phys. 65, 1489.
- Goldman, M. L., M. W. Doherty, A. Sipahigil, N. Y. Yao, S. D. Bennett, N. B. Manson, A. Kubanek, and M. D. Lukin, 2015, Phys. Rev. B **91**, 165201.
- Goldman, M. L., A. Sipahigil, M. W. Doherty, N. Y. Yao, S. D. Bennett, M. Markham, D. J. Twitchen, N. B. Manson, A. Kubanek, and M. D. Lukin, 2015, Phys. Rev. Lett. **114**, 145502.
- Goldstein, G., P. Cappellaro, J. R. Maze, J. S. Hodges, L. Jiang, A. S. Sørensen, and M. D. Lukin, 2011, Phys. Rev. Lett. **106**, 140502.
- Gopinath, A., E. Miyazono, A. Faraon, and P. W. K. Rothemund, 2016, Nature (London) 535, 401.
- Gorrini, F., et al., 2019, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 11, 24412.
- Graham, M. J., J. M. Zadrozny, M. S. Fataftah, and D. E. Freedman, 2017, Chem. Mater. **29**, 1885.
- Greenberg, Y. S., 1998, Rev. Mod. Phys. 70, 175.
- Grier, D. G., 2003, Nature (London) 424, 810.
- Griesinger, C., M. Bennati, H. M. Vieth, C. Luchinat, G. Parigi, P. Höfer, F. Engelke, S. J. Glaser, V. Denysenkov, and T. F. Prisner, 2012, Prog. Nucl. Magn. Reson. Spectrosc. 64, 4.
- Grinolds, M. S., S. Hong, P. Maletinsky, L. Luan, M. D. Lukin, R. L. Walsworth, and A. Yacoby, 2013, Nat. Phys. 9, 215.
- Grinolds, M. S., P. Maletinsky, S. Hong, M. D. Lukin, R. L. Walsworth, and A. Yacoby, 2011, Nat. Phys. 7, 687.
- Grinolds, M. S., M. Warner, K. De Greve, Y. Dovzhenko, L. Thiel, R. L. Walsworth, S. Hong, P. Maletinsky, and A. Yacoby, 2014, Nat. Nanotechnol. 9, 279.
- Groen, J. P., D. Ristè, L. Tornberg, J. Cramer, P. C. de Groot, T. Picot, G. Johansson, and L. DiCarlo, 2013, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 090506.
- Groot-Berning, K., G. Jacob, C. Osterkamp, F. Jelezko, and F. Schmidt-Kaler, 2021, New J. Phys. 23, 063067.
- Gross, I., et al., 2017, Nature (London) 549, 252.

- Gross, L., F. Mohn, N. Moll, P. Liljeroth, and G. Meyer, 2009, Science **325**, 1110.
- Grotz, B., et al., 2011, New J. Phys. 13, 055004.
- Grotz, B., et al., 2012, Nat. Commun. 3, 729.
- Gruber, A., A. Dräbenstedt, C. Tietz, L. Fleury, J. Wrachtrup, and C. von Borczyskowski, 1997, Science 276, 2012.
- Gulka, M., D. Wirtitsch, V. Ivády, J. Vodnik, J. Hruby, G. Magchiels, E. Bourgeois, A. Gali, M. Trupke, and M. Nesladek, 2021, Nat. Commun. 12, 4421.
- Gulka, M., et al., 2017, Phys. Rev. Appl. 7, 044032.
- Gupta, A., L. Hacquebard, and L. Childress, 2016, J. Opt. Soc. Am. B **33**, B28.
- Häberle, T., D. Schmid-Lorch, F. Reinhard, and J. Wrachtrup, 2015, Nat. Nanotechnol. **10**, 125.
- Hadden, J. P., J. P. Harrison, A. C. Stanley-Clarke, L. Marseglia, Y.-L. D. Ho, B. R. Patton, J. L. O'Brien, and J. G. Rarity, 2010, Appl. Phys. Lett. 97, 241901.
- Hall, L. T., C. D. Hill, J. H. Cole, B. Städler, F. Caruso, P. Mulvaney, J. Wrachtrup, and L. C. L. Hollenberg, 2010, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107, 18777.
- Hall, L. T., P. Kehayias, D. A. Simpson, A. Jarmola, A. Stacey, D. Budker, and L. C. L. Hollenberg, 2016, Nat. Commun. 7, 10211.
- Hanson, R., V. V. Dobrovitski, A. E. Feiguin, O. Gywat, and D. D. Awschalom, 2008, Science 320, 352.
- Hao, Y., et al., 2023, arXiv:2305.09540.
- Happer, W., 1972, Rev. Mod. Phys. 44, 169.
- Hartmann, S. R., and E. L. Hahn, 1962, Phys. Rev. 128, 2042.
- Hatridge, M., et al., 2013, Science 339, 178.
- Hauf, M. V., et al., 2014, Nano Lett. 14, 2359.
- Hausmann, B. J. M., M. Khan, Y. Zhang, T. M. Babinec, K. Martinick, M. McCutcheon, P. R. Hemmer, and M. Loncar, 2010, Diamond Relat. Mater. 19, 621.
- Healey, A., L. Hall, G. White, T. Teraji, M.-A. Sani, F. Separovic, J.-P. Tetienne, and L. Hollenberg, 2021, Phys. Rev. Appl. 15, 054052.
- Heath, J. R., 2009, Annu. Rev. Mater. Res. 39, 1.
- Hedrich, N., D. Rohner, M. Batzer, P. Maletinsky, and B. J. Shields, 2020, Phys. Rev. Appl. 14, 064007.
- Hell, S. W., and J. Wichmann, 1994, Opt. Lett. 19, 780.
- Hensen, B., et al., 2015, Nature (London) 526, 682.
- Herbschleb, E. D., et al., 2019, Nat. Commun. 10, 3766.
- Holzgrafe, J., Q. Gu, J. Beitner, D. M. Kara, H. S. Knowles, and M. Atatüre, 2020, Phys. Rev. Appl. **13**, 044004.
- Hopper, D. A., R. R. Grote, A. L. Exarhos, and L. C. Bassett, 2016, Phys. Rev. B **94**, 241201.
- Hopper, D. A., R. R. Grote, S. M. Parks, and L. C. Bassett, 2018, ACS Nano 12, 4678.
- Hopper, D. A., J. D. Lauigan, T.-Y. Huang, and L. C. Bassett, 2020, Phys. Rev. Appl. **13**, 024016.
- Hopper, D. A., H. J. Shulevitz, and L. C. Bassett, 2018, Micromachines 9, 437.
- Hrubesch, F. M., G. Braunbeck, M. Stutzmann, F. Reinhard, and M. S. Brandt, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118, 037601.
- Hsieh, S., et al., 2019, Science 366, 1349.
- Huang, T.-Y., R. R. Grote, S. A. Mann, D. A. Hopper, A. L. Exarhos, G. G. Lopez, A. R. Klein, E. C. Garnett, and L. C. Bassett, 2019, Nat. Commun. 10, 2392.
- Huang, Z., W.-D. Li, C. Santori, V. M. Acosta, A. Faraon, T. Ishikawa, W. Wu, D. Winston, R. S. Williams, and R. G. Beausoleil, 2013, Appl. Phys. Lett. **103**, 081906.
- Humphreys, P. C., N. Kalb, J. P. J. Morits, R. N. Schouten, R. F. L. Vermeulen, D. J. Twitchen, M. Markham, and R. Hanson, 2018, Nature (London) 558, 268.

- Ichimura, T., S. Fujii, P. Verma, T. Yano, Y. Inouye, and S. Kawata, 2009, Phys. Rev. Lett. **102**, 186101.
- Igarashi, R., et al., 2020, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 142, 7542.
- Irber, D. M., F. Poggiali, F. Kong, M. Kieschnick, T. Lühmann, D. Kwiatkowski, J. Meijer, J. Du, F. Shi, and F. Reinhard, 2021, Nat. Commun. 12, 532.
- Itano, W. M., J. C. Bergquist, J. J. Bollinger, J. M. Gilligan, D. J. Heinzen, F. L. Moore, M. G. Raizen, and D. J. Wineland, 1993, Phys. Rev. A 47, 3554.
- Jacob, G., K. Groot-Berning, S. Wolf, S. Ulm, L. Couturier, S. T. Dawkins, U. G. Poschinger, F. Schmidt-Kaler, and K. Singer, 2016, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117, 043001.
- Jakobi, I., P. Neumann, Y. Wang, D. B. R. Dasari, F. El Hallak, M. A. Bashir, M. Markham, A. Edmonds, D. Twitchen, and J. Wrachtrup, 2017, Nat. Nanotechnol. **12**, 67.
- Jamali, M., I. Gerhardt, M. Rezai, K. Frenner, H. Fedder, and J. Wrachtrup, 2014, Rev. Sci. Instrum. **85**, 123703.
- James, M. C., F. Fogarty, R. Zulkharnay, N. A. Fox, and P. W. May, 2021, Carbon **171**, 532.
- Jaskula, J.-C., B. Shields, E. Bauch, M. Lukin, A. Trifonov, and R. Walsworth, 2019, Phys. Rev. Appl. 11, 064003.
- Jelezko, F., T. Gaebel, I. Popa, M. Domhan, A. Gruber, and J. Wrachtrup, 2004, Phys. Rev. Lett. **93**, 130501.
- Jelezko, F., T. Gaebel, I. Popa, A. Gruber, and J. Wrachtrup, 2004, Phys. Rev. Lett. **92**, 076401.
- Jensen, K., V. M. Acosta, A. Jarmola, and D. Budker, 2013, Phys. Rev. B 87, 014115.
- Jeon, S.-W., et al., 2020, ACS Photonics 7, 2739.
- Jiang, L., et al., 2009, Science 326, 267.
- Joos, M., D. Bluvstein, Y. Lyu, D. Weld, and A. Bleszynski Jayich, 2022, npj Quantum Inf. 8, 47.
- Jordan, A. N., and M. Büttiker, 2005, Phys. Rev. B 71, 125333.
- Jordan, A. N., and A. N. Korotkov, 2006, Phys. Rev. B 74, 085307.
- Jung, H.-S., and K. C. Neuman, 2021, Nanomaterials 11, 153.
- Karaveli, S., O. Gaathon, A. Wolcott, R. Sakakibara, O. A. Shemesh, D. S. Peterka, E. S. Boyden, J. S. Owen, R. Yuste, and D. Englund, 2016, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 113, 3938.
- Kaufmann, S., et al., 2013, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110, 10894.
- Kawai, S., et al., 2019, J. Phys. Chem. C 123, 3594.
- Kim, M., H. J. Mamin, M. H. Sherwood, K. Ohno, D. D. Awschalom, and D. Rugar, 2015, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 087602.
- Kirtley, J. R., 2010, Rep. Prog. Phys. 73, 126501.
- Klauder, J. R., and P. W. Anderson, 1962, Phys. Rev. 125, 912.
- Kolkowitz, S., Q. P. Unterreithmeier, S. D. Bennett, and M. D. Lukin, 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. **109**, 137601.
- Kominis, I. K., T. W. Kornack, J. C. Allred, and M. V. Romalis, 2003, Nature (London) 422, 596.
- Kong, F., P. Zhao, X. Ye, Z. Wang, Z. Qin, P. Yu, J. Su, F. Shi, and J. Du, 2018, Nat. Commun. 9, 1563.
- Kong, F., P. Zhao, P. Yu, Z. Qin, Z. Huang, Z. Wang, M. Wang, F. Shi, and J. Du, 2020, Sci. Adv. 6, eaaz8244.
- Kong, X., A. Stark, J. Du, L. P. McGuinness, and F. Jelezko, 2015, Phys. Rev. Appl. 4, 024004.
- Kong, X., L. Zhou, Z. Li, Z. Yang, B. Qiu, X. Wu, F. Shi, and J. Du, 2020, npj Quantum Inf. 6, 1.
- Korotkov, A. N., 2001a, Phys. Rev. B 63, 085312.
- Korotkov, A. N., 2001b, Phys. Rev. B 63, 115403.
- Kost, M., J. Cai, and M. B. Plenio, 2015, Sci. Rep. 5, 11007.
- Kotler, S., N. Akerman, Y. Glickman, A. Keselman, and R. Ozeri, 2011, Nature (London) **473**, 61.
- Krueger, A., 2008, Chem. Eur. J. 14, 1382.
- Krueger, A., and D. Lang, 2012, Adv. Funct. Mater. 22, 890.

- Krysova, H., J. Barton, V. Petrak, R. Jurok, M. Kuchar, P. Cigler, and L. Kavan, 2016, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 18, 16444.
- Kucsko, G., P. C. Maurer, N. Y. Yao, M. Kubo, H. J. Noh, P. K. Lo, H. Park, and M. D. Lukin, 2013, Nature (London) **500**, 54.
- Kurad, D., G. Jeschke, and D. Marsh, 2003, Biophys. J. 85, 1025.
- Kwon, K.-Y., K. L. Wong, G. Pawin, L. Bartels, S. Stolbov, and T. S. Rahman, 2005, Phys. Rev. Lett. **95**, 166101.
- Laraoui, A., F. Dolde, C. Burk, F. Reinhard, J. Wrachtrup, and C. A. Meriles, 2013, Nat. Commun. 4, 1651.
- Laraoui, A., J. S. Hodges, and C. A. Meriles, 2010, Appl. Phys. Lett. **97**, 143104.
- Lauterbur, P.C., 1973, Nature (London) 242, 190.
- Lee, H., P. Kok, and J. P. Dowling, 2002, J. Mod. Opt. 49, 2325.
- Lee, S.-C., K. Kim, J. Kim, S. Lee, J. Han Yi, S. Woo Kim, K.-S. Ha, and C. Cheong, 2001, J. Magn. Reson. **150**, 207.
- Lerner, E., T. Cordes, A. Ingargiola, Y. Alhadid, S. Chung, X. Michalet, and S. Weiss, 2018, Science **359**, aan1133.
- Le Sage, D., K. Arai, D. R. Glenn, S. J. DeVience, L. M. Pham, L. Rahn-Lee, M. D. Lukin, A. Yacoby, A. Komeili, and R. L. Walsworth, 2013, Nature (London) **496**, 486.
- Lesik, M., J.-P. Tetienne, A. Tallaire, J. Achard, V. Mille, A. Gicquel, J.-F. Roch, and V. Jacques, 2014, Appl. Phys. Lett. **104**, 113107.
- Lesik, M., et al., 2013, Phys. Status Solidi A 210, 2055.
- Lesik, M., et al., 2015, Diamond Relat. Mater. 56, 47.
- Lesik, M., et al., 2019, Science 366, 1359.
- Leuenberger, M. N., and D. Loss, 2001, Nature (London) 410, 789.
- Levitt, M. H., 2008, Spin Dynamics: Basics of Nuclear Magnetic Resonance, 2nd ed. (John Wiley & Sons, New York), Chap. 11.
- Li, C., R. Soleyman, M. Kohandel, and P. Cappellaro, 2022, Nano Lett. **22**, 43.
- Li, L., E. H. Chen, J. Zheng, S. L. Mouradian, F. Dolde, T. Schröder, S. Karaveli, M. L. Markham, D. J. Twitchen, and D. Englund, 2015, Nano Lett. 15, 1493.
- Li, R., et al., 2020, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 247701.
- Liljeroth, P., J. Repp, and G. Meyer, 2007, Science 317, 1203.
- Lillie, S. E., D. A. Broadway, J. D. A. Wood, D. A. Simpson, A. Stacey, J.-P. Tetienne, and L. C. L. Hollenberg, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**, 167204.
- Liu, G.-Q., X. Feng, N. Wang, Q. Li, and R.-B. Liu, 2019, Nat. Commun. 10, 1344.
- Liu, G.-Q., J. Xing, W.-L. Ma, P. Wang, C.-H. Li, H. C. Po, Y.-R. Zhang, H. Fan, R.-B. Liu, and X.-Y. Pan, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**, 150504.
- Liu, K. S., A. Henning, M. W. Heindl, R. D. Allert, J. D. Bartl, I. D. Sharp, R. Rizzato, and D. B. Bucher, 2022, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 119, e2111607119.
- Liu, K. S., X. Ma, R. Rizzato, A.-L. Semrau, A. Henning, I. D. Sharp, R. A. Fischer, and D. B. Bucher, 2022, Nano Lett. **22**, 9876.
- London, P., et al., 2013, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 067601.
- Loppacher, Ch., M. Guggisberg, O. Pfeiffer, E. Meyer, M. Bammerlin, R. Lüthi, R. Schlittler, J. K. Gimzewski, H. Tang, and C. Joachim, 2003, Phys. Rev. Lett. **90**, 066107.
- Loth, S., M. Etzkorn, C. P. Lutz, D. M. Eigler, and A. J. Heinrich, 2010, Science **329**, 1628.
- Loubser, J. H. N., and J. A. van Wyk, 1978, Rep. Prog. Phys. 41, 1201.
- Lourette, S., A. Jarmola, V. M. Acosta, A. G. Birdwell, D. Budker, M. W. Doherty, T. Ivanov, and V. S. Malinovsky, 2023, Phys. Rev. Appl. 19, 064084.
- Lovchinsky, I., et al., 2016, Science 351, 836.
- Lovchinsky, I., et al., 2017, Science 355, 503.
- Luan, L., M. S. Grinolds, S. Hong, P. Maletinsky, R. L. Walsworth, and A. Yacoby, 2015, Sci. Rep. 5, 8119.

- Ludlow, A. D., M. M. Boyd, J. Ye, E. Peik, and P. O. Schmidt, 2015, Rev. Mod. Phys. 87, 637.
- Lühmann, T., R. John, R. Wunderlich, J. Meijer, and S. Pezzagna, 2019, Nat. Commun. **10**, 4956.
- Maletinsky, P., S. Hong, M. S. Grinolds, B. Hausmann, M. D. Lukin, R. L. Walsworth, M. Loncar, and A. Yacoby, 2012, Nat. Nanotechnol. 7, 320.
- Mamin, H. J., M. Kim, M. H. Sherwood, C. T. Rettner, K. Ohno, D. D. Awschalom, and D. Rugar, 2013, Science 339, 557.
- Mamin, H. J., M. Poggio, C. L. Degen, and D. Rugar, 2007, Nat. Nanotechnol. 2, 301.
- Mamin, H. J., M. H. Sherwood, M. Kim, C. T. Rettner, K. Ohno, D. D. Awschalom, and D. Rugar, 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 030803.
- Manassen, Y., R. J. Hamers, J. E. Demuth, and A. J. Castellano, Jr., 1989, Phys. Rev. Lett. **62**, 2531.
- Mansfield, P., 2004, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 43, 5456.
- Marseglia, L., et al., 2011, Appl. Phys. Lett. 98, 133107.
- Martin-Lluesma, S., V. M. Stucke, and E. A. Nigg, 2002, Science **297**, 2267.
- Martorana, A., G. Bellapadrona, A. Feintuch, E. Di Gregorio, S. Aime, and D. Goldfarb, 2014, J. Am. Chem. Soc. **136**, 13458.
- Matsumoto, K.-i., S. English, J. Yoo, K.-i. Yamada, N. Devasahayam, J. A. Cook, J. B. Mitchell, S. Subramanian, and M. C. Krishna, 2004, Magn. Reson. Med. 52, 885.
- Maurer, P. C., et al., 2012, Science 336, 1283.
- Maze, J. R., A. Gali, E. Togan, Y. Chu, A. Trifonov, E. Kaxiras, and M. D. Lukin, 2011, New J. Phys. 13, 025025.
- Maze, J. R., et al., 2008, Nature (London) 455, 644.
- McCoy, M., and R. Ernst, 1989, Chem. Phys. Lett. 159, 587.
- McGuinness, L. P., et al., 2011, Nat. Nanotechnol. 6, 358.
- McGuinness, L. P., et al., 2013, New J. Phys. 15, 073042.
- McLellan, C. A., B. A. Myers, S. Kraemer, K. Ohno, D. D. Awschalom, and A. C. Bleszynski Jayich, 2016, Nano Lett. 16, 2450.
- Meier, B., J.-N. Dumez, G. Stevanato, J. T. Hill-Cousins, S. S. Roy, P. Håkansson, S. Mamone, R. C. D. Brown, G. Pileio, and M. H. Levitt, 2013, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135, 18746.
- Meijer, J., B. Burchard, M. Domhan, C. Wittmann, T. Gaebel, I. Popa, F. Jelezko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2005, Appl. Phys. Lett. 87, 261909.
- Meijer, J., et al., 2006, Appl. Phys. A 83, 321.
- Meijer, J., et al., 2008, Appl. Phys. A 91, 567.
- Meller, A., L. Nivon, and D. Branton, 2001, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, 3435.
- Messina, P., M. Mannini, A. Caneschi, D. Gatteschi, L. Sorace, P. Sigalotti, C. Sandrin, S. Prato, P. Pittana, and Y. Manassen, 2007, J. Appl. Phys. 101, 053916.
- Michl, J., et al., 2014, Appl. Phys. Lett. 104, 102407.
- Miller, B. S., et al., 2020, Nature (London) 587, 588.
- Miller, J. B., and D. W. Brown, 1996, Langmuir 12, 5809.
- Mitchell, M. W., and S. Palacios Alvarez, 2020, Rev. Mod. Phys. **92**, 021001.
- Miyazaki, T., Y. Miyamoto, T. Makino, H. Kato, S. Yamasaki, T. Fukui, Y. Doi, N. Tokuda, M. Hatano, and N. Mizuochi, 2014, Appl. Phys. Lett. **105**, 261601.
- Moerner, W. E., and D. P. Fromm, 2003, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 74, 3597.
- Momenzadeh, S. A., R. J. Stöhr, F. F. de Oliveira, A. Brunner, A. Denisenko, S. Yang, F. Reinhard, and J. Wrachtrup, 2015, Nano Lett. 15, 165.
- Moore, A. M., and P. S. Weiss, 2008, Annu. Rev. Anal. Chem. 1, 857.
- Moresco, F., G. Meyer, K.-H. Rieder, H. Tang, A. Gourdon, and C. Joachim, 2001, Phys. Rev. Lett. **86**, 672.

- Morishita, H., S. Kobayashi, M. Fujiwara, H. Kato, T. Makino, S. Yamasaki, and N. Mizuochi, 2020, Sci. Rep. **10**, 792.
- Muhonen, J. T., et al., 2018, Phys. Rev. B 98, 155201.
- Müller, C., et al., 2014, Nat. Commun. 5, 4703.
- Müller, N., and A. Jerschow, 2006, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **103**, 6790.
- Munuera-Javaloy, C., R. Puebla, B. D'Anjou, M. B. Plenio, and J. Casanova, 2022, npj Quantum Inf. 8, 140.
- Munuera-Javaloy, C., A. Tobalina, and J. Casanova, 2023, Phys. Rev. Lett. **130**, 133603.
- Murch, K. W., S. J. Weber, C. Macklin, and I. Siddiqi, 2013, Nature (London) **502**, 211.
- Myers, B. A., A. Ariyaratne, and A. C. B. Jayich, 2017, Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**, 197201.
- Myers, B. A., A. Das, M. C. Dartiailh, K. Ohno, D. D. Awschalom, and A. C. Bleszynski Jayich, 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 027602.
- Navas, J., et al., 2018, Appl. Surf. Sci. 433, 408.
- Neu, E., P. Appel, M. Ganzhorn, J. Miguel-Sánchez, M. Lesik, V. Mille, V. Jacques, A. Tallaire, J. Achard, and P. Maletinsky, 2014, Appl. Phys. Lett. **104**, 153108.
- Neuman, K. C., and A. Nagy, 2008, Nat. Methods 5, 491.
- Neumann, P., J. Beck, M. Steiner, F. Rempp, H. Fedder, P. R. Hemmer, J. Wrachtrup, and F. Jelezko, 2010, Science **329**, 542.
- Neumann, P., et al., 2010, Nat. Phys. 6, 249.
- Neumann, P., et al., 2013, Nano Lett. 13, 2738.
- Nichols, B. M., J. E. Butler, J. N. Russell, and R. J. Hamers, 2005, J. Phys. Chem. B **109**, 20938.
- Nizovtsev, A. P., S. Y. Kilin, A. L. Pushkarchuk, V. A. Pushkarchuk, S. A. Kuten, O. A. Zhikol, S. Schmitt, T. Unden, and F. Jelezko, 2018, New J. Phys. 20, 023022.
- Ofori-Okai, B. K., S. Pezzagna, K. Chang, M. Loretz, R. Schirhagl, Y. Tao, B. A. Moores, K. Groot-Berning, J. Meijer, and C. L. Degen, 2012, Phys. Rev. B 86, 081406.
- Ohashi, K., et al., 2013, Nano Lett. 13, 4733.
- Ohno, K., F. Joseph Heremans, L. C. Bassett, B. A. Myers, D. M. Toyli, A. C. Bleszynski Jayich, C. J. Palmstrøm, and D. D. Awschalom, 2012, Appl. Phys. Lett. **101**, 082413.
- Ohno, K., F. Joseph Heremans, C. F. de las Casas, B. A. Myers, B. J. Alemán, A. C. Bleszynski Jayich, and D. D. Awschalom, 2014, Appl. Phys. Lett. **105**, 052406.
- Olivero, P., et al., 2005, Adv. Mater. 17, 2427.
- Olmschenk, S., K. C. Younge, D. L. Moehring, D. N. Matsukevich, P. Maunz, and C. Monroe, 2007, Phys. Rev. A **76**, 052314.
- Olyanich, D. A., V. G. Kotlyar, T. V. Utas, A. V. Zotov, and A. A. Saranin, 2013, Nanotechnology **24**, 055302.
- Orwa, J. O., et al., 2011, J. Appl. Phys. 109, 083530.
- Osipov, V.Y., A.I. Shames, and A.Y. Vul', 2009, Physica (Amsterdam) **404B**, 4522.
- Osterkamp, C., J. Lang, J. Scharpf, C. Müller, L. P. McGuinness, T. Diemant, R. J. Behm, B. Naydenov, and F. Jelezko, 2015, Appl. Phys. Lett. **106**, 113109.
- Ovartchaiyapong, P., K. W. Lee, B. A. Myers, and A. C. B. Jayich, 2014, Nat. Commun. 5, 4429.
- Ozawa, H., K. Tahara, H. Ishiwata, M. Hatano, and T. Iwasaki, 2017, Appl. Phys. Express **10**, 045501.
- Ozmaian, M., A. Fathizadeh, M. Jalalvand, M. R. Ejtehadi, and S. M. V. Allaei, 2016, Sci. Rep. 6, 21910.
- Parikh, N. R., J. D. Hunn, E. McGucken, M. L. Swanson, C. W. White, R. A. Rudder, D. P. Malta, J. B. Posthill, and R. J. Markunas, 1992, Appl. Phys. Lett. 61, 3124.
- Perona Martínez, F., A. C. Nusantara, M. Chipaux, S. K. Padamati, and R. Schirhagl, 2020, ACS Sens. 5, 3862.

- Perunicic, V. S., C. D. Hill, L. T. Hall, and L. C. L. Hollenberg, 2016, Nat. Commun. 7, 12667.
- Pezzagna, S., B. Naydenov, F. Jelezko, J. Wrachtrup, and J. Meijer, 2010, New J. Phys. **12**, 065017.
- Pezzagna, S., D. Rogalla, D. Wildanger, J. Meijer, and A. Zaitsev, 2011, New J. Phys. 13, 035024.
- Pezzagna, S., D. Wildanger, P. Mazarov, A. D. Wieck, Y. Sarov, I. Rangeow, B. Naydenov, F. Jelezko, S. W. Hell, and J. Meijer, 2010, Small 6, 2117.
- Pfender, M., N. Aslam, H. Sumiya, S. Onoda, P. Neumann, J. Isoya, C. A. Meriles, and J. Wrachtrup, 2017, Nat. Commun. 8, 834.
- Pfender, M., et al., 2017, Nano Lett. 17, 5931.
- Pfender, M., *et al.*, 2019, Nat. Commun. **10**, 594. Piacentini, F., *et al.*, 2016, Phys. Rev. Lett. **117**, 170402.
- Pinson, J., and F. Podvorica, 2005, Chem. Soc. Rev. 34, 429.
- Pinto, D., *et al.*, 2020, Nat. Commun. **11**, 6405.
- Plewes, D. B., and W. Kucharczyk, 2012, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging
- **35**, 1038.
- Qin, Z., Z. Wang, F. Kong, J. Su, Z. Huang, P. Zhao, S. Chen, Q. Zhang, F. Shi, and J. Du, 2023, Nat. Commun. 14, 6278.
- Raatz, N., C. Scheuner, S. Pezzagna, and J. Meijer, 2019, Phys. Status Solidi A 216, 1900528.
- Radu, V., J. C. Price, S. J. Levett, K. K. Narayanasamy, T. D. Bateman-Price, P. B. Wilson, and M. L. Mather, 2020, ACS Sens. 5, 703.
- Rascón-Ramos, H., J. M. Artés, Y. Li, and J. Hihath, 2015, Nat. Mater. 14, 517.
- Rath, P., S. Ummethala, C. Nebel, and W. H. P. Pernice, 2015, Phys. Status Solidi A **212**, 2385.
- Razinkovas, L., M. Maciaszek, F. Reinhard, M. W. Doherty, and A. Alkauskas, 2021, Phys. Rev. B **104**, 235301.
- Reina, G., L. Zhao, A. Bianco, and N. Komatsu, 2019, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **58**, 17918.
- Rendler, T., J. Neburkova, O. Zemek, J. Kotek, A. Zappe, Z. Chu, P. Cigler, and J. Wrachtrup, 2017, Nat. Commun. 8, 14701.
- Riedrich-Möller, J., S. Pezzagna, J. Meijer, C. Pauly, F. Mücklich, M. Markham, A. M. Edmonds, and C. Becher, 2015, Appl. Phys. Lett. 106, 221103.
- Rietwyk, K. J., S. L. Wong, L. Cao, K. M. O'Donnell, L. Ley, A. T. S. Wee, and C. I. Pakes, 2013, Appl. Phys. Lett. **102**, 091604.
- Robledo, L., H. Bernien, T. van der Sar, and R. Hanson, 2011, New J. Phys. **13**, 025013.
- Robledo, L., L. Childress, H. Bernien, B. Hensen, P. F. A. Alkemade, and R. Hanson, 2011, Nature (London) 477, 574.
- Rogers, L. J., S. Armstrong, M. J. Sellars, and N. B. Manson, 2008, New J. Phys. **10**, 103024.
- Romach, Y., A. Lazariev, I. Avrahami, F. Kleißler, S. Arroyo-Camejo, and N. Bar-Gill, 2019, Phys. Rev. Appl. 11, 014064.
- Romach, Y., et al., 2015, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114, 017601.
- Rondin, L., et al., 2010, Phys. Rev. B 82, 115449.
- Rong, X., J. Geng, F. Shi, Y. Liu, K. Xu, W. Ma, F. Kong, Z. Jiang, Y. Wu, and J. Du, 2015, Nat. Commun. 6, 8748.
- Rosskopf, T., A. Dussaux, K. Ohashi, M. Loretz, R. Schirhagl, H. Watanabe, S. Shikata, K. M. Itoh, and C. L. Degen, 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. **112**, 147602.
- Rothman, J. E., and L. Orci, 1992, Nature (London) 355, 409.
- Roy, R., S. Hohng, and T. Ha, 2008, Nat. Methods 5, 507.
- Roy, S. S., J.-N. Dumez, G. Stevanato, B. Meier, J. T. Hill-Cousins, R. C. D. Brown, G. Pileio, and M. H. Levitt, 2015, J. Magn. Reson. 250, 25.
- Rugar, D., R. Budakian, H. J. Mamin, and B. W. Chui, 2004, Nature (London) **430**, 329.

- Rugar, D., H. J. Mamin, M. H. Sherwood, M. Kim, C. T. Rettner, K. Ohno, and D. D. Awschalom, 2015, Nat. Nanotechnol. 10, 120.
- Rust, M. J., M. Bates, and X. Zhuang, 2006, Nat. Methods 3, 793.
- Samsonenko, N. D., G. V. Zhmykhov, V. S. Zon, and V. K. Aksenov, 1979, J. Struct. Chem. 20, 951.
- Santori, C., P. E. Barclay, K.-M. C. Fu, and R. G. Beausoleil, 2009, Phys. Rev. B **79**, 125313.
- Schäfer-Nolte, E., L. Schlipf, M. Ternes, F. Reinhard, K. Kern, and J. Wrachtrup, 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 217204.
- Schaffry, M., E. M. Gauger, J. J. L. Morton, and S. C. Benjamin, 2011, Phys. Rev. Lett. **107**, 207210.
- Schlipf, L., et al., 2017, Sci. Adv. 3, e1701116.
- Schmitt, S., et al., 2017, Science 356, 832.
- Schreyvogel, C., V. Polyakov, R. Wunderlich, J. Meijer, and C. E. Nebel, 2015, Sci. Rep. 5, 12160.
- Schröder, T., et al., 2017, Nat. Commun. 8, 15376.
- Schweiger, A., and G. Jeschke, 2001, *Principles of Pulse Electron Paramagnetic Resonance* (Oxford University Press, New York).
- Shagieva, F., S. Zaiser, P. Neumann, D. B. R. Dasari, R. Stöhr, A. Denisenko, R. Reuter, C. A. Meriles, and J. Wrachtrup, 2018, Nano Lett. 18, 3731.
- Shi, F., X. Kong, P. Wang, F. Kong, N. Zhao, R.-B. Liu, and J. Du, 2014, Nat. Phys. **10**, 21.
- Shi, F., et al., 2015, Science 347, 1135.
- Shi, F., et al., 2018, Nat. Methods 15, 697.
- Shi, X., N. Coca-López, J. Janik, and A. Hartschuh, 2017, Chem. Rev. 117, 4945.
- Shields, B. J., Q. P. Unterreithmeier, N. P. de Leon, H. Park, and M. D. Lukin, 2015, Phys. Rev. Lett. **114**, 136402.
- Shirai, Y., et al., 2006, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128, 4854.
- Shpilman, Z., I. Gouzman, E. Grossman, R. Akhvlediani, and A. Hoffman, 2008, Appl. Phys. Lett. 92, 234103.
- Silver, A. H., and T. Kushida, 1963, J. Chem. Phys. 38, 865.
- Simpson, D. A., R. G. Ryan, L. T. Hall, E. Panchenko, S. C. Drew, S. Petrou, P. S. Donnelly, P. Mulvaney, and L. C. L. Hollenberg, 2017, Nat. Commun. 8, 458.
- Siyushev, P., M. Nesladek, E. Bourgeois, M. Gulka, J. Hruby, T. Yamamoto, M. Trupke, T. Teraji, J. Isoya, and F. Jelezko, 2019, Science 363, 728.
- Siyushev, P., et al., 2010, Appl. Phys. Lett. 97, 241902.
- Sleator, T., E. L. Hahn, C. Hilbert, and J. Clarke, 1985, Phys. Rev. Lett. 55, 1742.
- Slichter, C. P., 1990, *Principles of Magnetic Resonance* (Springer, Berlin).
- Smith, B. W., M. Monthioux, and D. E. Luzzi, 1998, Nature (London) **396**, 323.
- Smits, J., J. T. Damron, P. Kehayias, A. F. McDowell, N. Mosavian, I. Fescenko, N. Ristoff, A. Laraoui, A. Jarmola, and V. M. Acosta, 2019, Sci. Adv. 5, eaaw7895.
- Sonntag, M. D., E. A. Pozzi, N. Jiang, M. C. Hersam, and R. P. Van Duyne, 2014, J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 5, 3125.
- Spinicelli, P., et al., 2011, New J. Phys. 13, 025014.
- Stacey, A., et al., 2019, Adv. Mater. Interfaces 6, 1801449.
- Stano, P., J. Klinovaja, A. Yacoby, and D. Loss, 2013, Phys. Rev. B 88, 045441.
- Staudacher, T., N. Raatz, S. Pezzagna, J. Meijer, F. Reinhard, C. A. Meriles, and J. Wrachtrup, 2015, Nat. Commun. 6, 8527.
- Staudacher, T., F. Shi, S. Pezzagna, J. Meijer, J. Du, C. A. Meriles, F. Reinhard, and J. Wrachtrup, 2013, Science **339**, 561.
- Staudenmaier, N., et al., 2022, arXiv:2203.11161.
- Steidtner, J., and B. Pettinger, 2008, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 236101.

- Steinert, S., F. Ziem, L. T. Hall, A. Zappe, M. Schweikert, N. Götz, A. Aird, G. Balasubramanian, L. Hollenberg, and J. Wrachtrup, 2013, Nat. Commun. 4, 1607.
- Strother, T., T. Knickerbocker, J. N. Russell, J. E. Butler, L. M. Smith, and R. J. Hamers, 2002, Langmuir 18, 968.
- Sushkov, A. O., I. Lovchinsky, N. Chisholm, R. L. Walsworth, H. Park, and M. D. Lukin, 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 197601.
- Sushkov, A.O., et al., 2014, Nano Lett. 14, 6443.
- Tahara, K., H. Ozawa, T. Iwasaki, N. Mizuochi, and M. Hatano, 2015, Appl. Phys. Lett. 107, 193110.
- Tamarat, P., et al., 2008, New J. Phys. 10, 045004.
- Taminiau, T. H., J. J. T. Wagenaar, T. van der Sar, F. Jelezko, V. V. Dobrovitski, and R. Hanson, 2012, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 137602.
- Tao, N. J., 2006, Nat. Nanotechnol. 1, 173.
- Taranovskyy, A., T. Tansel, and O. M. Magnussen, 2010, Phys. Rev. Lett. **104**, 106101.
- Tateishi, K., M. Negoro, S. Nishida, A. Kagawa, Y. Morita, and M. Kitagawa, 2014, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **111**, 7527.
- Taylor, J. M., P. Cappellaro, L. Childress, L. Jiang, D. Budker, P. R. Hemmer, A. Yacoby, R. Walsworth, and M. D. Lukin, 2008, Nat. Phys. 4, 810.
- Teissier, J., A. Barfuss, P. Appel, E. Neu, and P. Maletinsky, 2014, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 020503.
- Terada, D., S. Sotoma, Y. Harada, R. Igarashi, and M. Shirakawa, 2018, Bioconjugate Chem. **29**, 2786.
- Thiel, L., Z. Wang, M. A. Tschudin, D. Rohner, I. Gutiérrez-Lezama, N. Ubrig, M. Gibertini, E. Giannini, A. F. Morpurgo, and P. Maletinsky, 2019, Science 364, 973.
- Thiering, G., and A. Gali, 2018, Phys. Rev. B 98, 085207.
- Tisler, J., et al., 2009, ACS Nano 3, 1959.
- Togan, E., Y. Chu, A. Imamoglu, and M. D. Lukin, 2011, Nature (London) **478**, 497.
- Togan, E., et al., 2010, Nature (London) 466, 730.
- Toyli, D. M., C. D. Weis, G. D. Fuchs, T. Schenkel, and D. D. Awschalom, 2010, Nano Lett. 10, 3168.
- Trifunovic, L., F.L. Pedrocchi, S. Hoffman, P. Maletinsky, A. Yacoby, and D. Loss, 2015, Nat. Nanotechnol. **10**, 541.
- Tu, J.-S., E. Perevedentseva, P.-H. Chung, and C.-L. Cheng, 2006, J. Chem. Phys. 125, 174713.
- Twitchen, D. J., M. E. Newton, J. M. Baker, T. R. Anthony, and W. F. Banholzer, 1999, Phys. Rev. B **59**, 12900.
- Unden, T., et al., 2016, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 230502.
- van Bentum, P. J. M., M. Sharma, S. G. J. van Meerten, and A. P. M. Kentgens, 2016, J. Magn. Reson. 263, 126.
- van der Laan, K. J., J. Naulleau, V. G. Damle, A. Sigaeva, N. Jamot, F. P. Perona-Martinez, M. Chipaux, and R. Schirhagl, 2018, Anal. Chem. **90**, 13506.
- van der Sar, T., Z. H. Wang, M. S. Blok, H. Bernien, T. H. Taminiau, D. M. Toyli, D. A. Lidar, D. D. Awschalom, R. Hanson, and V. V. Dobrovitski, 2012, Nature (London) 484, 82.
- Vasyukov, D., et al., 2013, Nat. Nanotechnol. 8, 639.
- Venema, L., B. Verberck, I. Georgescu, G. Prando, E. Couderc, S. Milana, M. Maragkou, L. Persechini, G. Pacchioni, and L. Fleet, 2016, Nat. Phys. 12, 1085.
- von Neumann, J., 2018, *Mathematical Foundations of Quantum Mechanics* (Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ).
- Waldherr, G., J. Beck, M. Steiner, P. Neumann, A. Gali, T. Frauenheim, F. Jelezko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2011, Phys. Rev. Lett. **106**, 157601.
- Wan, N. H., B. J. Shields, D. Kim, S. Mouradian, B. Lienhard, M. Walsh, H. Bakhru, T. Schröder, and D. Englund, 2018, Nano Lett. 18, 2787.

- Wang, H., et al., 2022, Sci. Adv. 8, eabg8562.
- Wang, J., et al., 2016, Nanoscale 8, 5780.
- Wang, M., H. Sun, X. Ye, P. Yu, H. Liu, J. Zhou, P. Wang, F. Shi, Y. Wang, and J. Du, 2022, Sci. Adv. 8, eabn9573.
- Wang, P., et al., 2019, Sci. Adv. 5, eaau8038.
- Wang, Z.-H., G. de Lange, D. Ristè, R. Hanson, and V.V. Dobrovitski, 2012, Phys. Rev. B **85**, 155204.
- Wang, Z.-Y., J. F. Haase, J. Casanova, and M. B. Plenio, 2016, Phys. Rev. B **93**, 174104.
- Wang, Z.-Y., J. E. Lang, S. Schmitt, J. Lang, J. Casanova, L. McGuinness, T. S. Monteiro, F. Jelezko, and M. B. Plenio, 2019, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 200403.
- Watanabe, A., T. Nishikawa, H. Kato, M. Fujie, M. Fujiwara, T. Makino, S. Yamasaki, E. Herbschleb, and N. Mizuochi, 2021, Carbon 178, 294.
- Wernsdorfer, W., and R. Sessoli, 1999, Science 284, 133.
- Wiesendanger, R., 2009, Rev. Mod. Phys. 81, 1495.
- Wiseman, H. M., 2002, Phys. Rev. A 65, 032111.
- Wiśniewski, D., A. Karabanov, I. Lesanovsky, and W. Köckenberger, 2016, J. Magn. Reson. 264, 30.
- Wolcott, A., T. Schiros, M. E. Trusheim, E. H. Chen, D. Nordlund, R. E. Diaz, O. Gaathon, D. Englund, and J. S. Owen, 2014, J. Phys. Chem. C 118, 26695.
- Wong, K. L., G. Pawin, K.-Y. Kwon, X. Lin, T. Jiao, U. Solanki, R. H. J. Fawcett, L. Bartels, S. Stolbov, and T. S. Rahman, 2007, Science 315, 1391.
- Wood, A. A., E. Lilette, Y. Y. Fein, N. Tomek, L. P. McGuinness, L. C. L. Hollenberg, R. E. Scholten, and A. M. Martin, 2018, Sci. Adv. 4, eaar7691.
- Wrachtrup, J., C. von Borczyskowski, J. Bernard, M. Orritt, and R. Brown, 1993, Nature (London) **363**, 244.
- Wüthrich, K., 2001, Nat. Struct. Biol. 8, 923.
- Xia, K., C.-F. Liu, W.-H. Leong, M.-H. Kwok, Z.-Y. Yang, X. Feng, R.-B. Liu, and Q. Li, 2019, Nat. Commun. **10**, 3259.
- Xiao, M., I. Martin, E. Yablonovitch, and H. W. Jiang, 2004, Nature (London) **430**, 435.
- Xie, M., X. Yu, L. V. H. Rodgers, D. Xu, I. Chi-Durán, A. Toros, N. Quack, N. P. de Leon, and P. C. Maurer, 2022, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **119**, e2114186119.
- Xie, T., Z. Zhao, M. Guo, M. Wang, F. Shi, and J. Du, 2021, Phys. Rev. Lett. **127**, 053601.
- Xie, T., Z. Zhao, S. Xu, X. Kong, Z. Yang, M. Wang, Y. Wang, F. Shi, and J. Du, 2023, Phys. Rev. Lett. **130**, 030601.
- Xie, T., et al., 2018, Phys. Rev. Appl. 9, 064003.
- Xie, T., et al., 2021, Sci. Adv. 7, eabg9204.
- Xu, B., and N. J. Tao, 2003, Science 301, 1221.
- Xu, L., and M. Salmeron, 1998, J. Phys. Chem. B 102, 7210.
- Xu, S., M. Liu, T. Xie, Z. Zhao, Q. Shi, P. Yu, C.-K. Duan, F. Shi, and J. Du, 2023, Phys. Rev. B **107**, L140101.
- Yale, C. G., B. B. Buckley, D. J. Christle, G. Burkard, F. J. Heremans, L. C. Bassett, and D. D. Awschalom, 2013, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110, 7595.
- Yamamoto, T., et al., 2013, Phys. Rev. B 88, 075206.
- Yan, G. Q., et al., 2022, Adv. Mater. 34, 2200327.

Yang, N., H. Uetsuka, H. Watanabe, T. Nakamura, and C. E. Nebel, 2007, Chem. Mater. 19, 2852.

- Yang, W., et al., 2002, Nat. Mater. 1, 253.
- Yang, Z., X. Kong, F. Shi, and J. Du, 2022, Acta Phys. Sin. **71**, 067601.
- Yang, Z., et al., 2018, Phys. Rev. B 97, 205438.
- Yang, Z., et al., 2020, Adv. Quantum Technol. 3, 1900136.
- Yao, N. Y., L. Jiang, A. V. Gorshkov, P. C. Maurer, G. Giedke, J. I. Cirac, and M. D. Lukin, 2012, Nat. Commun. 3, 800.
- Yeung, T.K., D.L. Sage, L.M. Pham, P.L. Stanwix, and R.L. Walsworth, 2012, Appl. Phys. Lett. **100**, 251111.
- Yin, C., M. Rancic, G. G. de Boo, N. Stavrias, J. C. McCallum, M. J. Sellars, and S. Rogge, 2013, Nature (London) **497**, 91.
- Yip, K. Y., et al., 2019, Science 366, 1355.
- Yves, G., H. Aline, G. Pierre, and V. Q. Lam, 2010, J. Phys. D 43, 213001.
- Zadrozny, J. M., J. Niklas, O. G. Poluektov, and D. E. Freedman, 2015, ACS Cent. Sci. 1, 488.
- Zhang, H., K. Arai, C. Belthangady, J.-C. Jaskula, and R.L. Walsworth, 2017, npj Quantum Inf. **3**, 31.
- Zhang, J., R. E. Campbell, A. Y. Ting, and R. Y. Tsien, 2002, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. **3**, 906.
- Zhang, Q., G. Hu, G. G. de Boo, M. Rančić, B. C. Johnson, J. C. McCallum, J. Du, M. J. Sellars, C. Yin, and S. Rogge, 2019, Nano Lett. 19, 5025.
- Zhang, Q., et al., 2021, Nat. Commun. 12, 1529.
- Zhang, R., et al., 2013, Nature (London) 498, 82.
- Zhao, N., S.-W. Ho, and R.-B. Liu, 2012, Phys. Rev. B 85, 115303.
- Zhao, N., J.-L. Hu, S.-W. Ho, J. T. K. Wan, and R. B. Liu, 2011, Nat. Nanotechnol. 6, 242.
- Zhao, N., et al., 2012, Nat. Nanotechnol. 7, 657.
- Zhao, Z., X. Ye, S. Xu, P. Yu, Z. Yang, X. Kong, Y. Wang, T. Xie, F. Shi, and J. Du, 2023, Natl. Sci. Rev. 10, nwad100.
- Zheng, H., J. Hruby, E. Bourgeois, J. Soucek, P. Siyushev, F. Jelezko, A. Wickenbrock, M. Nesladek, and D. Budker, 2022, arXiv: 2201.01801.
- Zheng, W., K. Bian, X. Chen, Y. Shen, S. Zhang, R. Stöhr, A. Denisenko, J. Wrachtrup, S. Yang, and Y. Jiang, 2022, Nat. Phys. 18, 1317.
- Zhong, M., M. P. Hedges, R. L. Ahlefeldt, J. G. Bartholomew, S. E. Beavan, S. M. Wittig, J. J. Longdell, and M. J. Sellars, 2015, Nature (London) 517, 177.
- Zhou, C. L., et al., 2013, Phys. Rev. A 88, 050901.
- Zhou, T.X., *et al.*, 2021, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **118**, e2019473118.
- Zhu, D., J. A. Bandy, S. Li, and R. J. Hamers, 2016, Surf. Sci. 650, 295.
- Zhu, X., et al., 2011, Nature (London) 478, 221.
- Ziem, F. C., N. S. Goetz, A. Zappe, S. Steinert, and J. Wrachtrup, 2013, Nano Lett. 13, 4093.
- Zoller, P., M. Marte, and D. F. Walls, 1987, Phys. Rev. A 35, 198.
- Zopes, J., K. S. Cujia, K. Sasaki, J. M. Boss, K. M. Itoh, and C. L. Degen, 2018, Nat. Commun. 9, 4678.
- Zopes, J., K. Herb, K. S. Cujia, and C. L. Degen, 2018, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 170801.